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ABOUT MDA

MDA is a global communications and information 
company providing operational solutions to 
commercial and government organizations 
worldwide.

MDA’s business is focused on markets and 
customers with strong repeat business potential, 
principally in the Communications sector and the 
Surveillance and Intelligence sector.  In addition, 
the Company conducts a significant amount of 
advanced technology development.

MDA's well-established global customer base is 
served from 11 offices located in the United 
States, Canada and internationally.

The Company’s common shares trade on the 
Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol 
“MDA”.



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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Continuing operations
9.978seuneveR          761.1         688.0         

Operating EBITDA1 214.7         194.3         175.2         
Operating earnings1 126.8         117.2         99.9           
Operating earnings per share1, diluted 3.98           2.99           2.44           

3.68sgninrae teN            129.6         59.5           
17.2cisab ,erahs rep sgninrae teN            3.31           1.46           
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Total
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1 This is a non-IFRS financial measure.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
For the year end December 31, 2012 
 
For purposes of this discussion, MDA and the Company refer to MacDonald, Dettwiler and 
Associates Ltd. and its subsidiaries. This year and 2012 mean the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2012. Last year and 2011 mean the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, and 2010 means the 
fiscal year ended December 31, 2010. This quarter means the three months ended December 31, 
2012. 
 
ADVISORY 
 
This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”), dated February 27, 2013, should be read in 
conjunction with the cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements below and the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 (the “consolidated financial statements”). Unless otherwise noted, the results 
reported herein have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) and are presented in Canadian dollars. An additional advisory with respect to the use of 
non-IFRS financial measures is set out in section “Non-IFRS Financial Measures” of this MD&A. All 
quarterly information disclosed in the MD&A is based on unaudited figures. 
 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
This MD&A contains forward-looking statements that reflect the Company’s current view of future 
events and financial performance. Forward-looking statements in this MD&A include, but are not 
limited to, statements regarding: anticipated revenues and customer contract values under sections 
“Consolidated Results” and “Results By Segment”; the Company’s plans to establish a U.S. 
government business unit under section “Results By Segment”; and the Company’s liquidity and 
financial resources under section “Liquidity”. 
 
The forward-looking statements in this MD&A are based on the Company’s current expectations, 
estimates, projections and assumptions made in light of its experience and perception of historical 
trends. The Company has made the following assumptions with respect to the forward-looking 
statements: anticipated revenues and customer contract values was based on the Company’s 
continuing ability to effectively service customers and there being no adverse changes to customer 
priorities and funding levels; the Company’s plans to establish a U.S. government business unit was 
based on the Company’s current assessment of the U.S. government market; and the Company’s 
liquidity and financial resources was based on stable market conditions and the Company’s current 
plans and forecasts. 
 
Any such forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could 
cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations. MDA cautions readers that should 
certain risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual 
results may vary significantly from those expected. The risks that could cause actual results to differ 
from current expectations include, but are not limited to: changes in government policies, priorities, 
funding levels, contracts or regulations; failure of third party subcontractors to complete contracts for 
which the Company is the prime contractor; risks of performance on firm fixed price construction 
contracts; changes in estimates of total revenues and costs on contracts; potential for product 
liability or the occurrence of defects in products or systems and resulting loss of revenue and harm 
to the Company’s reputation; quality issues and failure of systems to meet performance 
requirements; failure of the Company to manage its acquisitions and breaches of contracts and 
indemnities and related risks on divestitures; partial or complete satellite failure; dependence on 
electronic systems and data and system security threats; detrimental reliance on third parties for 
data; dependence on key employees, potential for work stoppages and lack of oversight over a U.S. 
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proxy board and management; failure to anticipate changes in technology, technical standards and 
offerings or comply with the requisite standards; failure to maintain technological advances and 
market positions; significant competition; potential infringement of the intellectual property rights of 
others through licensed software or otherwise; inadequate protection of the Company’s intellectual 
property rights; exposure to foreign currency fluctuations; changes in law and economic and political 
conditions; inability of suppliers or subcontractors to effect technology transfer; changes in customer 
security requirements and the resulting cancellation of contracts; failure to maintain business 
alliances; uncertainty in financing arrangements; failure of counterparties in financing arrangements 
and financial derivative contracts and potential breach of financial covenants in credit agreements 
and note purchase agreements; wrongful call on letters of credit and performance bonds; insufficient 
insurance against material claims or losses; and exposure to fines and/or legal sanctions under anti-
corruption laws. 
 
The risks specific to the operation of MDA’s wholly-owned subsidiary Space Systems/Loral, LLC 
(“SSL”) that could cause actual results to differ from current expectations include, but are not limited 
to: significant competition in the satellite manufacturing market; unanticipated changes in SSL’s end-
user markets; inclusion of satellite performance incentives in many of SSL’s customer contracts; 
failure to maintain technological advances that meet its customers’ changing requirements; potential 
that SSL’s satellites will not be successfully developed or manufactured; potential for component 
failure or performance issues on SSL’s on-orbit satellites and resulting loss of revenue and harm to 
SSL’s reputation; SSL’s future operating results are dependent on the growth in the businesses of its 
customers and on its ability to sell to new customers; SSL’s contracts are subject to adjustments, 
cost overruns and termination; certain of SSL’s customers are highly leveraged and may not fulfill 
their contractual payment obligations with SSL; many of SSL’s costs are fixed and SSL may not be 
able to cut costs sufficiently to maintain profitability in the event of a downturn in its business;  the 
availability of facility space and qualified personnel may affect SSL’s ability to perform its contracts 
as efficiently as planned; SSL’s ability to obtain certain satellite construction contracts depends, in 
part, on its ability to provide the customer with financing; reliance on key suppliers to provide certain 
component parts; changes in regulations, telecommunication standards and laws due to political and 
economic instability in the countries in which SSL conducts business; reliance on patents and 
potential infringement of third party patents by SSL; and changes in U.S. and foreign laws and 
regulations, including U.S. export control and economic sanction laws, governing SSL’s business. 
 
For additional information with respect to certain of these risks or factors, reference should be made 
to section “Business Risks and Uncertainties” of this MD&A and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, as well with the Company’s continuous disclosure materials filed from time to time with 
Canadian securities regulatory authorities, which are available online at www.sedar.com or on the 
Company’s website at www.mdacorporation.com.  
 
The forward-looking information contained in this MD&A is expressly qualified by this cautionary 
statement. MDA disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking 
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, other than as 
required by law, rule or regulation. You should not place undue reliance on forward-looking 
statements. 
 
COMPANY PROFILE 
 
MDA is a global communications and information company providing operational solutions to 
commercial and government organizations worldwide. 
 
MDA's business is focused on markets and customers with strong repeat business potential, 
principally in the Communications sector and the Surveillance and Intelligence sector. In addition, 
the Company conducts a significant amount of advanced technology development. 
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The Company’s comprehensive capabilities in business and program management, systems 
engineering, systems integration, testing, and support services address complex customer 
requirements through the full solutions life cycle. Customers that procure MDA’s infrastructure and 
sustaining engineering services represent some of the world’s leading commercial and government 
enterprises. 
 
MDA employs more than 4,500 employees and serves its worldwide customer base from 11 
locations in the United States, Canada, and internationally. MDA has a strong presence in the U.S. 
with the personnel and facilities to undertake more U.S. work. 
 
The Company's common shares trade on the Toronto Stock exchange under the symbol "MDA". 
 
Communications 
MDA designs, manufactures and integrates satellites, satellite sub-systems and advanced antennas 
for commercial and government customers worldwide. The Company’s solutions meet a broad range 
of customer requirements for broadband internet service to the home, mobile video and internet 
service, broadcast feeds for television and radio distribution, phone service, civil and defence 
communications, direct-to-home television broadcast, satellite radio, telecommunications backhaul 
and trunking, weather and environmental monitoring and air traffic control. In addition, the Company 
produces spacecraft subsystems and integrates government and other add-on missions on 
commercial satellites. 
 
Surveillance and Intelligence 
MDA provides ground-based and space-based information solutions that support the operational 
needs of government, both military and civilian, and commercial customers worldwide. MDA’s 
information solutions include Earth observation ground systems, defence information systems, 
airborne surveillance systems, transportation management systems, geospatial services, space-
based platforms for Earth observation and advanced solutions for space exploration missions, as 
well as various mission sub-systems and support services. 
 
NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES 
 
In addition to results reported in accordance with IFRS, the Company uses certain non-IFRS 
financial measures as supplemental indicators of its financial and operating performance. These 
non-IFRS financial measures include operating earnings, operating earnings per share and 
operating EBITDA. The Company believes these supplementary financial measures reflect the 
Company’s ongoing business in a manner that allows for meaningful period-to-period comparisons 
and analysis of trends in its business. 
 
The Company defines operating earnings as net earnings from continuing operations excluding the 
after-tax effects of specified items affecting comparability, including, where applicable, non-
operational income and expenses, share-based compensation, fair value adjustments on financial 
instruments not subject to hedge accounting, and other gains or losses. The use of the term “non-
operational income and expenses” is defined by the Company as those that do not impact operating 
decisions taken by the Company’s management and is based upon the way the Company’s 
management evaluates the performance of the Company’s business for use in the Company’s 
internal management reports. Operating earnings per share is calculated using diluted weighted 
average shares outstanding and does not represent actual earnings per share attributable to 
shareholders. The Company believes that the disclosure of operating earnings and operating 
earnings per share allows investors to evaluate the operational and financial performance of the 
Company’s ongoing business using the same evaluation measures that its management uses, and 
is therefore a useful indicator of the Company’s performance or expected performance of recurring 
operations. 
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The Company defines operating EBITDA as earnings before corporate expense, net finance costs, 
income tax expense, depreciation and amortization, and items affecting comparability as specified in 
the calculation of operating earnings. Operating EBITDA is presented on a basis consistent with the 
Company’s internal management reports. The Company discloses operating EBITDA to capture the 
profitability of its business before the impact of items not considered in management’s evaluation of 
operating unit performance. The Company also discloses segment operating EBITDA as a measure 
of each reporting segment’s profitability and contribution to operating EBITDA. 
 
Operating earnings, operating earnings per share and operating EBITDA do not have any 
standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and therefore may not be comparable to similar 
measures presented by other companies. The Company cautions readers to consider these non-
IFRS financial measures in addition to, and not as an alternative for, measures calculated in 
accordance with IFRS. 
 
  

5



OVERVIEW 
 
The following table provides selected annual financial information of the Company. 
 

Results of Operations 2012 2011 2010 

($ millions, except per common share amounts)    
Continuing operations    
Revenues 879.9 761.1 688.0 
Operating EBITDA1 214.7 194.3 175.2 
Operating earnings1 126.8 117.2 99.9 
Operating earnings per share1, diluted 3.98 2.99 2.44 
    
Net earnings 86.3 129.6 59.5 
Net earnings per share, basic 2.71 3.31 1.46 
Net earnings per share, diluted 2.71 3.31 1.45 
    
Discontinued operations   
Revenues - - 351.9 
Net earnings from discontinued operations - - 71.2 
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of taxes - 30.1 - 
    
Total    
Revenues 879.9 761.1 1,039.9 
Net earnings 86.3 159.7 130.7 
Net earnings per share, basic 2.71 4.08 3.20 
Net earnings per share, diluted 2.71 4.08 3.19 
Cash dividend per common share 1.30 1.00 - 
    
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding: 
(millions)    
Basic2 31.8 39.1 40.8 
Diluted2 31.8 39.1 40.9 
    
Financial Position, at December 31 2012 2011 2010 

($ millions)    
Assets, from continuing operations 2,314.8 786.3 727.1 
Assets, from discontinued operations - - 800.7 
Total assets 2,314.8 786.3 1,527.8 
    Continuing operations    
Cash and cash equivalents 24.8 254.8 189.5 
Short-term investments 5.7 26.6 27.1 
Non-current financial liabilities3 805.9 121.4 213.0 
Shareholders’ equity 266.1 237.4 602.5 
     

1 This is a non-IFRS financial measure. Refer to section “Consolidated Results” for a reconciliation of operating EBITDA and 
operating earnings to net earnings from continuing operations. 

2 On October 4, 2011, the Company repurchased and cancelled 9,433,962 common shares (representing approximately 
22.9% of the shares outstanding) at a price of $53.00 per common share under a substantial issuer bid. After giving effect 
to the repurchase, the Company had approximately 31.8 million common shares outstanding at October 4, 2011. Refer to 
section “Quarterly Information” for comparison of weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the last 
eight quarters. 

3 Non-current financial liabilities consist of the long-term portion of debt and other long-term financial liabilities. 
 
The results of operations for 2012 and financial position as at December 31, 2012 were higher than 
those of 2011 due to the acquisition by the Company of Space Systems/Loral, LLC on November 2, 
2012. The results of operations for 2011 and financial position as at December 31, 2011 were lower 
than those of 2010 due to the disposition by the Company of the Property Information business on 
January 4, 2011. 
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Business acquisition 
On June 26, 2012, the Company signed a definitive agreement, subject to regulatory approvals, to 
acquire 100% of Space Systems/Loral, LLC and Space Systems/Loral Land, LLC (collectively “SSL”) 
from Loral Space & Communications Inc. (“Loral”) for a purchase price of US$875 million. The 
acquisition was completed and formally closed on November 2, 2012. The acquisition includes real 
estate valued at US$101 million for SSL’s headquarters in Palo Alto, California. SSL’s facilities 
encompass over 1.3 million square feet, approximately 564,000 square feet of which are owned and 
749,000 square feet of which are leased, spanning 35 buildings on 77 acres. 
 
SSL is a leading provider of commercial communications satellites, with experience building and 
integrating some of the world's most powerful and complex satellites and spacecraft systems. SSL 
has a long history of delivering reliable satellites and spacecraft systems for commercial and 
government customers around the world. 
 
The acquisition of SSL transforms MDA into a leading global communications and information 
company with a strong commercial focus. The acquisition gives MDA a much stronger presence in 
the U.S., from which to offer its extensive capabilities to major markets, and enables MDA to 
introduce its solutions through SSL’s existing network. 
 
In addition to the purchase price consideration, the Company paid US$194 million to Loral under a 
lockbox completion arrangement to acquire restricted cash of US$91 million, to fund working capital 
adjustments and to settle certain pre-existing intercompany liabilities between SSL and Loral. The 
Company also paid US$44 million to SSL to fund the repayment and discharge of SSL’s credit 
facility and US$4.2 million to cash collateralize certain existing letters of credit. Subsequent to 
November 2, 2012 and pursuant to the purchase agreement for the acquisition of SSL, Loral paid 
MDA US$6.5 million as a result of the resolution of a contingency related to orbital receivables. 
 
In aggregate, the Company paid purchase consideration of US$1.1 billion to acquire SSL, net of the 
US$6.5 million repaid by Loral relating to orbital receivables. The purchase consideration was 
allocated to the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition 
date. The Company has engaged independent specialists as part of this valuation process. The 
purchase price allocation is preliminary and subject to further adjustments as the Company 
completes the valuation of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The results of SSL are 
reported in the Company’s Communications segment and the results from the acquisition date to 
December 31, 2012 have been included in the Company’s earnings. Discussions regarding SSL in 
this MD&A are based on post-acquisition results, unless otherwise noted. 
 
The acquisition was financed by a combination of cash on hand, a promissory note payable to Loral 
of US$101 million bearing interest at 1%, new twelve-year senior secured notes payable of US$250 
million with two major U.S. private lenders bearing interest at 4.31% and approximately $613 million 
of variable rate term and revolving loans under a new four-year US$850 million senior secured 
syndicated credit facility. 
 
Sale of the Property Information business 
On January 4, 2011, the Company completed the sale of all its Property Information business to a 
third party buyer, resulting in a net after-tax gain on sale of discontinued operations of $30 million 
($0.77 per diluted share) in 2011. The Company has reported the results of the Property Information 
business as discontinued operations for all periods presented for comparative purposes. 
 
Basis of presentation 
The financial information and discussions presented in the MD&A refer to the Company’s continuing 
operations, unless otherwise noted. 
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS 
 
The following table provides selected financial information for continuing operations, including a 
reconciliation of operating EBITDA and operating earnings to net earnings from continuing 
operations. 
 

 2012 2011 2010 

($ millions, except per common share amounts)    
Revenues 879.9 761.1 688.0 
    
Operating EBITDA 214.7 194.3 175.2 
Operating EBITDA as a percentage of revenues 24% 26% 25% 
Corporate expense (12.7) (13.4) (15.6) 
Finance costs, net (7.0) (1.9) (4.1) 
Depreciation and amortization (19.0) (11.3) (12.5) 
Income tax expense, excluding tax on items 
    affecting comparability (49.2) (50.5) (43.1) 

Operating earnings 126.8 117.2 99.9 
Operating earnings per diluted share 3.98 2.99 2.44 
Items affecting comparability:    
Business acquisition costs (15.5) - - 
Amortization of acquisition related intangible assets (4.8) - - 
Loss on disposal of assets (1.7) - - 
Share-based compensation (29.3) 3.9 (30.8) 
Fair value adjustments on equity forward contracts 4.1 2.7 8.9 
Foreign exchange timing differences on certain 
    project-related foreign exchange forward contracts 
    not subject to hedge accounting 1.4 0.6 (9.9) 
Foreign exchange gain on translation of 
    intercompany balances 3.5 0.7 - 
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on conversion and 
    translation of foreign cash and long-term debt balances (0.5) 4.0 - 
Tax on items affecting comparability 2.3 0.5 8.8 
Forgone tax deductions on share-based compensation - - (17.4) 

Net earnings from continuing operations 86.3 129.6 59.5 

 
Revenues 
On a consolidated basis, revenues for 2012 were $880 million, up from $761 million for 2011. 
Revenues from Communications increased to $387 million compared to $238 million for 2011 as a 
result of the acquisition of SSL, which contributed revenues of $194 million in the period from 
November 3, 2012 to December 31, 2012. Revenues from Surveillance and Intelligence were $493 
million compared to $523 million for last year. The geospatial services operations continued to 
benefit from strong volumes, but lower activity levels in space robotics and lower revenues from UAV 
surveillance services following Canada’s withdrawal from Afghanistan in July 2011 caused an overall 
decrease to segment revenue. Refer to section “Results by Segment” for further discussion. 
 
Operating EBITDA 
Operating EBITDA, which is a measure utilized by management to evaluate the financial 
performance of the Company’s operating segments, was $215 million for 2012 compared to $194 
million for 2011. SSL contributed operating EBITDA of $26 million in the two-month period post-
acquisition.  
 
Operating EBITDA as a percentage of revenues (margins) will fluctuate from period to period with 
changes in the sales mix and contract life cycle of large dollar value contracts. The margins on large 
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dollar value contracts are impacted by the ratio of MDA value-added components to flowthrough 
costs, with MDA value-added components attracting a higher margin relative to flowthrough costs. In 
addition, the Company revises cost and revenue estimates on contracts in the ordinary course of 
business. Changes in estimates are included in the determination of estimated cumulative revenues 
in the period the changes are determined. Furthermore, any gains on contracts are recognized only 
when such amounts can be reliably determined and are reasonably assured of being realized. Refer 
to section “Results by Segment” for further discussion. 
 
Corporate expense 
Corporate expense for 2012 was $13 million, consistent with last year. Corporate expense is not 
considered in management’s evaluation of operating unit performance and includes such items as 
corporate head office costs, regulatory costs, executive and director compensation, strategic 
business development expenditures, and fees for audit, legal and consulting services. 
 
Net finance costs 
Finance expense for 2012 was $11 million compared to $6.2 million for last year. The increase was 
primarily due to the issuance of debt to finance the acquisition of SSL. Finance income for 2012 was 
$3.8 million (2011 - $4.3 million). 
 
Depreciation and amortization 
The following table shows depreciation and amortization expense, excluding amortization of 
intangible assets arising from the acquisition of SSL, for the fiscal years indicated. 
 

 2012 2011 

($ millions)   
Property, plant and equipment 13.8 7.3 
Intangible assets 5.2 4.0 

Depreciation and amortization 19.0 11.3 

 
The increase in depreciation and amortization expense was primarily due to significant additions of 
depreciable tangible assets as a result of the acquisition of SSL. Refer to section “Net earnings” for 
discussion of amortization of intangible assets arising from the acquisition of SSL. 
 
Income tax expense 
Income tax expense for 2012 was $47 million, representing an effective tax rate for accounting 
purposes of 35%, compared to 28% in 2011. The increase in effective tax rate was largely due to the 
variability of non-deductible share-based compensation expense and change in mix of income from 
various jurisdictions. 
 
Operating earnings 
Operating earnings, or net earnings excluding the after-tax effects of specified items affecting 
comparability, for 2012 increased to $127 million ($3.98 per diluted share) compared to $117 million 
($2.99 per diluted share) for 2011 on higher levels of operating activity. The increase on a per share 
basis also reflected the accretive effect of the substantial issuer bid completed in 2011. 
 
Net earnings 
Net earnings for 2012 were $86 million ($2.71 per diluted share) compared to $130 million ($3.31 
per diluted share) for last year. The comparison of financial results under IFRS to other periods is 
hindered by the variability of specified items not indicative of performance. These specified items 
affecting comparability, which have been excluded from net earnings to derive operating earnings, 
are discussed below. 
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Business acquisition costs 
The Company incurred transaction costs of $15 million in 2012 relating to the acquisition of SSL, 
consisting primarily of financial advisory, legal, tax, accounting, valuation and other professional 
fees. Since the business acquisition costs are transaction specific, the Company believes that 
excluding these costs allows for more meaningful period-to-period comparisons of operating results. 
 
Amortization of acquisition related intangible assets 
The Company recorded amortization expense of $4.8 million in 2012 relating to intangible assets 
arising from the acquisition of SSL. The acquisition of SSL resulted in fair value adjustments of $318 
million to definite life identifiable intangible assets, which are being amortized over estimated lives of 
five to twenty years. These intangible assets, consisting of technology, software, trade names and 
other intellectual property, are generally non-recurring expenditures as the Company does not need 
to replace these assets at the end of their lives to continue to operate its business. Ongoing 
maintenance and support costs are expensed as incurred and any internally developed technology 
and software that can be capitalized post-acquisition will be amortized in the normal course of 
business. All other research and development costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
Loss on disposal of assets 
In December 2012, the Company completed the sale of the net assets of its operations based in Los 
Alamitos, California and recognized a loss on disposal of $1.7 million. This business unit, which 
provided satellite composite structures and assemblies, was no longer strategic following the 
acquisition of SSL. The loss on disposal of assets is not indicative of the operating performance of 
ongoing business and the Company believes that exclusion of this amount allows for a more 
meaningful comparison of its financial results from period to period. 
 
Share-based compensation 
The Company recorded share-based compensation expense of $29 million in 2012 compared to a 
recovery of $3.9 million in 2011. The variability in expense year over year was primarily caused by 
large, unrealized fair value adjustments on share-based compensation awards as a result of 
fluctuations in the Company’s share price. 
 
Share-based compensation is an important aspect of compensation for management and key 
employees. However, the accounting expense or recovery based on fair valuation, which is 
estimated using complex option pricing models incorporating factors such as expected option lives 
and market volatility, is beyond the Company’s control and can vary significantly from period to 
period. Further, the accounting fair value adjustments are not reflective of actual cash outlays by the 
Company in any particular period. The average cash outlay on share-based compensation was 
approximately $27 million per year over the rolling three-year period ended December 31, 2012. 
 
The Company believes that the exclusion of share-based compensation reduces volatility in net 
earnings and facilitates the comparison of financial results across periods. 
 
Equity forward contracts 
The Company recorded a fair value gain on equity forward contracts of $4.1 million in 2012 (2011 – 
gain of $2.7 million). The Company has used equity forward contracts to hedge the economic risk of 
fluctuations in its share price on share-based compensation plans. The Company believes that it is 
useful to exclude gains or losses on fair valuation of equity forward contracts from net earnings as 
they have no relationship to the Company’s operating performance. 
 
Foreign exchange timing differences on certain project-related foreign exchange forward contracts 
not subject to hedge accounting 
Certain foreign exchange derivative contracts entered into by the Company relating to certain large 
dollar satellite solution programs did not qualify for hedge accounting at inception of the contracts as 
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the timing of the anticipated cash flows and/or the contract currency for certain subcontracts could 
not be predicted with sufficient certainty. Accordingly, the fair value adjustments on these derivative 
contracts were recognized in net earnings immediately, resulting in foreign exchange timing 
differences. The foreign exchange timing differences can result in significant variability in net 
earnings but have little bearing, other than timing, on the performance of the related programs. 
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses on translation of intercompany balances 
As part of its cash management efforts, the Company frequently advances funds between group 
entities that have differing functional currencies. The foreign currency exposure on these 
intercompany loans is not hedged. As a result, currency fluctuations, particularly between the 
Canadian and US dollar, can result in significant unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses on the 
translation of these balances that impact the comparability of net earnings. These unrealized foreign 
exchange gains or losses will only reverse upon disposal or liquidation of the associated foreign 
operation. 
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses on conversion and translation of foreign cash and long-term 
debt balances 
The Company received a significant amount of US dollars from the sale of its Property Information 
business, the majority of which was converted to Canadian dollars in anticipation of the October 
2011 substantial issuer bid. Additionally, a portion of the long-term debt issued to finance the 
acquisition of SSL is denominated in US dollars and is neither hedged with foreign currency forward 
contracts nor designated as part of a net investment hedge. The foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the conversion and translation of US dollar cash and long-term debt balances can 
result in significant variability in net earnings but have little bearing on operating performance. 
 
Order backlog 
Order backlog, representing the estimated dollar value of firm funded contracts for which work has 
not been performed, was $2.2 billion at December 31, 2012 compared to $805 million at the end of 
last year. The increase was primarily attributed to the inclusion of backlog for SSL. Order backlog at 
December 31, 2012 did not include the contract signed with the Canadian Space Agency in January 
2013 and valued at $706 million to build, launch and provide initial operations for the RADARSAT 
Constellation Mission (“RCM”). Order backlog also does not include unexercised contract options 
and potential orders under indefinite delivery/indefinite quantity contracts. Refer to section “Results 
by Segment” for further discussion. 
 
Financial position 
Total assets employed by the Company increased to $2.3 billion at December 31, 2012 compared to 
$786 million at December 31, 2011. The acquisition of SSL resulted in significant additions at fair 
value to all major classes of assets, including additions of $470 million to goodwill attributable mainly 
to the human capital of SSL’s workforce, its market presence and the synergies expected to be 
achieved from integrating SSL with the Company’s existing capabilities. 
 
Assets at December 31, 2012 included $331 million of non-current orbital receivables, which refer to 
the portion of the purchase price (typically capped at 10%) on SSL’s satellite construction contracts 
that certain customers pay over the life of the satellite, subject to the continued performance of the 
satellite. 
 
Shareholders’ equity increased by $29 million this year. The increase was mainly due to net 
earnings of $86 million, partially offset by dividend payments of $41 million. The following table 
shows the changes to shareholders’ equity for the year ended December 31, 2012. 
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($ millions)  
Balance at January 1, 2012 237.4 
Net earnings 86.3 
Payment of dividends (41.4) 
Common shares issued in conjunction with an employee share purchase plan 2.7 
Settlement of share-based compensation (4.2) 
Other comprehensive loss (14.7) 

Balance at December 31, 2012 266.1 

 
RESULTS BY SEGMENT 
 
With the acquisition of SSL, the Company re-evaluated its reportable segments in the fourth quarter 
of 2012. Prior period amounts have been reclassified to reflect the current presentation. Inter-
segment transactions have been eliminated from the segment financial information discussed below. 
 
Communications 
 
The Company’s Communications operations provide complete communications satellite solutions, 
satellite payloads, antenna and electronic subsystems, spacecraft subsystems and hosted payloads 
for commercial and government customers worldwide. 
 
The following table provides selected financial information for the Communications segment. 
 

 2012 2011 

($ millions)   
Revenues 386.6 237.7 
Operating EBITDA1 76.4 50.0 
Backlog 1,837.8 365.8 
    

1 Refer to section “Reconciliations” for a reconciliation of segment operating EBITDA to segment profits per the note to the 
consolidated financial statements on segmented information. 

 
Revenues from Communications for 2012 were $387 million compared to $238 million for 2011. The 
increase was due to the inclusion of two months of activity for SSL, partially offset by lower levels of 
pass-through items on certain communications satellite programs. Orbital income of $4.2 million is 
included in segment revenues for 2012. Excluding activity for SSL, segment revenues for 2012 were 
$192 million. 
 
Changes in revenues from year to year are influenced by the size, timing and number of satellite 
contracts awarded in the current and preceding years and the length of the construction period for 
satellite contracts awarded. Revenues on satellite contracts are recognized on a percentage of 
completion method over the construction period, which usually ranges between 24 to 36 months. 
Large satellites with significant new development can require up to 48 months for completion. 
 
Segment operating EBITDA for 2012 increased to $76 million compared to $50 million for last year, 
reflecting the contribution from SSL. Segment operating EBITDA margin was lower due to the 
addition of SSL’s satellite construction contracts to the revenue mix. Excluding contribution from 
SSL, segment operating EBITDA for 2012 was $50 million. 
 
Backlog from Communications was $1.8 billion at December 31, 2012. The Company signed a 
number of contracts to provide advanced technology solutions for telecommunication satellites 
during the year, including contracts to supply communications payload solutions for the AMOS-6 and 
HYLAS-3 satellites. New bookings for turnkey satellites had been hampered since mid-2012 pending 
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resolution of a satellite anomaly related to solar array deployment. The Independent Oversight 
Board, formed to investigate the anomaly, concluded its investigation in December 2012. The Board 
unanimously agreed that the anomaly arose due to an extraordinary combination of factors in the 
panel fabrication process, which the Company has fully resolved for satellites in production and 
eliminated in future deliveries through changes in the manufacturing process. 
 

Operational highlights 
The Company reached a number of important operational milestones in the Communications 
segment during 2012. Amongst other items, the Company completed construction of the EchoStar 
XVI satellite, which is a high power, 20-kilowatt satellite that will provide a broad range of direct-to-
home services in the United States. The EchoStar XVI satellite was successfully launched and 
handed over to the customer after completion of in-orbit testing in January 2013. The Company 
completed and delivered the Satmex 8 satellite to the launch site. The Satmex 8 satellite, built for a 
Mexican telecom operator, is a fixed satellite services spacecraft that will provide video content and 
distribution, broadband services, and cellular backhaul in the Americas. As well, the Company 
shipped the communication payloads for AM5 and AM6 to the Russian customer for integration into 
the spacecraft. 
 

Subsequent to December 31, 2012, the Company completed and delivered the Amazonas 3 
satellite. Built for the HISPASAT Group, the Amazonas 3 satellite will provide a wide range of 
telecommunications services including direct-to-home television, corporate fixed and mobile 
telephone networks, and broadband in the Americas, Europe and North Africa. 
 

The Company is establishing a U.S. government business unit, which will operate a Special Security 
Arrangement, to bid and perform certain U.S. government contracts. 
 
Surveillance and Intelligence 
 
In the Surveillance and Intelligence segment, MDA provides turnkey solutions developed around 
proprietary and purchased technologies and services, tailored to meet the operational requirements 
of military, civilian, and commercial customers worldwide. MDA’s geospatial services operations 
provide optical and radar satellite imagery, and value added products derived from satellite and 
other data sources. 
 
The following table provides selected financial information for the Surveillance and Intelligence 
segment. 
 

 2012 2011 

($ millions)   
Revenues 493.3 523.4 
Operating EBITDA1 138.3 144.3 
Backlog 348.2 439.4 
    

1 Refer to section “Reconciliations” for a reconciliation of segment operating EBITDA to segment profits per the note to the 
consolidated financial statements on segmented information. 

 
Revenues from Surveillance and Intelligence for 2012 were $493 million compared to $523 million 
for 2011. Revenues this year were impacted by lower activity levels in space robotics and UAV 
surveillance services and the variability in revenues inherent in long-term construction contracts. 
Revenues from geospatial services increased over last year, driven by strong demand from U.S. 
government agencies. 
 
Operating EBITDA from Surveillance and Intelligence for 2012 was $138 million compared to $144 
million for 2011. The decrease was consistent with lower revenues. 
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Backlog from Surveillance and Intelligence was $348 million at December 31, 2012. In January 
2013, the Company signed a contract valued at $706 million to build, launch and provide initial 
operations for the RADARSAT Constellation Mission. RCM is a constellation of three satellites that 
will provide around-the-clock coverage of Canada’s land, oceans, Arctic waterways and other 
strategic areas and fully support the priorities of the Canadian government. 
 
Operational highlights 
The Company reached a number of important operational milestones in the Surveillance and 
Intelligence segment during 2012. Amongst other items, the Company completed construction of the 
Sapphire satellite and associated ground infrastructure for Canada’s Department of National 
Defence. Sapphire is a space-based electro-optical sensor designed to track man-made space 
objects at high orbital altitudes and provide accurate, timely data to the Department of National 
Defence as part of Canada’s continued support of Space Situational Awareness. The Sapphire 
satellite was successfully launched in February 2013. The Company reached a partnership 
agreement with the U.S. Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA) to support the 
Phoenix Program, which is a significant opportunity for MDA to demonstrate its space robotics and 
on-orbit manipulation capabilities. In additional, the Company signed contract amendments to extend 
surveillance services for the Australian Defence Force at Kandahar Airfield for an additional two 
years. 
 
The Company established a proxy agreement for its U.S. geospatial services operations, which 
previously operated under a Special Security Agreement granted by the U.S. government. The proxy 
agreement places operational control of the Company’s U.S. geospatial services operations in a 
proxy board composed of U.S. citizens with security clearances. The proxy agreement provides 
access to a higher level of U.S. government contracts. 
 
QUARTERLY INFORMATION 
 
The following table summarizes selected financial information (unaudited) for the eight most recently 
completed quarters. 
 
 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 
 2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011 
($ millions, except per common share amounts)         
         From continuing operations         
Revenues 372.6 171.4 164.0 172.0 178.2 181.5 194.9 206.5 
Operating EBITDA1 72.8 46.2 47.8 48.0 52.6 46.8 49.2 45.7 
Operating earnings1 40.6 28.2 28.9 29.1 31.3 30.3 28.8 26.8 
Operating earnings per share, diluted 1.27 0.89 0.91 0.92 0.97 0.73 0.70 0.65 
         Net earnings (loss) 12.6 41.2 (1.0) 33.4 29.2 40.5 31.6 28.2 
Net earnings (loss) per share, basic 0.40 1.30 (0.03) 1.05 0.91 0.98 0.77 0.69 
Net earnings (loss) per share, diluted 0.40 1.30 (0.03) 1.05 0.91 0.98 0.77 0.69 
         Total         
Revenues 372.6 171.4 164.0 172.0 178.2 181.5 194.9 206.5 
Net earnings (loss)2 12.6 41.2 (1.0) 33.4 6.3 39.3 29.6 84.4 
Net earnings (loss) per share, basic 0.40 1.30 (0.03) 1.05 0.20 0.95 0.72 2.05 
Net earnings (loss) per share, diluted 0.40 1.30 (0.03) 1.05 0.20 0.95 0.72 2.05 
                  (millions)         
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
Basic 31.9 31.8 31.8 31.8 32.2 41.2 41.2 41.1 
Diluted 31.9 31.8 31.8 31.8 32.2 41.2 41.2 41.2 
          

1 Refer to section “Reconciliations” for reconciliation to net earnings from continuing operations for the last eight quarters. 
2 Total net earnings for the periods up to December 31, 2011 include the results of discontinued operations and gain/loss on 

disposal of discontinued operations. 
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Fourth quarter 2012 results 
Operating earnings for the fourth quarter of 2012 were $41 million ($1.27 per diluted share) on 
revenues of $373 million. This is compared to operating earnings of $31 million ($0.97 per diluted 
share) and revenues of $178 million for the fourth quarter of 2011. The increases were primarily due 
to the inclusion of two months of activity from SSL. 
 
Net earnings for the fourth quarter of 2012 were $13 million ($0.40 per diluted share) compared to 
$29 million ($0.91 per diluted share) for the same period of 2011. Net earnings this quarter were 
impacted by certain items not indicative of operating performance, including business acquisition 
costs of $11 million, amortization expense on acquisition related intangible assets of $4.8 million, 
loss on disposal of assets of $1.7 million and share-based compensation expense of $12 million. 
 
Quarter-to-quarter variances 
Revenue and operating EBITDA may vary from quarter to quarter due to changes in the sales mix 
and contract life cycle of large dollar value contracts. 
 
The substantial issuer bid completed in October 2011 has an accretive effect on earnings per share 
for subsequent quarters. 
 
Net earnings can fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter due to the variability in share-based 
compensation, fair value adjustments on financial instruments not subject to hedge accounting, and 
other gains and losses. Results for the second quarter of 2012 included share-based compensation 
expense of $32 million, which consisted predominantly of unrealized fair value adjustments on 
share-based compensation awards due to the sharp rise in the Company’s share price during the 
quarter ended June 30, 2012. 
 
While the Company reports quarterly, its results should be viewed from a long-term perspective. For 
this reason and the reasons cited above, the Company cautions readers that quarter to quarter 
comparisons of the Company’s financial results may not necessarily be meaningful and should not 
be relied upon as an indication of future performance. 
 
Discontinued operations 
The Company completed the sale of the Property Information business on January 4, 2011. As a 
result, total net earnings for the first quarter of 2011 included an after-tax gain on sale of 
discontinued operations of $56 million. Total net earnings for the fourth quarter of 2011 reflected a 
provision for warranty and other post-transaction obligations related to the products and 
infrastructure acquired by the buyer in the sale of the Property Information business. 
 
LIQUIDITY 
 
The Company’s principal sources of liquidity are cash provided by operations, including collection of 
orbital receivables and advance payments from customers related to long-term construction 
contracts, and access to credit facilities and equity capital resources. As well, the Company received 
cash proceeds from the sale of its Property Information business in January 2011. Other sources of 
liquidity include the issuance of common shares pursuant to an employee share purchase plan and 
as potential payment for acquisitions. The Company’s primary short-term cash requirement is to fund 
working capital, including supplier payments on long-term construction contracts. During 2011, the 
Company used cash to repurchase its common shares for cancellation pursuant to a substantial 
issuer bid. The Company’s medium-term cash requirements are to service and repay debt and to 
invest in the construction or acquisition of facilities, equipment and intangible assets for growth 
initiatives. Cash is also used to pay dividends and finance other long-term strategic business 
initiatives. In 2012, the Company financed the acquisition of SSL with a combination of cash on 
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hand, promissory notes and new long-term debt. The Company currently does not operate capital 
intensive businesses. 
 
The Company believes that its cash balances, expected cash flow from operations, and access to 
credit facilities and equity capital resources will be sufficient to enable the Company to meet its 
anticipated operating, capital expenditure, growth, investment, debt service, dividend, and other 
financial requirements in the near term. 
 
Cash flow highlights 
The following table provides selected cash flow information. 
 

 2012 2011 

($ millions)   
Cash provided by operating activities1 175.7 142.8 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (28.3) (182.9) 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 147.4 (40.1) 
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities (925.0) 726.0 
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities 583.2 (658.1) 
Effect of foreign currency on cash and cash equivalents (0.6) 4.5 
Cash and cash equivalents used in discontinued operations (35.0) (7.0) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 254.8 229.5 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 24.8 254.8 
 

1 Before changes in operating assets and liabilities. 
 
Operating activities 
Cash provided by operating activities, before changes in operating assets and liabilities, increased to 
$176 million in 2012 compared to $143 million in 2011, reflecting growth to operating EBITDA. Cash 
of $28 million was used this year to fund changes in operating assets and liabilities. In 2011, cash of 
$183 million was used in changes to operating assets and liabilities primarily due to the timing of 
milestone payments and receipts on large dollar construction contracts, including the Express 
AM5/AM6 and Ukraine satellite solution programs, and movements in the balance of tax assets, 
non-financial liabilities and employee benefits payable. 
 
Investing activities 
Net cash used in investing activities in 2012 totalled $925 million compared to net cash provided by 
investing activities of $726 million in 2011. The primary use of cash this year related to the 
acquisition of SSL, including payments for purchase price consideration, lockbox completion 
arrangement and settlement of certain pre-existing intercompany liabilities between SSL and Loral. 
In 2011, the primary source of cash from investing activities was the net proceeds from the sale of 
the Property Information business. 
 
Gross capital additions for 2012 were $25 million compared to $28 million for last year. Capital 
additions have generally related to investments in infrastructure and technology to support the 
growth of the Company. In 2012, the Company received government grants of $7.2 million under a 
non-refundable contribution agreement with Investissement Quebec relating to the expansion of its 
satellite systems facility in Montreal, which was completed in 2011. The government grants can 
become conditionally repayable if certain average employment targets to December 31, 2016 are 
not met. 
 
The Company sold short-term investments in 2012 and received proceeds of $19 million (2011 - 
$1.5 million), which was used to fund the acquisition of SSL. The Company also received proceeds 
of $15 million from the sale of the net assets of the operations based in Los Alamitos, California. 
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Financing activities 
Net cash provided by financing activities in 2012 amounted to $583 million, reflecting new 
borrowings to support the acquisition of SSL (refer to section “Credit facilities” below). Net cash of 
$658 million was used in financing activities in 2011. Last year, the Company repurchased and 
cancelled approximately 9.4 million of its common shares for an aggregate purchase price of $501 
million pursuant to its substantial issuer bid and repaid $102 million of long-term debt. 
 
In 2012, the Company increased its annualized cash dividend to $1.30 per common share (2011 - 
$1.00 per common share) and paid dividends of $41 million. 
 
Other ongoing financing activities included payment of interest on long-term debt, purchase of the 
Company’s common shares in the open market to settle certain share-based compensation plans, 
and issuance of common shares mainly to employees under share-based compensation plans. 
 
Credit facilities 
The following table summarizes the Company’s long-term debt. 
 

 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 

($ millions)     
Syndicated credit facility     
   Term loans  249.6  - 
   Revolving loans  148.6  - 
Senior secured notes  348.2  101.7 
Promissory note  100.5  - 
Financing fees  (3.9)  - 
Finance lease obligations  4.7  4.0 

Long-term debt  847.7  105.7 

 
Syndicated credit facility 
On November 2, 2012, the Company entered into a four-year senior secured syndicated credit 
facility with several North American and international banks. The syndicated credit facility is 
comprised of a term loan facility, with principal amounts of $125 million and US$125 million, and a 
revolving loan facility of up to US$600 million, which can be drawn in Canadian and U.S. dollars. The 
revolving loan facility includes a US$125 million sub limit under which letters of credit can be issued. 
The syndicated credit facility matures in November 2016. The term loan facility has scheduled 
repayments beginning in December 2013. The drawn amount of the revolving loan facility is 
repayable in full in November 2016. 
 
Loans under the syndicated credit facility bear interest at Canadian LIBOR or U.S. LIBOR plus 
margins of 1.5 to 3%. The margin will vary with the Company’s consolidated debt to EBITDA ratio. 
The syndicated credit facility is guaranteed by designated subsidiaries of the Company and the 
loans are secured by specific assets of the Company and its designated subsidiaries. 
 
On November 2, 2012, the Company also entered into a new US$100 million letter of credit 
agreement with a major bank. 
 
Senior secured notes 
On November 2, 2012, the Company entered into a twelve-year senior secured note purchase 
agreement for US$250 million with two major U.S. private lenders (the “2024 term notes”). The 2024 
term notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 4.31% per annum and are repayable in five equal annual 
installments beginning in November 2020. 
 
In February 2010, the Company entered into a long term debt agreement for US$100 million with a 
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private lender (the “2017 term notes”). The agreement was amended on November 2, 2012. The 
2017 term notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 5.3% per annum and are repayable in full in February 
2017. 
 
The 2024 term notes and the 2017 term notes are together called the “senior secured notes”. The 
senior secured notes are guaranteed by designated subsidiaries of the Company and secured by 
specific assets of the Company and the designated subsidiaries. The senior secured notes can be 
repaid, at the Company’s option, in whole or in part, at any time, together with accrued interest and 
any applicable make-whole amount. The senior secured notes rank equally with the obligations 
under the credit agreements. 
 
Promissory note 
On November 2, 2012, the Company entered into a promissory note for US$101 million, payable to 
Loral and bearing interest at a fixed rate of 1% per annum. The promissory note is secured by a 
bank letter of credit and is repayable in three equal annual installments beginning in March 2013. 
 
As at December 31, 2012, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under its various 
credit facilities and long-term debt agreements. 
 
Contractual obligations, commitments and contingencies 
The Company enters into contractual obligations and commitments in the normal course of 
business. These include debt, operating leases and others and the following table shows when they 
mature. 
 
  Less than 1 – 3  4 – 5 After 
As at December 31, 2012 Total 1 year Years Years 5 years 
($ millions)      
      Debt 843.0 45.0 102.6 446.9 248.5 
Finance lease obligations 4.7 3.2 1.4 0.1 - 
Operating leases1 160.8 41.0 48.5 26.0 45.3 
Other financial liabilities2 26.5 20.1 6.3 0.1 - 

Total contractual obligations 1,035.0 109.3 158.8 473.1 293.8 
 

1 The operating leases were primarily related to rental of office space. 
2 Other financial liabilities were primarily comprised of non-trade payables, contingent liabilities and fair value losses on 

derivative financial instruments. 
 

The Company has significant legally binding purchase obligations for materials, supplies and 
services incidental to the ordinary conduct of business that are not included in the above table. Most 
of these purchase obligations are with subcontractors on long-term construction contracts that the 
Company has with its customers. 
 

As at December 31, 2012, the Company had issued $124 million of letters of credit in the normal 
course of business, of which $21 million was guaranteed by Export Development Canada. 
 

Prior to the Company’s acquisition of SSL, ViaSat, Inc. and ViaSat Communications, Inc. (“ViaSat”) 
had sued SSL and Loral in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California 
alleging patent infringement. SSL and Loral believe that their conduct was consistent with, and in 
due regard for, any applicable and valid intellectual property rights of ViaSat. Under the terms of the 
Purchase Agreement for the acquisition of SSL, Loral has indemnified the Company for litigation 
costs and damages, subject to certain capped cost-sharing by SSL, and retained control of the 
defense of the lawsuit by ViaSat. 
 

Prior to the Company’s acquisition of SSL, SSL commenced construction of a satellite known as 
CMBStar under a contract with EchoStar Corporation (“EchoStar”). Although satellite construction is 
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substantially complete, EchoStar and SSL have agreed to suspend final construction of the satellite 
pending, among other things, further analysis relating to efforts to meet the satellite performance 
criteria and/or confirmation that alternative performance criteria would be acceptable. EchoStar has 
also stated that it is evaluating potential alternative uses of the CMBStar satellite. There can be no 
assurance that a dispute will not arise as to whether the satellite meets its technical performance 
specifications or if such a dispute did arise that the Company would prevail. 
 
In 2012 and prior years, the Company received government funding for several programs that 
support the development of new commercial technologies and products for delivery to customers of 
the Canadian government. Such funding is subject to possible repayment in the form of royalties on 
commercialization of that intellectual property by MDA. 
 
For further information on the Company’s contractual obligations, contingencies and commitments, 
refer to the notes of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND THE USE OF ESTIMATES 
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Estimates and assumptions are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and various factors that management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. However, due to the nature of estimates, actual 
results may differ from estimates. 
 

The Company’s significant accounting policies are contained in note 3 to the consolidated financial 
statements. Significant areas requiring the use of judgment in application of accounting policies and 
assumptions and estimates are discussed below. 
 

Business combinations 
In a business combination, all assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired or assumed are 
recorded at their fair values at the date of acquisition. Management uses judgment when estimating 
fair values of the net assets acquired and any contingent consideration to be recognized as part of 
the initial purchase consideration. The fair value of intangible assets acquired is determined using 
valuation techniques that require estimation of replacement costs, future net cash flows and discount 
rates. Changes in the estimates and assumption used could have a material impact on the amount 
of goodwill recorded and the amount of depreciation and amortization expense recognized in 
earnings for depreciable assets in future periods. 
 

Revenue recognition 
MDA generates a significant portion of revenues from long-term construction contracts. Revenues 
from long-term construction contracts, including amounts attributed to customer supplied materials, 
are recognized using the percentage of completion method based on costs incurred relative to total 
estimated costs. The inception to date effect of any changes in estimates of contract price or costs to 
complete is recognized in the period when the change is determined by management. The long-term 
nature of contracts involves considerable use of judgment and estimates in determining total 
revenues, total costs, performance incentives, contract risks, and percentage of completion. There 
are numerous factors to consider, including variances in the contract deliverables, scheduling, labour 
costs, material costs and productivity. The Company has developed methods and systems to 
provide reasonably dependable expenditure estimates for its long-term construction contracts. 
 
MDA enters into certain long-term construction contracts with the Canadian government where a 
portion of the funding received may be contingently repayable. Government assistance relating to 
long-term construction contracts is treated as an increase in revenue or as a reduction in costs, 
depending on its nature. MDA reviews all government assistance to determine which of the methods 

19



is appropriate in the circumstances. MDA treats amounts received from governments as revenue on 
contracts when the government is the final customer and where the contract requires that a final 
product be delivered. In certain cases, MDA retains the commercial rights to the related intellectual 
property but the government retains the rights to receive a royalty on any commercialization of that 
intellectual property. MDA treats amounts received from governments as a reduction of costs 
incurred when funding is provided for the development of a capability or intellectual property. 
 

Fair valuation of financial instruments 
IFRS requires financial instruments to be measured at fair value as at the balance sheet date. In 
determining fair value, the Company must estimate the price that market participants would sell for, 
or buy at, in an active liquid market, if there was one. Current market conditions, in which some 
financial instruments may lack an active market, make it more difficult for the Company to estimate 
fair value. While management believes the estimates of fair values at the balance sheet date are 
reasonable, differences in estimates could have an impact on the financial position and results of 
operations of the Company. 
 

Hedge accounting 
IFRS specifies the criteria that must be satisfied in order to apply hedge accounting under each of 
the permitted hedging strategies relevant to the Company. The Company applies considerable 
judgment when assessing whether a hedging relationship meets the criteria to qualify for hedge 
accounting and when testing for effectiveness. Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when 
the hedging relationship ceases to be effective or the hedging or hedged items cease to exist as a 
result of invoicing, maturity, expiry, sale, termination, cancellation or exercise. The fair value of 
hedged items and hedging instruments are primarily derived from market values adjusted for credit 
risk, which can fluctuate greatly from period to period. When a hedging relationship does not qualify 
for hedge accounting, the changes in fair value are recognized immediately in earnings and can 
result in significant variability in net earnings. 
 

Impairment of non-financial assets 
Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business 
exceeds the sum of the amounts allocated to the assets acquired, less liabilities assumed, based on 
their fair values. Goodwill is not amortized and is tested for impairment at least annually or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Goodwill 
is considered to be impaired when the carrying amount of the cash generating unit or group of cash 
generating units to which the goodwill has been allocated exceeds its fair value. An impairment loss, 
if any, would be recognized as a separate line item in the statement of earnings. 
 

Intangible assets, acquired individually or with a group of other assets, are initially recognized and 
measured at cost. The cost of a group of intangible assets acquired in a transaction, including those 
acquired in a business combination that meet the specified criteria for recognition apart from 
goodwill, is allocated to the individual assets acquired based on their relative fair values. Intangible 
assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives, and are tested for 
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset might be impaired. The 
amortization methods and estimated useful lives of intangible assets are reviewed annually. 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized and are tested for impairment annually 
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. 
The impairment test compares the carrying amount of the intangible asset with its fair value, and an 
impairment loss would be recognized in income for the excess of carrying value over fair value, if 
any. 
 

MDA has used independent third party valuation specialists to perform purchase price allocations 
and to identify and attribute values and estimated useful lives to the intangible assets acquired for 
significant acquisitions. Details provided in valuators’ reports on cash flows, tax rates, discount rates, 
capital expenditures, attrition rates and other assumptions used to determine the nature and amount 
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of the individual intangible assets are reviewed by management, as well as the Company’s 
independent auditors. This process calls for considerable use of judgment, and requires all parties 
involved to make estimates and assumptions. These determinations impact the amount of 
amortization expense to be recognized in future periods over the estimated useful lives of the 
intangible assets. 
 

The Company performs impairment tests for goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 
and other assets periodically as described above. Impairment tests involve considerable use of 
judgment and require management to make estimates and assumptions. The fair values of cash 
generating units are derived from certain valuation models, which consider various factors such as 
discount rates, future earnings and perpetual growth rates. Changes in estimates and assumptions 
can affect the reported value of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. 
 

Provisions 
The Company records a provision when an obligation to a third party exists, the payment is probable 
and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The Company records a provision based on the best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. While 
management believes these estimates are reasonable, differences in actual results or changes in 
estimates could have an impact on the liabilities and results of operations recorded by the Company. 
 

Pension and post-retirement benefit obligations 
The Company’s obligations and expenses relating to pension benefits are determined using actuarial 
calculations, and are dependent on significant assumptions such as the long-term rate of return on 
plan assets, the discount rate for pension benefits obligations and the rate of compensation 
increase. While management believes these assumptions are reasonable, differences in actual 
results or changes in assumptions could have an impact on the obligations and expenses recorded 
by the Company. 
 

Share-based compensation 
The Company measures the fair value of its share-based compensation awards using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model and recognizes the fair value expense on a straight-line basis over the 
relevant vesting period. Management uses judgment to determine the inputs to the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model including expected plan lives, underlying share price volatility and forfeiture 
rates. Changes in these assumptions could have a material impact on the calculation of fair value 
and the amount of compensation expense recognized in earnings. 
 

Investment tax credits 
The Company recognizes investment tax credits when there is reasonable assurance that they will 
be realized. Investment tax credits may be carried forward to reduce future Canadian federal and 
provincial income taxes payable. The Company applies judgment when determining whether the 
reasonable assurance threshold has been met to recognize investment tax credits in the financial 
statements. The Company must interpret eligibility requirements in accordance with Canadian 
income tax laws and must assess whether future taxable income will be available against which the 
investment tax credits can be utilized. Any changes in these interpretations and assessments could 
have a material impact on the amount and timing of investment tax credits recognized in the financial 
statements. 
 

Income taxes 
Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are 
recognized into earnings except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items 
recognized directly in other comprehensive income. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years. 
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Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets 
or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting 
nor taxable earnings, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled 
entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, 
deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of 
goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 
differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable 
right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current 
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized 
simultaneously. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 
 
The recognition of deferred income tax assets involves considerable use of judgment and requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions, including projected taxable income and tax 
planning strategies. A deferred tax asset has been recognized for certain unused tax losses, tax 
credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that this can be utilized 
in the future. No deferred tax asset has been recognized for certain net capital losses as it is 
currently not probable that there will be taxable capital gains upon which the net capital losses can 
be utilized. Changes in estimates and assumptions can affect the reported value of net deferred tax 
assets. 
 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 
The Company considers the management of financial risks to be an important part of its overall 
corporate risk management policy. Foreign exchange forward contracts are used to hedge the 
Company’s exposure to currency risk on sales, purchases, cash and loans denominated in a 
currency other than the functional currency of the Company’s domestic and foreign operations. 
Forward contracts on the Company’s common shares (“equity forward contracts”) have been used to 
reduce the cash exposure to settle obligations under certain long-term compensation plans. Interest 
rate swap contracts have been used to reduce the Company’s exposure to floating interest rates on 
long-term debt. The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage existing exposures, 
irrespective of whether the Company formally documents such relationships as hedges in 
accordance with hedge accounting requirements. 
 

At December 31, 2012, the Company had Canadian dollar foreign exchange forward purchase 
contracts for $300 million (December 31, 2011 - $249 million) and US dollar foreign exchange 
forward purchase contracts for $14 million (December 31, 2011 - $ nil). The Company also had 
Canadian dollar foreign exchange forward sale contracts for $404 million (December 31, 2011 - 
$381 million) and US dollar foreign exchange forward sale contracts for $21 million (December 31, 
2011 - $ nil). 
 

The fair values of the Company’s derivative financial instruments are determined with reference to 
quoted bid or ask prices where available. In the absence of an active market or direct quote, the 
Company determines fair value based on internal valuation models, such as discounted cash flow 
analysis, using management estimates and observable market-based inputs, as applicable. 
Management estimates include assumptions concerning the amount and timing of estimated future 
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cash flows and application of appropriate discount rates. Observable market-based inputs are 
sourced from third parties and include interest rates and yield curves, currency spot and forward 
rates, and credit spreads, as applicable. 
 
Gains and losses on fair valuation of derivative financial instruments that are subject to hedge 
accounting are deferred and accumulated in other comprehensive income. The gains and losses 
arising from these derivative financial instruments are transferred to earnings in the same period that 
the hedged item affects earnings. Gains and losses on the fair values of derivative financial 
instruments that are not subject to hedge accounting and the ineffective portion of any foreign 
currency hedging relationships are recorded in foreign exchange loss (gain) for foreign exchange 
forward contracts, and in fair value loss (gain) on equity forward contracts for equity forward 
contracts. 
 
At December 31, 2012, the Company’s foreign exchange forward contracts had a cumulative 
unrealized loss on fair valuation of $4 thousand (December 31, 2011 - cumulative unrealized gain of 
$4.4 million). Derivative financial instruments that qualified for hedge accounting had a cumulative 
net gain on fair valuation of $2.6 million recorded in other comprehensive income at December 31, 
2012 (December 31, 2011 - cumulative net gain of $6.0 million). 
 
The Company enters into foreign exchange derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to non-
Canadian dollar, or for its U.S. subsidiaries, non-U.S. dollar denominated anticipated cash inflows 
and outflows in certain construction contracts. Certain derivative contracts entered into by the 
Company did not qualify for hedge accounting as the timing of the anticipated cash flows and/or the 
contract currency for certain subcontracts could not be predicted with sufficient certainty. 
Accordingly, the fair value adjustments on these derivative contracts were recognized in net 
earnings immediately. This resulted in timing differences between the recognition of fair value 
adjustments in earnings versus revenues and costs, which were recognized on the percentage of 
completion basis using spot rates. Had these derivative contracts qualified for hedge accounting, the 
fair value adjustments would have been deferred and accumulated in other comprehensive income 
until the hedged revenues or costs were recognized, eliminating the timing differences. For 2012, 
management’s estimate of the foreign exchange timing differences on these derivative contracts not 
subject to hedge accounting was a gain of $1.4 million compared to a gain of $0.6 million for 2011. 
 
The Company settled all outstanding equity forward contracts in 2012. The equity forward contracts 
did not qualify for hedge accounting and all gains and losses on fair valuation were immediately 
recognized in earnings. For 2012, the Company recorded a fair value gain of $4.1 million relating to 
the equity forward contracts compared to a gain of $2.7 million for 2011. Fair valuation adjustments 
are affected by a number of factors, including the movement of the Company’s share price during 
the period and the market credit risk of the Company, and will result in a gain or loss as the 
Company’s share price changes. 
 
Further, the Company is exposed to credit risk through its cash and cash equivalents, restricted 
cash, short-term and long-term investments, trade and other receivables, orbital receivables, notes 
receivable and derivative financial instruments. The Company is exposed to liquidity risk in meeting 
its contractual obligations associated with financial liabilities as they become due. The Company is 
exposed to interest rate risk since a proportion of its capital structure consists of variable rate debt. 
The Company is exposed to share-based compensation costs risk as compensation cost can vary 
significantly as the price of its common shares changes.  
 
Refer to the notes to the consolidated financial statements for more information on the impact of 
financial risks, including sensitivity analysis on variances to foreign exchange rates, interest rates 
and the Company’s share price, as well as the Company’s risk management strategy to minimize the 
potential adverse effects of these risks. 
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
Under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management 
evaluated the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as at 
December 31, 2012. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as at 
December 31, 2012 at providing reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by 
the Company in reports filed under Canadian securities legislation is (i) recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Canadian securities legislation and 
(ii) accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required 
disclosure. 
 
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting 
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with IFRS. 
 
Under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management 
evaluated the design and operation of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as at 
December 31, 2012, based on the framework established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based 
on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as at December 31, 2012. 
 
There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the quarter ended December 31, 2012 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely 
to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, any control system, no matter 
how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that it will 
prevent or detect all misstatements, due to error or fraud, from occurring in the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
Dividend 
Semi-annual common share dividends paid in 2012: 
Dividend per share, paid March 30, 2012  $0.65 
Dividend per share, paid September 28, 2012 $0.65 
 
The Company has declared a semi-annual dividend of $0.65 per common share, payable on March 
28, 2013 to common shareholders of record at the close of business on March 15, 2013. 
 
Outstanding share data 
As at February 15, 2013, the Company had 31,866,271 common shares with no par value 
outstanding. 
 
Public securities filings 
Additional information related to MDA, including its most recent Annual Information Form, is 
available online at the Company’s website at www.mdacorporation.com and on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com. 
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RECONCILIATIONS 
 
The following table reconciles operating EBITDA and operating earnings to net earnings from 
continuing operations for the last eight quarters. 
 
 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 
 2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011 
($ millions)         
Operating EBITDA 72.8 46.2 47.8 48.0 52.6 46.8 49.2 45.7 
         Corporate expense (4.0) (2.6) (3.5) (2.6) (3.7) (3.9) (3.3) (2.4) 
Finance income (costs), net (4.6) (0.1) 0.0 (2.4) 0.6 0.0 (0.8) (1.6) 
Depreciation and amortization (8.9) (3.6) (3.5) (3.0) (3.0) (2.6) (2.9) (2.8) 
Income tax expense, excluding tax on 
    items affecting comparability (14.7) (11.7) (11.9) (10.9) (15.2) (10.0) (13.4) (12.1) 

Operating earnings 40.6 28.2 28.9 29.1 31.3 30.3 28.8 26.8 

Items affecting comparability:         
Business acquisition costs (10.8) (2.7) (1.9) - - - - - 
Amortization of acquisition related intangible 
    assets (4.8) - - - - - - - 
Loss on disposal of assets (1.7) - - - - - - - 
Share-based compensation (11.6) 11.0 (31.9) 3.3 (4.5) 13.7 (1.5) (3.8) 
Fair value adjustments on equity forward 
    contracts - (1.0) 6.0 (0.9) (0.1) (3.5) 1.8 4.5 
Foreign exchange timing differences on certain 
    project-related foreign exchange forward 
    contracts not subject to hedge accounting (1.1) 2.7 0.0 (0.2) (1.2) 3.1 (0.8) (0.6) 
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on translation of 
    intercompany balances (0.7) 4.9 (4.1) 3.4 4.4 (6.2) 1.1 1.4 
Foreign exchange gain (loss) on conversion and 
    translation of foreign cash and long-term 
    debt balances 2.1 (1.5) 0.0 (1.3) (1.5) 3.7 1.8 - 
Tax on items affecting comparability 0.6 (0.4) 2.0 (0.0) 0.8 (0.6) 0.4 (0.1) 

Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations 12.6 41.2 (1.0) 33.4 29.2 40.5 31.6 28.2 

 
The following table reconciles segment operating EBITDA to segment profits for the fiscal years 
indicated. 
 
  Surveillance & 2012  Surveillance & 2011 
 Communications Intelligence Total Communications Intelligence Total 
($ millions)       
Operating EBITDA 76.4 138.3 214.7 50.0 144.3 194.3 
       Depreciation and amortization (15.3) (8.5) (23.8) (2.6) (8.7) (11.3) 
Other foreign exchange 
   adjustments 0.7 (1.9) (1.2) (0.4) 0.7 0.3 
Segment profits 61.8 127.9 189.7 47.0 136.3 183.3 

 
 
BUSINESS RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 
The Company is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that can significantly affect its 
business, financial condition and future financial performance. The Company has a comprehensive 
process to identify, manage, and mitigate risk, wherever possible. The risks and uncertainties 
described below are not necessarily the only risks the Company faces. Additional risks and 
uncertainties that are presently unknown to the Company or deemed immaterial by the Company 
may adversely affect the Company’s business. 
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Government Contracts and Regulations 
Changes in government policies, priorities or regulations, or funding levels through agency or 
program budget reductions, the imposition of budgetary constraints or the lack of government 
appropriations or the delay and/or deferment in governmental contract approvals or in government 
programs could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of 
operations or future growth. Furthermore, contracts with any government, including the Canadian or 
United States government, may be terminated or suspended by the government at any time, with or 
without cause, and could result in significant liability obligations. There can be no assurance that any 
contract with the government of any country will not be terminated or suspended in the future. 
Although the Company attempts to ensure that government contracts have, as standard provisions, 
termination for convenience language which reimburses the contractor for reasonable costs 
incurred, subcontractor and employee termination and wind-down costs plus a reasonable amount of 
profit thereon, the payments are not assured and may not be sufficient to fully compensate the 
Company for any early termination of a contract, which may impact the results of operations and 
financial condition of the Company. (The use of “government” in this document includes government 
agencies, government owned entities, and the various levels of government.) 
 
Some areas in which the Company operates are subject to significant regulation. These regulations 
are subject to change; a failure by the Company to keep current and compliant with these changes 
could result in sanctions or financial penalties that may have a material adverse effect on its results 
of operations, or limit its ability to operate in a specific market. 
 
The operation of certain systems, such as satellites or other devices, which are or will be operated 
by the Company require regulatory approvals to be obtained by the Company, such as those relating 
to licences and communication frequencies. In certain circumstances third parties may be required 
to obtain such approvals or licences. There can be no assurance the approvals or licences will be 
obtained by either the Company or third parties on a timely basis or retained for continuous 
operations. A failure to obtain approvals or licences could affect the Company’s results of operations 
and financial condition. 
 
Reliance on Third Party Subcontractors 
The Company’s business is often dependent upon the performance by third party subcontractors in 
order for MDA, as prime contractor, to complete its contracts. Subcontractors for most system 
programs or critical support requirements are selected in accordance with the customer’s 
requirements, either as directed by the customer or as evaluated by the Company during the 
contractor qualification process. Subcontractors are in most cases also selected through a 
competitive bid or negotiated process. As applicable, major development subcontracts are 
established as firm fixed price contracts, generally with supporting performance bonds or other 
security, liquidated damages or other penalties for non-performance. However, some subcontractors 
have limitations or exclusions from certain liabilities. The Company believes that these 
subcontractors would have an economic incentive to perform such subcontracts for the Company, 
although no company can protect itself against all potential failures or breaches by subcontractors, 
particularly those related to financial insolvency of the subcontractors or to cost overruns by 
subcontractors. In addition, a significant price increase in those subcontracts which are not firm fixed 
price, delays in performance, a subcontractor’s failure to perform or the inability to obtain 
replacement subcontractors at a reasonable price, when and if needed, could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. 
 
Firm Fixed Price Contracts 
A large percentage of the Company’s contracts are firm fixed price contracts. These firm fixed price 
contracts at times involve the completion of large-scale system engineering, software, hardware and 
product development projects. There is a risk in every firm fixed price contract that the Company will 
be unable to deliver under the contract within the time specified and at a cost to the Company which 

26



is less than the contract price. The technical nature and complexity of the systems and products 
deliverable under these contracts may require amendments to be negotiated from time to time, 
subject to agreed contract change processes. In the absence of any agreement to such 
amendments which increase the price payable or extend delivery times when deliveries are late, 
customers may be in a position to terminate the contract, or to demand repayments or penalties. The 
Company has processes and systems in place to reasonably measure and monitor the technical and 
financial performance of contracts and the Company, together with the customer, constantly 
monitors these projects to identify early warnings related to these risks. In addition, the Company 
implements risk management and mitigation techniques as part of its program management 
processes. Notwithstanding these processes, a contract may end up in a default or in a cost overrun. 
A termination of a contract for default or a significant cost overrun that is caused by actions or 
inactions by the Company could adversely affect the Company’s results of operations and financial 
condition. 
 
Changes in Estimates 
Contract accounting requires the Company to exercise judgment when assessing risks, estimating 
contract revenues and costs, and making assumptions for scheduling and technical issues. Due to 
the nature of many of the Company’s contracts, the estimation of total revenues and costs at 
completion is complicated and subject to many variables. Incentives and penalties related to 
performance on contracts are considered in estimating revenue and profit rates, and are recorded 
when there is sufficient information for the Company to reasonably assess anticipated performance. 
 
Because of the significance of factors outside of the Company’s control in the estimation processes 
described above, it is possible that materially different amounts could be obtained if different 
assumptions were used or if the underlying circumstances or estimates were to change or ultimately 
be different from the Company’s expectations. Changes or inaccuracies in underlying assumptions, 
circumstances or estimates may have a material adverse effect upon the financial results of future 
periods. 
 
Some of the Company’s contracts provide for payments contingent upon a successful operation of a 
system or product. While the Company may procure insurance policies that the Company believes 
would indemnify it for fees that are not earned and for performance refund obligations, insurance 
may not continue to be available on economical terms, if at all. Further, the Company may elect not 
to procure insurance. In addition, some of the Company’s contracts require the Company to pay 
penalties or damages in the event that systems or products are not delivered on a timely basis, or to 
refund cash receipts if a contract is terminated for default prior to delivery. The Company’s failure to 
receive incentive payments, or a requirement that the Company refund amounts previously received 
or that it pay delay penalties, could have a material adverse effect on its financial condition and 
results of operations. 
 
Potential for Liability 
There is a risk that the Company’s products or systems may contain errors or defects or fail to 
perform as intended. While the Company strives to contractually limit its liability for damages arising 
from its provision of products and systems, such limitations of liability, although existing in the vast 
majority of the Company’s contracts, may not have been included in all of the Company’s past 
contractual arrangements or sales nor may any such limitations of liability be at levels that if 
incurred, would not have an adverse effect on the Company’s operating results and financial 
condition. Additionally, where such limitations have been included, there can be no assurance that 
they will be enforceable in all circumstances or in all jurisdictions or that they otherwise will protect 
the Company from liability for any claims or damages except as any insurance coverage applies. 
Furthermore, litigation, regardless of contractual terms, could result in substantial cost to the 
Company, divert management’s attention and resources from the Company’s operations and result 
in negative publicity that may impair the Company’s ongoing marketing efforts. Although the 
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Company purchases product liability insurance (covering risk of property damage and personal 
injury) and errors and omissions insurance and its contracts provide for reasonable warranty 
limitations, there is no assurance that such measures will cover any or all of, or the extent of, any 
claims. 
 
Quality Issues and Contract Performance 
The Company sells complex systems, including products, hardware and software that can contain 
defects in design, manufacture and software implementation. Sophisticated software such as those 
developed by the Company may contain defects that can unexpectedly interfere with the software’s 
intended operation. Defects may also occur in components and products that the Company 
purchases from third parties. In addition, most of the systems developed by the Company are 
technologically advanced and sometimes must function under demanding and unpredictable 
operating conditions and in harsh and potentially destructive environments. The Company employs 
sophisticated design and testing processes and practices which include a range of stringent factory 
and on-site acceptance tests with criteria and requirements jointly developed with the customers. 
However, there can be no assurance that the Company’s systems will be successfully implemented, 
will pass required acceptance criteria, or will operate or give the desired output. There can be no 
assurance that the Company will be able to detect and fix all defects in the systems, products, 
hardware and software it sells. Failure to do so could result in lost revenue, harm to reputation, and 
significant warranty and other expenses, and could have a material adverse impact on the 
Company’s financial condition and operating results. 
 
Acquisitions and Divestitures 
The Company has in the past and may continue to expand its operations and business by acquiring 
additional businesses, products or technologies. There can be no assurance that the Company will 
be able to identify, acquire, obtain the required regulatory approvals, or profitably manage additional 
businesses or successfully integrate any acquired businesses, products or technologies into the 
Company without substantial expenses, delays or other operational, regulatory, or financial 
problems. Furthermore, acquisitions may involve a number of additional risks, including diversion of 
management’s attention, failure to retain key personnel, unanticipated events or circumstances and 
legal liabilities, some or all of which could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
results of operations and financial condition. In addition, there can be no assurance that acquired 
businesses, products or technologies, if any, will achieve anticipated revenues and income growth. 
Acquisitions could also result in potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities. The failure of the 
Company to manage its acquisitions strategy successfully could have a material adverse effect on 
the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. 
 
When divesting of certain businesses of the Company, the Company may not be able to obtain 
releases from counterparties under contracts for such divested businesses and may be required to 
provide indemnities to third parties or the purchaser with respect to such divested businesses. The 
Company will have little control over any divested business and may be called on to perform under 
contracts or indemnities without control. While the Company will seek indemnification from the 
purchaser for these continuing obligations, there can be no certainty that the Company will be 
indemnified. These obligations could result in the Company being liable for payment of damages, 
costs and penalties related to non-performance of a contract. The sale agreements for divested 
business contain indemnification provisions pursuant to which the Company may be required to 
indemnify the purchaser of the divested business for liabilities, losses, or expenses arising out of 
breaches of covenants and certain breaches of representations and warranties (including breaches 
of representations and warranties stated to be based on the knowledge of specified persons) relating 
to the condition of the divested business prior to and at the time of sale. While the Company 
believes, based upon the facts presently known to it, that it has made adequate provision for any 
such potential indemnification obligations, there is a possibility that other facts may become known 
in the future which may subject the Company to claims for additional liabilities or expenses beyond 
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those presently anticipated and provided for. In addition, a purchaser may make allegations relating 
to disclosures made to it as part of any sale process, in addition to any contractual obligations that 
the Company may have to the purchaser. In addition, the Company may not be able to invest or 
utilize the net proceeds realized by the Company in the divestiture of a business, in a manner to 
achieve the same return to the Company that had been historically realized by the divested 
business. Any action taken by others against the Company on any continuing obligations related to a 
divested business, any claim of a material amount under any indemnity, and the inability to utilize the 
net proceeds of a divestiture in a manner that maximizes the Company’s return could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s business and results of operations. 
 
Satellite Failure 
In the Company’s Geospatial Services operations, the Company relies on data collected from a 
number of sources including data obtained from satellites. Satellites can cease to function for 
reasons beyond the Company’s control. In certain instances, governments may discontinue for 
periods of time the access to or operation of a satellite for any particular area on the Earth and for 
various reasons may not permit transmission of certain data, whether from a satellite owned by the 
government or not. Although such data may be available from other sources at different prices, there 
is no assurance that the data will be available at the quality or at the times required. Also, the launch 
or operation of new satellites to replace old satellites may be delayed or may fail. Any of these 
factors could affect the Company’s ability to obtain data or alternate sources of data for its products. 
Any such delay or failure could affect the Company’s results of operations and financial condition. 
MDA Geospatial Services Inc.’s sales are dependent primarily on data received from RADARSAT-2. 
The failure of RADARSAT-2 could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of 
operations and financial condition. 
 
Dependence on Data and Systems 
The Company maintains, at various locations, databases of information and systems infrastructure.  
Such systems are required to be available without interruption on a continuous basis to meet 
contractual service level obligations, and to ensure the Company’s communications, data, and 
operational needs are met. System security network threats are frequent and mechanical or software 
errors may cause system corruption or failure. In addition, the databases are subject to similar 
security threats and data corruption or loss may occur as a result of such security threats or 
malfunction of software or hardware. Errors in data could lead to significant liability to the Company if 
the Company’s customers relied on such incorrect data. Although the Company provides for 
redundancy, disaster recovery, tested systems and network security, it cannot prevent all possible 
errors or threats. 
 
Dependence on Data Providers 
Certain of the products offered by the Company rely on data supplied by third parties. Contracts for 
data supply normally have provisions which permit either party to terminate the agreement in the 
event of a breach by the other party. There may, however, be costs to the Company associated with 
its breach of such contracts and the acquisition of software and/or data to be provided in its 
products. In the event that any of such contracts are terminated, or a data provider is not otherwise 
able to provide data, the Company may experience delays in obtaining data from alternative sources 
which may affect the Company’s operations or financial condition. The Company also sources data 
from various third parties without formal contracts applying to such transactions. There can be no 
assurance that the Company will be able to continually acquire data from all government or other 
sources at a cost that permits the Company to realize a profit. 
 
Dependence on Key Personnel and U.S. Proxy Board 
The success of the Company is largely dependent on the abilities and experience of its executive 
officers and other key employees. Competition for highly skilled management, technical, research 
and development and other employees is intense in the Company’s industry. There can be no 
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assurance that the Company can retain its current executive officers or key employees or attract and 
retain additional executive officers or key employees as needed. Further, some of the technical and 
administrative employees at the Company’s operations in Canada work under a number of collective 
bargaining agreements, each with different contractual terms and termination dates. The loss of 
certain executive officers or key employees and the disruption to operations due to work stoppages 
could have an adverse impact upon the Company’s growth, operations and profitability. In addition, 
in order to obtain certain business from government agencies in the United States, the Company has 
established a separate proxy board of directors to oversee the management and operations of a 
subsidiary domiciled in the United States, and the Company and its board of directors are restricted 
in its oversight over that separate proxy board of directors and the management of that subsidiary. 
The actions taken or not taken by the management or the proxy board of directors could have an 
impact on the Company’s growth, reputation and profitability. 
 
Technological Change 
The markets in which the Company operates are characterized by changing technology and evolving 
industry standards. The Company’s systems embody complex technology and may not always be 
compatible with current and evolving technical standards and systems developed by others. Failure 
or delays by the Company to meet or comply with the requisite and evolving industry or user 
standards could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations 
and financial condition. The Company’s ability to anticipate changes in technology, technical 
standards and the needs of the industries it serves or proposes to serve will be a significant factor in 
the Company’s ability to compete or expand into new markets. Despite years of experience in 
meeting customer systems requirements with the latest in technological solutions, there can be no 
assurance that the Company will be successful in identifying, developing and marketing products or 
systems that respond to rapid technological change, evolving standards or individual customer 
standards or requirements. 
 
Retention of Markets and Development of New Offerings 
The Company may experience design, manufacturing, marketing and other difficulties that could 
delay or prevent the development, introduction or acceptance of new products, systems and 
enhancements. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to anticipate and achieve 
the technological advances necessary to remain competitive and profitable, that new products or 
systems will be developed and manufactured on schedule or on a cost-effective basis or that the 
Company’s existing products or systems will not become technologically obsolete. The Company’s 
failure to predict accurately the needs of current and prospective customers, and to develop 
products, systems or enhancements that address those needs, may result in the loss of current 
customers or the inability to secure new customers. 
 
Significant Competition 
Many of the Company’s competitors are larger and have substantially greater resources than the 
Company. Furthermore, it is possible that other domestic or foreign companies or governments, 
some with greater experience in the industry in which the Company operates and many with greater 
financial resources than the Company possesses, could seek to produce products, systems or 
services that compete with the Company’s products, systems or services, including using new 
technology which could render the Company’s products or systems less competitively viable. Some 
of the Company’s foreign competitors currently benefit from, and others may benefit in the future 
from, protective measures by their home countries. Furthermore, government agencies may at any 
time decide to perform similar work as the Company either for themselves or for other government 
agencies, effectively competing with the Company. 
 
Infringement Claims from Intellectual Property 
Certain software modules and other intellectual property used by the Company or in the Company’s 
products and systems make use of or incorporate licensed software components and other licensed 
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technology. These components are developed by third parties over whom the Company has no 
control. The Company has no assurances that those components do not infringe upon the 
intellectual property rights of others or that in the combination used by the Company does not 
infringe on the rights of others. The Company could be exposed to infringement claims and liability in 
connection with the use of those software components. The Company may be forced to replace 
those components with internally developed, purchased or other licensed software, pay royalties or 
be liable to indemnify its customers on the use of the software components. 

Intellectual Property Rights 
To protect the Company’s proprietary rights, the Company relies on a combination of patent 
protections, copyrights, trade secrets, trademark laws, confidentiality agreements with employees 
and third parties, and protective contractual provisions such as those contained in licence 
agreements with consultants, subcontractors, vendors and customers. Despite these efforts, the 
Company’s intellectual property rights may be invalidated, circumvented, challenged, infringed or 
required to be licensed to others, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business, financial condition or operating results. 
 

An infringement or misappropriation could harm any competitive advantage the Company currently 
derives or may derive from its proprietary rights. Litigation may be necessary to enforce or protect 
the Company's intellectual property rights, protect its trade secrets or determine the validity and 
scope of the proprietary rights of others. Such litigation may be time-consuming and expensive to 
prosecute or defend and could result in the diversion of the Company's time and resources. 
 
Furthermore, others may develop technologies that are similar or superior to the Company’s 
technology, duplicate or reverse engineer the Company’s technology or design around the 
Company’s products or systems. Although the Company applies rigorous standards, documents and 
processes to protect its intellectual property, there is no absolute assurance that the steps taken to 
protect the Company’s technology will prevent misappropriation or infringement. 
 

If any of the Company’s technology violates proprietary rights, including copyrights and patents, third 
parties may assert infringement claims against the Company. Any claims from third parties may also 
result in limitations on the Company's ability to use the intellectual property subject to these claims. 
The Company may be required to redesign its products or systems or obtain licences from third 
parties to continue offering the Company’s products without substantially re-engineering such 
products or systems or defending itself and its customers against infringement claims and liability for 
damages. This may affect the Company’s operations and, in addition, the Company could suffer 
substantial costs in defending itself against infringement claims. 
 
Exposure to Foreign Currencies 
The Company’s financial results are reported in Canadian dollars. A substantial portion of the 
Company’s revenues and expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars. 
 
The Company uses hedging strategies to manage and minimize the impact of exchange rate 
fluctuations on its cash flow and economic profits. There are complexities inherent in determining 
whether and when foreign exchange exposures will materialize, in particular given the possibility of 
unpredictable revenue variations arising from schedule delays and contract postponements. 
Furthermore, the Company could be exposed to the risk of non-performance of its hedging 
counterparties. The Company may also have difficulty in fully implementing its hedging strategy 
depending on the willingness of hedging counterparties to extend credit. Accordingly, no assurances 
may be given that MDA’s exchange rate hedging strategy will protect it from significant changes or 
fluctuations in revenues and expenses denominated in non-Canadian dollars. 
 
MDA’s consolidated revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than 
the Canadian dollar are translated into Canadian dollars for the purposes of compiling its financial 
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statements. Changes in the value of these currencies relative to the Canadian dollar will have an 
effect on the Canadian dollar value of the Company’s reported consolidated revenues, expenses, 
assets, liabilities and earnings. 
 
Economic and Political Conditions 
Customer demand for the Company’s systems and products may be affected by economic and 
political conditions on an international, country and regional level. For example, changes in interest 
rates, foreign exchange, credit availability, the level of government spending, and political decisions 
may influence the Company’s sales or the Company’s ability to access certain funding from 
governments or government agencies. The Company has mitigated some of its exposure to variable 
business cycles by diversifying its business across multiple business activities and geographic 
locations. Notwithstanding the Company’s diversification, changing economic and political decisions 
may adversely affect the Company’s results of operations and financial condition. 
 
Inability to Effect Technology Transfer 
Certain businesses of the Company and products, systems, services or technologies developed by 
the Company require the implementation or acquisition of products or technologies from third 
parties, including those in other jurisdictions. Also, certain of the Company’s systems, products or 
technologies may be required to be forwarded or exported to other jurisdictions. In certain cases and 
only where the technology is re-exported to certain countries, if the use of the technologies can be 
viewed by the jurisdiction in which that supplier or subcontractor resides as being subject to export 
constraints or restrictions relating to national security, the Company may not be able to obtain the 
technologies and products that it requires from subcontractors who would otherwise be its optimal 
choice or may not be able to obtain the export permits necessary to transfer or export its technology. 
To the extent that it is able, the Company obtains pre-authorization for re-export prior to signing 
contracts which oblige the Company to export subject technologies, including specific foreign 
government approval as needed. In addition, the Company maintains an open competitive bidding 
system, on an international basis, which provides for qualified suppliers. In the event of export 
restrictions, the Company may have the ability through contract force majeure provisions to be 
excused from its obligations. Notwithstanding these provisions, the inability to obtain export 
approvals, export restrictions or changes during contract execution or non-compliance by the 
Company’s customers could have an adverse effect on the revenues and margins of the Company. 
 
Security Environment 
Many of the Company’s customers have specific security requirements relating to the work that can 
be performed for it. These requirements can change quickly and with little notice causing reduction 
or even elimination of potential work for the Company and the ability of the Company to participate in 
future business. Any reduction or elimination of work could have an adverse effect on the revenues 
and margins of the Company. 
 
Dependence on Business Alliances 
A key element of the Company’s business strategy is the formation of corporate alliances with 
leading companies. The Company invests significant resources to develop these relationships. The 
Company believes that its success in penetrating new markets for its products will depend in part on 
its ability to maintain these relationships and to cultivate additional or alternative relationships. 
Although significant effort has been dedicated to establishing and maintaining relationships, there 
can be no assurance that the Company will be able to develop additional corporate alliances with 
such companies, that existing relationships will continue or be successful in achieving their purposes 
or that such companies will not form competing arrangements. Any elimination or change of 
alliances or the formation by others of competing alliances could have an adverse effect on the 
Company’s revenues and financial condition. 
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Financing Arrangements 
The Company requires capital to finance any future growth and pay its outstanding debt obligations 
as they come due for payment. If the cash generated from the Company’s business, together with 
the credit available under existing bank facilities, is not sufficient to fund future capital requirements, 
the Company will require additional debt or equity financing. The Company’s ability to access capital 
markets on terms that are acceptable will be dependent on prevailing market conditions, as well as 
the Company’s future financial condition. Further, the Company’s ability to increase its debt financing 
and/or renew existing facilities may be limited by its financial covenants, its credit objectives, or debt 
capital market conditions. Although the Company does not anticipate any difficulties in raising funds 
in the future, there can be no assurance that capital will be available on suitable terms and 
conditions, or that borrowing costs will not be adversely affected. In addition, the Company’s current 
financing arrangements contain certain restrictive covenants that may impact the Company’s future 
operating and financial flexibility. The Company also depends on certain financing arrangements to 
be completed by some of its key customers. The inability by the Company’s customers to arrange 
satisfactory financing on a timely basis could have an impact on the Company’s business, results of 
operations and financial condition. 
 
Financing and Counterparties 
The Company’s debt funding is provided under credit agreements with a number of banks and under 
note purchase agreements with several private lenders. A failure by any lender to meet its funding 
obligations under the Company’s credit agreements could result in the need to replace the lender. 
While the Company does not anticipate any difficulty in finding a replacement lender in such 
circumstances, such a change may result in an amendment of pricing under the credit agreement to 
reflect prevailing market conditions. 
 
The credit agreements and note purchase agreements contain a series of positive and negative 
covenants which must be complied with by the Company including the achievement or maintenance 
of stated financial ratios. If the Company fails to comply with any covenants and is unable to obtain a 
waiver thereof, the lenders may be able to take certain actions with respect to the amounts owing 
under such agreements, including early payment thereof. Any such actions could have a material 
adverse effect on the financial condition of the Company. 
 
In addition, the Company enters into various financial derivative contracts with banks as 
counterparties. Failure of a counterparty to meet its obligations under a derivative contract could 
result in a material adverse effect to the Company’s results of operations and financial condition. The 
Company limits its counterparty exposure to that of large banks and monitors their financial standing. 
 
Letters of Credit, Performance Bonds and Parental Guarantees 
In the case of a number of the contracts of the Company, letters of credit or other forms of bonds 
and parental guarantees are required to be posted by the Company to cover advance payments or 
progress payments received by the Company, or to cover the Company’s performance obligations. If 
these letters of credit or other bonds or parental guarantees are called in accordance with the terms 
and conditions included therein, the effect of such calls could have an adverse effect on the results 
of operations and financial condition of the Company. In some cases, the Company obtains wrongful 
call insurance from Export Development Canada in order to insure against any wrongful call of 
letters of credit. 
 
Insurance 
The Company maintains an extensive program of insurance coverage in the normal course of 
business, consistent with similar businesses. In addition, the insurance program covers some of the 
unique risks encountered by the Company. Although the limits and deductibles of such insurance 
have been established through risk analysis and the recommendation of professional advisors, there 
can be no assurance that such insurance will remain available to the Company at commercially 
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reasonable rates or that the amount of such coverage will be adequate to cover all liability incurred 
by the Company. If the Company is held liable for amounts exceeding the limits of its insurance 
coverage or for claims outside the scope of that coverage, its business, results of operations and 
financial condition could be adversely affected. 
 
Anti-corruption Laws 
As part of the regulatory and legal environments in which it operates, the Company is subject to anti-
corruption laws that prohibit improper payments directly or indirectly to government officials, 
authorities or persons defined in those anti-corruption laws in order to obtain or retain business or 
other improper advantages in the conduct of business. 
 
The Company’s policies mandate compliance with anti-corruption laws. Failure by the Company’s 
employees, agents, subcontractors, suppliers and/or partners to comply with anti-bribery laws could 
impact the Company in various ways that include, but are not limited to, criminal, civil and 
administrative fines and/or legal sanctions and could have a significant adverse impact on the 
Company’s results. 
 
The Company acquired SSL on November 2, 2012. In addition to the business risks and 
uncertainties noted above, SSL has certain specific business risks and uncertainties which include, 
among others, the following:  

The satellite manufacturing market is highly competitive. 

SSL competes with companies such as Lockheed Martin, Boeing and Orbital Sciences in the United 
States, Thales Alenia Space and EADS Astrium in Europe and Mitsubishi Electric Corp. in Japan. 
The Company also expects that in the future SSL will compete with emerging low-cost competitors in 
India, Russia and China. Many of SSL’s competitors are larger and have substantially greater 
resources than the Company. Furthermore, it is possible that other domestic or foreign companies or 
governments, some with greater experience in the space industry and many with greater financial 
resources than the Company possesses, could seek to produce satellites that could render SSL’s 
satellites less competitively viable. Some of SSL’s foreign competitors currently benefit from, and 
others may in the future benefit from, subsidies from or other protective measures by their home 
countries or government-supported financing of customer purchases and the ability to avoid U.S. 
export controls.  
 
The Company’s financial performance is dependent on SSL’s ability to generate a sustainable order 
rate. This can be challenging and may fluctuate on an annual and quarterly basis as the number of 
satellite construction contracts varies and is difficult to predict.  There is also competitive pressure on 
pricing and other material contractual terms, such as those allocating risk between the manufacturer 
and its customers.  

The buying pattern of SSL’s end-user markets could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s financial results. 

Many of the end markets SSL serves have historically been cyclical and have experienced periodic 
downturns. The factors leading to, and the severity and length of, a downturn are difficult to predict 
and it is possible that SSL will not appropriately anticipate changes in the underlying end markets 
SSL serves. It is also difficult to predict whether any increased levels of business activity will 
continue as a trend into the future. If the Company or SSL fails to anticipate changes in the end 
markets SSL serves, the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition could be 
materially adversely affected. 

Many of SSL’s customer contracts include performance incentives. 

Many of SSL’s satellite construction contracts permit SSL’s customers to pay a portion of the 

34



purchase price (typically about 10%) for the satellite over the life of the satellite (typically 15 years), 
subject to the continued performance of the satellite, referred to as orbital receivables. Since these 
orbital receivables could be affected by future satellite performance, SSL may not be able to collect 
all or a portion of these receivables. SSL generally does not insure for these orbital receivables and, 
in some cases, agrees with SSL’s customers not to insure them. 

SSL records the present value of orbital receivables as revenue during the construction of the 
satellite, which is typically two to three years. SSL generally receives the present value of these 
orbital receivables if there is a launch failure or a failure caused by customer error. SSL forfeits some 
or all of these payments, however, if the loss is caused by satellite failure or as a result of SSL’s own 
error.  

In addition to performance of the satellite, there can be no assurance that a customer will not delay 
payment of an orbital receivable to, or seek financial relief from, SSL if such customer has financial 
difficulties. Nonpayment of an orbital receivable by a customer for performance or other reasons 
could have an adverse effect on the Company’s cash flows. In addition, if SSL’s customers fall 
behind or default on payments to SSL of orbital receivables, the Company’s liquidity will be 
adversely affected. 

Some of SSL’s contracts provide for performance incentives to the customer in the form of warranty 
payback, which means that in the event satellite anomalies develop after launch, SSL would owe the 
customer a specified penalty payment. SSL does not insure these contingent liabilities. The 
Company has recorded reserves in its financial statements based on current estimates of SSL’s 
warranty liabilities. There is no assurance that the Company’s actual liabilities to SSL’s customers in 
respect of these warranty liabilities will not be greater than the amount reserved. 

The satellite manufacturing industry is characterized by technological change, and if SSL 
cannot continue to develop, manufacture and market innovative satellite applications that 
meet customer requirements, sales may suffer. 

The satellite manufacturing industry is characterized by technological developments necessary to 
meet changing customer demand for complex and reliable services. SSL needs to invest in 
technology to meet its customers’ changing needs. Technological development is expensive and 
requires long lead time. It is possible that SSL may not be successful in developing new technology 
or that the technology it is successful in developing may not meet the needs of its customers or 
potential new customers. SSL’s competitors may also develop technology that better meets the 
needs of SSL’s customers, which may cause those customers or potential new customers to buy 
satellites from SSL’s competitors rather than SSL. 
 
It is possible that SSL’s satellites will not be successfully developed or manufactured. 

The satellites SSL develops and manufactures are technologically advanced and complex and 
sometimes include novel systems that must function in highly demanding and harsh environments. 
From time to time, SSL experiences failures or cost overruns in developing and manufacturing its 
satellites, delays in delivery and other operational problems. Some of SSL’s satellite contracts 
impose monetary penalties on SSL for delays and for performance difficulties, which penalties could 
be significant and have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition. Failures with 
respect to any satellite may adversely affect the perception by SSL’s customers of the quality of 
SSL’s satellites and may materially and adversely affect the Company’s ability to win new awards of 
satellite construction contracts. 

Certain of SSL’s on-orbit satellites have known performance issues. 

Component failure is not uncommon in complex satellites. Costs resulting from component failure 
may result in warranty expenses, loss of orbital receivables and/or additional loss of revenues due to 
the postponement or cancellation of subsequently scheduled operations or satellite deliveries and 

35



may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. 
Negative publicity from satellite failures may also impair SSL’s ability to win new contracts from 
existing and new customers. 

Some SSL-built satellites have experienced losses of power from their solar arrays. In the event of 
additional power loss, the extent of the performance degradation, if any, will depend on numerous 
factors, including the amount of the additional power loss, the level of redundancy built into the 
affected satellite’s design, when in the life of the affected satellite the loss occurred, how many 
transponders are then in service and how such transponders are being used. A partial or complete 
loss of a satellite could result in an incurrence of warranty payments by, or a loss of orbital 
receivables to, SSL. 

SSL’s future operating results are dependent on the growth in the businesses of SSL’s 
customers and on SSL’s ability to sell to new customers. 

SSL’s growth is dependent on the growth in the sales of services provided by SSL’s customers as 
well as the development by SSL’s customers of new services. If the Company fails to anticipate 
changes in the businesses of SSL’s customers and their changing needs, or fail to successfully 
identify and enter new markets, the Company’s results of operations and financial position could be 
adversely affected. The markets SSL serves may not grow in the future and the Company may not 
be able to maintain adequate gross margins or profits in these markets. A decline in demand in one 
or several end-user markets of SSL’s customers could have a material adverse effect on the 
demand for SSL’s satellites and have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results 
of operations and financial condition. 
 
SSL’s contracts are subject to adjustments, cost overruns and termination. 

SSL’s major contracts are firm fixed-price contracts under which work performed and products 
shipped are paid for at a fixed-price without adjustment for actual costs incurred. While cost savings 
under these fixed-price contracts result in gains to SSL, cost increases result in reduction of profits 
or increase of losses, borne solely by SSL. Under such contracts, SSL may receive progress 
payments, or SSL may receive partial payments upon the attainment of certain program milestones. 
If performance on these milestones is delayed, SSL’s receipt of the corresponding payments will 
also be delayed. As the prime contractor, SSL is generally liable to its customers for schedule delays 
and other non-performance by its suppliers, which may be largely outside of SSL’s control. 

 
Non-performance may increase costs and subject SSL to damage claims from customers and 
termination of the contract for default. SSL’s contracts contain detailed and complex technical 
specifications to which the satellite must be built. It is very common that satellites built by SSL do not 
conform in every single aspect to, and contain a small number of minor deviations from, the 
technical specifications. In the case of more significant deviations, however, SSL may incur 
increased costs to bring the satellite within or close to the contractual specifications or a customer 
may exercise its contractual right to terminate the contract for default. In some cases, such as when 
the actual weight of the satellite exceeds the specified weight, SSL may incur a predetermined 
penalty with respect to the deviation. SSL’s failure to deliver a satellite to its customer by the 
specified delivery date, which may result from factors beyond SSL’s control, such as delayed 
performance or non-performance by the subcontractors or failure to obtain necessary governmental 
licenses for delivery, would also be harmful to SSL unless mitigated by applicable contract terms, 
such as excusable delay. As a general matter, SSL’s failure to deliver beyond any contractually 
provided grace period would result in incurrence of liquidated damages, which may be substantial, 
and if SSL is still unable to deliver the satellite upon the end of the liquidated damages period, the 
customer will typically have the right to terminate the contract for default. If a contract is terminated 
for default, SSL would be liable for a refund of customer payments made to date, and could also 
have additional liability for re-procurement costs and other damages incurred by SSL’s customer, 
although SSL would own the satellite under construction and attempt to recoup any losses through 
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resale to another customer. A contract termination for default could have a material adverse effect 
on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. 

In addition, many of SSL’s contracts may be terminated for convenience by the customer. In the 
event of such a termination, SSL is normally entitled to recover the purchase price for delivered 
items, reimbursement for allowable costs for work in process and an allowance for profit or an 
adjustment for loss, depending on whether completion of the project would have resulted in a profit 
or loss; however, there is no guarantee that any such recovery will be obtained. 

Certain of SSL’s customers are highly leveraged and may not fulfill their contractual payment 
obligations with SSL. 

SSL has certain commercial customers that are either highly leveraged or are in the development 
stages and may not be fully funded. There is a risk that these customers will be unable to meet their 
payment obligations to SSL under their satellite construction contracts. In the event that any of the 
Company’s customers encounter financial difficulties and fail to pay SSL, the Company’s cash flows 
and liquidity may be materially and adversely affected. The Company may not be able to mitigate 
these effects because SSL manufactures satellites to each customer’s specifications and generally 
purchase material in response to a particular customer contract. 

 
Moreover, most of SSL’s satellite contracts include orbital receivables, and certain of SSL’s satellite 
contracts may require SSL to provide vendor financing to its customers, or a combination of these 
contractual terms. To the extent that SSL’s contracts contain orbital receivables provisions or SSL 
provides vendor financing to its customers, the Company’s financial exposure is further increased. In 
some cases, these arrangements are provided to (i) customers that are new companies, (ii) 
companies in the early stages of building new businesses or (iii) highly leveraged companies, in 
some cases, with near-term debt maturities. These companies or their businesses may not be 
successful and, accordingly, they may not be able to fulfill their payment obligations under their 
contracts with SSL.  

Many of SSL’s costs are fixed and SSL may not be able to cut costs sufficiently to maintain 
profitability in the event of a downturn in its business. 

SSL is a large-scale systems integrator, requiring a large staff of highly skilled and specialized 
workers, as well as specialized manufacturing and test facilities in order to perform under its satellite 
construction contracts. In order to maintain its ability to compete as one of the prime contractors for 
technologically advanced space satellites, SSL must continuously retain the services of a core group 
of specialists in a wide variety of disciplines for each phase of the design, development, manufacture 
and testing of its products. This reduces SSL’s flexibility to reduce workforce costs in the event of a 
slowdown or downturn in SSL’s business. In addition, the manufacturing and test facilities that SSL 
owns or leases under long-term agreements are fixed costs that cannot be adjusted quickly to 
account for significant variance in production requirements or economic conditions. 

The availability of facility space and qualified personnel may affect SSL’s ability to perform 
its contracts as efficiently as planned. 

In order to complete construction of all the satellites in backlog and to enable future growth, SSL has 
modified and expanded its manufacturing facilities to accommodate as many as nine to 13 satellite 
construction awards per year, depending on the complexity and timing of the specific satellites, and 
SSL can accommodate the integration and testing of 13 to 14 satellites at any given time in its Palo 
Alto facility. Due to scheduling requirements, however, SSL relies on outside suppliers for certain 
critical production and testing activities, such as thermal vacuum testing. It is possible that such 
outside suppliers will not be able to accommodate SSL’s scheduling requirements, which may cause 
SSL to incur additional costs or fail to meet contractual delivery deadlines. Further, SSL may not be 
able to hire or retain enough employees with the requisite skills and training and, accordingly, SSL 
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may not be able to perform its contracts as efficiently as planned or grow its business to the planned 
level. 

SSL’s ability to obtain certain satellite construction contracts depends, in part, on its ability 
to provide the customer with financing. 

In the past, SSL has provided partial financing to customers to enable it to win certain satellite 
construction contracts. The financing has typically been in the form of orbital receivables, vendor 
financing and/or direct investments in the satellite. If the Company is unable to provide financing to a 
customer of SSL, SSL could lose the satellite construction contract to a competitor that could provide 
financing.  

SSL relies on certain key suppliers whose failure or delayed performance could adversely 
affect the Company. 

To build satellites, SSL relies on suppliers, some of which are competitors, to provide SSL with 
certain component parts. The number of suppliers capable of providing these components is limited, 
and, in some cases, the supplier is a sole source, based upon the unique nature of the product or 
the customer requirement to procure components with proven flight heritage. These suppliers are 
not all large, well-capitalized companies, and to the extent they experience financial difficulties, their 
ability to timely deliver components that satisfy a customer’s contract requirements could be 
impaired. In the past, SSL’s performance under its construction contracts with its customers has 
been adversely affected because of a supplier’s failure or delayed performance. A failure by SSL to 
meet its contractual delivery requirements could give rise to liquidated damage payments by SSL or 
could cause a customer to terminate its construction contract with SSL for default. 

SSL faces risks in conducting business internationally and is subject to risks that may have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations. 

A substantial portion of SSL’s revenues is generated from customers outside of the United States. 
SSL could be harmed financially and operationally by changes in foreign regulations and 
telecommunications standards, tariffs or taxes and other trade barriers that may be imposed on its 
services or by political and economic instability in the countries in which it conducts business. Almost 
all of SSL’s contracts with foreign customers require payment in U.S. dollars, and customers in 
developing countries could have difficulty obtaining U.S. dollars to pay SSL due to currency 
exchange controls and other factors. Also, if SSL needs to pursue legal remedies against its foreign 
business partners or customers, it may be difficult for SSL to enforce its rights in a foreign 
jurisdiction. 

 
SSL sells certain of its communications satellites and other products to non-U.S. customers. SSL 
also procures certain key product components from non-U.S. vendors. International contracts are 
subject to numerous risks that may have a material adverse effect on SSL’s operating results, 
including: 

 
•  political and economic instability in foreign markets; 

 
•  restrictive trade policies of the U.S. government and foreign governments; 

 
•  inconsistent product regulation by foreign agencies or governments; 

 
•  imposition of product tariffs and burdens; 

 
•  the cost of complying with a variety of U.S. and international laws and regulations, including 

regulations relating to import-export control; 

 
•  the complexity and necessity of using non-U.S. representatives and consultants; 

 
•  inability to obtain required U.S. or foreign country export licenses; and 

 
•  foreign currency exposure.  
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SSL relies on patents, and infringement by SSL of third-party patents would increase its 
costs, and third parties may challenge its patents. 

SSL relies, in part, on patents and industry expertise to develop and maintain its competitive 
position. SSL’s patents include those relating to communications, station keeping, power control 
systems, antennae, filters and oscillators, phased arrays and thermal control as well as assembly 
and inspection technology. SSL’s patents that are currently in force expire between now and 2029. 
There is a risk that competitors could challenge or infringe SSL’s patents. It is also possible that SSL 
may infringe current or future third-party patents or third-party trade secrets. In the event of 
infringement, SSL could be required to pay royalties or damages and/or obtain a license from the 
patent holder, refund money to customers for components that are not useable or redesign its 
products to avoid infringement, all of which would increase SSL’s costs. SSL could also be subject to 
injunctions prohibiting it from using components or methods. SSL may also be required under the 
terms of its customer contracts to indemnify its customers for damages relating to infringement. 

 
For example, ViaSat, Inc. and ViaSat Communications, Inc. (formerly known as WildBlue 
Communications, Inc.) (collectively, “ViaSat”) have commenced a lawsuit in the United States 
District Court for the Southern District of California against SSL and SSL’s former parent company 
Loral Space & Communications Inc. (“Loral”) alleging, among other things, that SSL infringed certain 
ViaSat patents and that SSL breached non-disclosure obligations in certain contracts with ViaSat in 
connection with the manufacture of satellites by SSL for customers other than ViaSat. The complaint 
seeks, among other things, damages (including treble damages with respect to the patent 
infringement claims) in amounts to be determined at trial and to enjoin SSL from further infringement 
of the ViaSat patents and breach of contract. SSL believes that it has, and intends to vigorously 
pursue, meritorious defenses and counterclaims to ViaSat’s claims. There can be no assurance, 
however, that SSL’s defenses and counterclaims will be successful with respect to all or some of 
ViaSat’s claims. If SSL does not prevail and ViaSat’s patents are valid, SSL could be enjoined from 
using the technology underlying ViaSat’s patents and may be required to refrain from using such 
technology, to take a license from ViaSat under ViaSat’s patents or to design around ViaSat’s 
patents for existing or future customers.   

Under the terms of the Company’s purchase agreement with Loral for the acquisition of SSL, Loral 
will indemnify the Company for litigation costs and damages, subject to certain capped cost-sharing 
by SSL, and Loral will retain control of the defense of the lawsuit by ViaSat against SSL and Loral as 
well as SSL’s counterclaims against ViaSat in the lawsuit. Under the terms of the purchase 
agreement, following a change of control of Loral, the liability of Loral for litigation costs and 
damages is subject to an agreed cap.  

SSL is subject to U.S. and foreign laws and regulations, including U.S. export control and 
economic sanctions laws, which may result in delays, lost business and additional costs, and 
any changes in any of these laws and regulations may have a material and adverse effect on 
the Company’s business and results of operations. 

The satellite manufacturing industry is highly regulated due to the sensitive nature of satellite 
technology. It is possible that the laws and regulations governing SSL’s business and operations will 
change in the future. There may be a material adverse effect on SSL’s business and results of 
operations if SSL is required to alter its business operations to comply with such changes in law or if 
SSL’s ability to sell its products and services on a global basis is reduced or restricted due to 
increased U.S. or foreign government regulation. 

SSL is required by the International Traffic in Arms Regulations, or ITAR, administered by the U.S. 
State Department, to obtain licenses and enter into technical assistance agreements to export 
satellites and related equipment and to disclose technical data or provide defense services to foreign 
persons. In addition, if a satellite project involves countries, individuals or entities that are the subject 
of U.S. economic sanctions, which are referred to here as Sanctions Targets, or is intended to 
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provide services to Sanctions Targets, SSL’s participation in the project may be prohibited altogether 
or licenses or other approvals from the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control, 
or OFAC, may be required. The delayed receipt of or the failure to obtain the necessary U.S. 
government licenses, approvals and agreements may prohibit entry into or interrupt the completion 
of a satellite construction contract by SSL which could lead to a customer’s termination of a contract 
for default, monetary penalties and/or the loss of incentive payments.  

Some of SSL’s customers and potential customers, along with insurance underwriters and brokers, 
have asserted that U.S. export control laws and regulations governing disclosures to foreign persons 
excessively restrict their access to information about the satellite during construction and on-orbit. 
OFAC sanctions and requirements may also limit certain business opportunities or delay or restrict 
SSL’s ability to contract with potential foreign customers or operators. To the extent that SSL’s non-
U.S. competitors are not subject to these export control or economic sanctions laws and regulations, 
they may enjoy a competitive advantage with foreign customers, and it could become increasingly 
difficult for the U.S. satellite manufacturing industry, including SSL, to recapture this lost market 
share. Customers concerned over the possibility that the U.S. government may deny the export 
license necessary for SSL to deliver their purchased satellite to them, or the restrictions or delays 
imposed by the U.S. government licensing requirements, even where an export license is granted, 
may elect to choose a purportedly “ITAR-free” satellite offered by one of SSL’s European 
competitors over SSL’s satellite. SSL is further disadvantaged by the fact that a purportedly “ITAR-
free” satellite may be launched less expensively in China on the Chinese Long March rocket, a 
launch vehicle that, because of ITAR restrictions, is not available to SSL or other suppliers subject to 
ITAR restrictions. 
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Management Report 
 
 
The management of MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates Ltd. is responsible for the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements, management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) and other 
information included in the annual report. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards using the best estimates and 
judgments of management, where appropriate. Other financial information presented in this annual 
report is consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Management is also responsible for a system of internal controls over the financial reporting process 
which is designed to provide reasonable assurance that relevant and reliable financial information is 
produced. 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial 
reporting responsibilities and for approving the financial information included in the annual report. 
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors meets periodically with management and the 
Company’s internal and external auditors to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting 
process, auditing matters and financial reporting issues. The internal and external auditors have full 
access to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reviews the interim and annual consolidated 
financial statements and MD&A and recommends them to the Board of Directors for approval. In 
addition, the Audit Committee recommends to the Board of Directors the annual appointment of the 
external auditors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Daniel E. Friedmann    Anil Wirasekara 
President and     Executive Vice President and 
Chief Executive Officer    Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
Richmond, Canada 
February 27, 2013 
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KPMG LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street 
Vancouver BC V7Y 1K3 
Canada 

Telephone  (604) 691-3000 
Fax (604) 691-3031 
Internet www.kpmg.ca 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Shareholders of MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates Ltd. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of MacDonald, Dettwiler and 
Associates Ltd., which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2012 and 

December 31, 2011, the consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, change in 
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 

as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

consolidated financial position of MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates Ltd. as at December 31, 2012 and 
December 31, 2011, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

Chartered Accountants 
 
February 27, 2013 
Vancouver, Canada 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative  
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.  
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.  
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 

  Note 2012 2011 
 
Revenues  $ 875,717 $ 761,117 
Orbital income  4,212 - 
  
Total revenues 5 879,929 761,117 
 
Direct costs, selling, general and administration 6 679,054 579,903 
  200,875 181,214 
 
Depreciation and amortization  23,813 11,273 
Foreign exchange gain  (5,566) (4,963) 
Share-based compensation expense (recovery) 24(h) 29,302 (3,943) 
Fair value gain on equity forward contracts 24(e) (4,092) (2,682) 
Finance income 7 (3,835) (4,253) 
Finance expense 8 10,912 6,162 
Other items 9 17,163 - 

 
Earnings from continuing operations, before income taxes  133,178 179,620 
 
Income tax expense 28(a) 46,898 49,988 

 
Net earnings from continuing operations  86,280 129,632 
 
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of income taxes 32 - 30,132 

 
Net earnings  $ 86,280 $ 159,764 

 
Net earnings per common share: 23 

Basic: 
Continuing operations  $ 2.71 $ 3.31 
Discontinued operations - 0.77 
Net earnings 2.71 4.08 

Diluted: 
Continuing operations  2.71 3.31 
Discontinued operations  - 0.77 
Net earnings  2.71 4.08 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income  
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 

  2012 2011 

 
Net earnings $ 86,280 $ 159,764 
 
Other comprehensive income (loss): 

Foreign currency translation adjustment (8,889) (2,153) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment reclassified to earnings on 

disposition or liquidation of foreign operations (net of income tax 
expense of nil, respectively) - 36,347 

Net gain on hedge of net investment in foreign operations (net of 
income taxes of nil, respectively) 2,210 1,690 

Effective portion of changes in fair value of derivatives designated 
as cash flow hedges (net of income tax expense of $224 and 
income tax recovery of $611, respectively) 1,063 (1,310) 

Net change in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow 
hedges transferred to earnings (net of income tax recovery of 
$1,262 and $1,571, respectively) (3,381) (4,271) 

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets (net of 
income tax recovery of $265 and income tax expense of $304, 
respectively) (486) 94 

Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension plans and other post-
retirement benefit plans (net of income tax recovery of $998 and 
$2,679, respectively) (5,301) (6,784) 

 Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income taxes (14,784) 23,613 
 

 
Comprehensive income $ 71,496 $ 183,377 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)  
 
December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 

  Note  2012 2011 
 

Assets 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 11   $ 24,836 $ 254,831 
Trade and other receivables 12  251,828 119,516 
Financial assets, other 13(a), 14  50,864 39,359 
Construction contract assets 14  125,452 63,778 
Inventories   82,291 2,621 
Non-financial assets 15(a)  94,769 53,713 
Current tax assets   15,180 3,235 

  645,220 537,053 
Non-current assets: 

Orbital receivables 16  330,741 - 
Financial assets, other 13(a)  6,449 4,441 
Non-financial assets 15(a)  8,994 203 
Deferred tax assets 28(d)  13,082 10,477 
Property, plant and equipment 17  336,157 42,256 
Intangible assets  18(a)  329,682 13,390 
Goodwill 18(b)  644,433 178,472 

  1,669,538 249,239 
 

    $ 2,314,758 $ 786,292 

 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 
Current liabilities: 

Trade and other payables    $ 214,337 $ 87,098 
Current tax liabilities   34,063 17,044 
Financial liabilities, other  13(b), 14  20,074 16,497 
Provisions 19  4,568 26,772 
Employee benefits 20  101,468 59,263 
Non-financial liabilities 14, 15(b)  14,814 20,649 
Construction contract liabilities 14  427,216 144,977 
Current portion of long-term debt  21  48,207 1,834 

    864,747 374,134 
Non-current liabilities: 

Financial liabilities, other 13(b)  6,394 17,522 
Provisions  19  21,218 2,025 
Employee benefits 20  340,991 40,268 
Non-financial liabilities 15(b)  8,572 7,546 
Deferred tax liabilities 28(d)  7,323 3,549 
Long-term debt  21  799,453 103,849 

    2,048,698 548,893 
 

Shareholders’ equity: 
Share capital  22  213,222 210,505 
Contributed surplus   2,698 4,440 
Retained earnings   76,837 34,367 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (26,697) (11,913) 

  266,060 237,399 
 

    $ 2,314,758 $ 786,292 
 

Contingencies and commitments (note 29) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
Approved on behalf of the Board: 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Consolidated Statements of Change in Shareholders’ Equity  
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2012 
 
        Actuarial 
       Fair value losses 
       gains  on defined 
    Net gain on   (losses) on benefit Total  
     hedge of net Foreign Fair value  available- pension plans accumulated  
     investment currency gains (losses) for-sale and other other Total 
  Share Contributed Retained in foreign translation on cash flow financial post-retirement comprehensive shareholders’ 
  capital surplus earnings operations adjustment hedges assets  benefit plans loss equity 

 
Balance as at 

January 1, 
2012 $ 210,505 $ 4,440 $ 34,367 $ 1,690 $ (8,166) $ 4,276 $ 934 $ (10,647) $ (11,913) $ 237,399 

 
Common shares 

issued in 
conjunction with 
employee share 
purchase plan 2,717 - - - - - - - - 2,717 

Settlement of 
share-based 
compensation - (1,742) (2,427) - - - - - - (4,169) 

Dividends - - (41,383) - - - - - - (41,383) 
Comprehensive 

income (loss) - - 86,280 2,210 (8,889) (2,318) (486) (5,301) (14,784) 71,496 

 
Balance as at 

December 31, 
 2012 $ 213,222 $ 2,698 $ 76,837 $ 3,900 $ (17,055) $ 1,958 $ 448 $ (15,948) $ (26,697) $ 266,060 

 
 
Year ended December 31, 2011 
 
        Actuarial 
        losses 
       Fair value on defined 
    Net gain on   gains on benefit Total  
     hedge of net Foreign Fair value available- pension plans accumulated  
     investment currency gains (losses) for-sale and other other Total 
  Share Contributed Retained in foreign translation on cash flow financial post-retirement comprehensive shareholders’ 
  capital surplus earnings operations adjustment hedges assets  benefit plans income (loss) equity 

 
Balance as at 

January 1, 
2011 $ 266,811 $ 9,694 $ 361,569   $ - $ (42,360) $ 9,857 $ 840 $ (3,863) $ (35,526) $ 602,548 

 
Common shares 

issued on 
exercise of 
share options 2,828 (35) - - - - - - - 2,793 

Common shares 
issued in 
conjunction with 
employee share 
purchase plan 3,051 - - - - - - - - 3,051 

Settlement of 
share-based 
compensation - (5,219) (7,093) - - - - - - (12,312) 

Repurchase of 
common shares (62,185) - (438,715) - - - - - - (500,900)  

Dividends - - (41,158) - - - - - - (41,158) 
Comprehensive 

income (loss) - - 159,764 1,690 34,194 (5,581) 94 (6,784) 23,613 183,377 

 
Balance as at 

December 31, 
 2011 $ 210,505 $ 4,440 $ 34,367 $ 1,690 $ (8,166) $ 4,276 $ 934 $ (10,647) $ (11,913) $ 237,399 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 

  Note 2012 2011 
 
Cash flows provided by (used in): 

Operating activities: 
Earnings from continuing operations, before income taxes  $ 133,178 $ 179,620 
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash from operating activities: 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  17 13,839 7,246 
Amortization of intangible assets 18(a) 9,974 4,027 
Share-based compensation expense (recovery) 24(h) 29,302 (3,943) 
Fair value gain on equity forward contracts 24(e) (4,092) (2,682) 
Finance income  (3,835) (4,253) 
Finance expense  10,912 6,162 
Foreign exchange gain  (2,727) (14,616) 

 Loss on disposal of assets 9 1,709 - 
Income taxes paid  (18,017) (29,987) 
Income taxes recovered  5,416 1,164 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 31 (28,272) (182,875) 

 Cash provided by (used in) operating activities of 
continuing operations  147,387 (40,137) 

 
Investing activities: 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  17 (13,230) (26,602) 
Proceeds from government assistance related to property, 
 plant and equipment 27(b)(i) 7,200 - 
Purchase/development of intangible assets 18 (11,792) (1,726) 
Disposal of short-term investments  19,476 1,492 
Decrease in restricted cash  46,659 - 
Interest received on short-term investments and others  4,831 4,053 
Proceeds from disposal of assets 9 14,923 - 
Acquisition of Space Systems/Loral, net of cash acquired 10 (993,056) - 
Net proceeds from sale of Property Information business 32 - 748,782 

 Cash provided by (used in) investing activities of 
continuing operations  (924,989) 725,999 

 
Financing activities: 

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net of financing fees  850,181 - 
Repayment of long-term debt   (216,417) (102,389) 
Interest paid on long-term debt  (7,275) (6,702) 
Proceeds from issuance of common shares relating to 

share-based compensation plans 22 2,310 5,386 
Purchase of common shares for settlement of share-based 

compensation plans 24(c) (4,169) (12,312) 
Repurchase of common shares 22 - (500,900) 
Payment of dividends 22 (41,383) (41,158) 

 Cash provided by (used in) financing activities of  
continuing operations  583,247 (658,075) 

 
Cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in) continuing operations  (194,355) 27,787 
 
Cash and cash equivalents used in discontinued operations 32 (35,058) (6,992) 
 
Effect of foreign currency on cash and cash equivalents of 

continuing operations (582) 4,578 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  254,831 229,458 

 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 11 $ 24,836 $ 254,831 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 

 

 

1. General business description: 

MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates Ltd. (the “Company” or “MDA”), is a Canadian corporation 
with common shares listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”).  The Company’s head office 
is located at 13800 Commerce Parkway, Richmond, British Columbia, Canada.  MDA is a global 

communications and information company providing operational solutions to commercial and 
government organizations worldwide.  MDA’s business is focused on markets and customers with 
strong repeat business potential.  In addition the Company conducts a significant amount of 

advanced technology development. 
 

2. Basis of preparation: 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

(b) Basis of measurement: 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars and have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and liabilities including 
derivative financial instruments which are stated at fair value.   

(c) Operating cycle: 

The Company defines its operating cycle based on the duration of its contracts with 
customers and suppliers.  The Company enters into a significant number of contracts where 

the duration is more than twelve months and as a result, certain current assets and liabilities 
may have terms greater than twelve months. 

(d) Comparative figures: 

Certain immaterial amounts of the prior year related to trade accounts receivable, 
construction contract assets, and construction contract liabilities have been reclassified to 
conform with the presentation adopted in the current year. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 

 

 

2. Basis of preparation (continued): 

(e) Use of estimates and judgments: 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and 

the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses.  These estimates and 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various factors that management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results may differ from these 

estimates.  Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are 
revised and in any future periods affected.  The most notable judgments, estimates and 

assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities are in the areas of revenue recognition, the recoverability of 
investment tax credits and deferred tax assets, and the allocation of purchase consideration 

to the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations which 
are discussed in more detail in notes 3(d)(i), 3(g), 3(t), and 10, respectively.  Other areas that 
require the use of judgment in application of accounting policies and assumptions and 

estimates include fair valuation of financial instruments, hedge accounting, impairment of 
non-financial assets, provisions, pension and post-retirement benefit obligations, and share-
based compensation.  Additional information is included in the following notes. 

 

3. Significant accounting policies: 

(a) Basis of consolidation: 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all 
subsidiary entities which are controlled by the Company.  All intercompany balances and 

transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 

(b) Business combinations: 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.  The consideration 

for an acquisition is measured at the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
assumed and the equity interests issued at the acquisition date.  The excess of the 
consideration over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as 

goodwill.  Transaction costs that are incurred in connection with a business combination, 
other than costs associated with the issuance of debt or equity securities, are expensed as 
incurred.  On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, any non-controlling interest is measured 

either at fair value of the non-controlling interest or at the fair value of the proportionate share 
of the net assets acquired. 

Contingent consideration is measured at fair value on acquisition date and is included as part 

of the consideration transferred.  The fair value of the contingent consideration liability is re-
measured at each reporting date with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in 
earnings. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 

 

 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(c) Foreign currency: 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are presented in Canadian dollars. 

(i) Transactions in foreign currency: 

Each entity within the consolidated group records transactions using its functional 
currency, being the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates.  
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the respective functional currency of 

each entity using the foreign currency rates prevailing at the date of the transaction.  
Period end balances of monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency are translated 
to the respective functional currencies using period end foreign currency rates.  Foreign 

currency gains and losses arising from settlement of foreign currency transactions are 
recognized in earnings.  

(ii) Foreign operations translation: 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Canadian dollars at 
period end foreign currency rates.  Revenues and expenses of foreign operations are 
translated into Canadian dollars at average rates for the period.  Foreign currency 

translation gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income.  The 
relevant amount in cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment is reclassified into 
earnings upon disposition or partial disposition of a foreign operation. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from translation of intercompany receivables 
and payables between subsidiaries with differing functional currencies, the settlement of 
which is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future and which in 

substance is considered to form part of the net investment in the foreign operation, are 
recognized in other comprehensive income in the cumulative amount of foreign currency 
translation differences. 

(iii) Hedge of net investment in foreign operation: 

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from translation of a financial liability 
designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognized in other 

comprehensive income, to the extent that the hedge is effective.  To the extent that the 
hedge is ineffective, the gains and losses are recognized in earnings. When the hedged 
portion of a net investment is disposed of, the relevant amount accumulated in other 

comprehensive income is transferred to earnings as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 

 

 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(d) Revenue recognition: 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, net of 
discounts and after eliminating intercompany sales. 

Where revenue arrangements have separately identifiable components, the consideration 
received is allocated to each identifiable component and the applicable revenue recognition 
criteria are applied to each of the components.  

(i) Construction contracts: 

Revenue from construction contracts includes initial contract amounts, variations in contract 
work, claims, incentive payments and customer furnished materials.  When the outcome of 

a construction contract can be measured reliably, revenue is recognized using the 
percentage of completion method based on contract costs incurred relative to total 
estimated contract costs or units delivered relative to total units.  Construction contracts 

may be accounted for separately, segmented into components which are accounted for 
separately or combined with other contracts to form a single contract for revenue and 
expense recognition purposes.  When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be 

measured reliably, contract costs incurred are expensed immediately and revenue is 
recognized only to the extent that costs are considered likely to be recoverable.  When it is 
probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is 

recognized immediately in the statement of earnings. 

Satellite construction contracts may include performance incentives whereby a payment for 
a portion of the purchase price (typically capped at 10%) is contingent upon in-orbit 

performance of the satellite.  These performance incentives are structured in two forms.  As 
a warranty payback, the customer pays the entire amount of the performance incentive 
during the period of the satellite construction and such incentives are subject to refund if 

satellite performance does not achieve certain predefined operating specifications.  As an 
orbital receivable, the customer makes payment of performance incentives over the in-orbit 
life of the satellite.  Performance incentives, whether warranty payback or orbital 

receivables, are included in revenue during the construction period based on amounts 
expected to be received.  Orbital receivables are discounted to present value as of the 
launch date and the unwinding of the discount during the in-orbit period is recorded as 

orbital income.   
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 

 

 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(d) Revenue recognition (continued): 

(i) Construction contracts (continued): 

The percentage of completion method places considerable importance on accurate 

estimates of the extent of progress towards completion.  During the contractual period, 
revenue and costs may be impacted by estimates for total contract costs, remaining costs 
to completion, total contract revenues, contract risks and other judgments. Management 

continually reviews such estimates and adjusts them as necessary.  The inception to date 
impact of changes in estimates of contract revenues or costs to complete is recognized in 
the period that the change is determined by management. 

When costs incurred plus recognized profit on a construction contract exceeds progress 
billings, the net amount is recorded as a construction contract asset.  Conversely, when 
progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognized profit, the net amount is recorded 

as a construction contract liability.  

Construction contracts may have termination and default clauses.  If a contract is 
terminated for convenience by a customer or due to a customer’s default, the company 

may be entitled to costs incurred plus a reasonable profit.   

(ii) Services: 

Revenue from service contracts is recognized by reference to the stage of completion 

based on services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed or 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract if revenue is determined to be earned 
evenly.  Revenue from the sale of certain services that include the supply of processed 

data or data products is recognized upon delivery. 

(e) Earnings per common share: 

Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted 

average number of common shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted earnings per 
common share is determined by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares, which includes options 

granted to employees.  The average market value of the Company’s shares for purposes of 
calculating the dilutive effect of share options was based on quoted market prices for the 
period during which the options were outstanding. 

(f) Research and development: 

Research costs are expensed in the period incurred.  Development costs are capitalized and 
recorded as an intangible asset if technical feasibility has been established and the Company 

expects to generate probable future economic benefits from the asset created on completion 
of development.  The costs capitalized include materials, direct labour, directly attributable 
overhead expenditures and borrowing costs on qualifying assets.  Other development costs 

are expensed in the period incurred. 
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MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 

 

 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(g) Government assistance and investment tax credits: 

Government assistance includes government grants, below-market rate of interest loans and 
investment tax credits and is recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the 

Company will comply with the relevant conditions and that the government assistance will be 
received.  

Government assistance that meets the recognition criteria and that relates to current 

expenses is recorded as a reduction of the related expenses in direct costs, selling, general 
and administration.  Government assistance that meets the recognition criteria and that 
relates to the acquisition of an asset is recorded as a reduction of the cost of the related 

asset.  If government assistance becomes repayable, the inception to date impact of 
assistance previously recognized in earnings is reversed immediately in the period that the 
assistance becomes repayable. 

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a 
government grant, measured as the difference between proceeds received and the fair value 
of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates. 

Investment tax credits, whether or not recognized in the financial statements, may be carried 
forward to reduce future Canadian federal and provincial income taxes payable.  The 
Company applies judgment when determining whether the reasonable assurance threshold 

has been met to recognize investment tax credits in the financial statements.  The Company 
must interpret eligibility requirements in accordance with Canadian income tax laws and must 
assess whether future taxable income will be available against which the investment tax 

credits can be utilized.  Any changes in these interpretations and assessments could have an 
impact on the amount and timing of investment tax credits recognized in the financial 
statements. 

(h) Finance income and finance expense: 

Finance income is comprised of interest income and gains on disposals of available-for-sale 
assets.  Interest income is recognized as it accrues in earnings, using the effective interest 

method. 

Finance expense is comprised of borrowing cost on debt, imputed interest on liabilities, the 
cost of forward points from foreign exchange forward contracts and losses on disposal of 

available-for-sale assets.  All finance costs are recognized in earnings using the effective 
interest method.  Finance costs exclude borrowing costs attributable to the construction of 
qualifying assets, which are assets that take a substantial period of time to prepare for their 

intended use.  Borrowing costs associated with qualifying assets are added to the cost of the 
related assets. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Financial instruments: 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and are 
subsequently re-measured based on their classification as described below.  Transaction 

costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of a financial asset or liability, 
other than financial assets and liabilities classified as at fair value through earnings, are 
added or deducted from the fair value of the respective financial asset or financial liability on 

initial recognition.  Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of a 
financial asset or financial liability classified as at fair value through earnings are recognized 
immediately in earnings. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

(i) Financial assets: 

Financial assets are classified into the following categories: at fair value through 
earnings, loans and receivables, and available for sale.  The classification depends on 

the nature and purpose of the financial asset and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition. 

 Financial assets at fair value through earnings 

Financial assets are classified as at fair value through earnings when held for trading 
or if designated into this category. Financial assets classified as financial assets at 
fair value through earnings include derivative financial instruments that are not 

included in a qualifying hedging relationship. Financial assets classified as financial 
assets as at fair value through earnings are measured at fair value with any gains or 
losses arising on re-measurement recognized in earnings.  

 Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, and non-
derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 

an active market including trade and other receivables, orbital receivables, and notes 
receivable.  Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value and are 
subsequently re-measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less 

any impairment losses. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Financial instruments (continued): 

(i) Financial assets (continued): 

 Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either 
designated in this category or not classified into any of the other categories and 
include short-term and long-term investments.  Available-for-sale financial assets are 

measured at fair value with any gains or losses on re-measurement recognized in 
other comprehensive income until the financial asset is derecognized or is 
determined to be permanently impaired, at which time the gain or loss accumulated 

in equity is transferred to earnings. 

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets 
have expired or have been transferred, and the Company has transferred substantially all 

of the risks and rewards of ownership. 

(ii) Financial liabilities: 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through earnings 

or as other financial liabilities. 

 Financial liabilities at fair value through earnings 

Financial liabilities are classified at fair value through earnings when held for trading 

or if designated into this category.  Financial liabilities classified as financial liabilities 
at fair value through earnings include derivative financial instruments that are not 
included in a qualifying hedging relationship and are measured at fair value with any 

gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognized in earnings. 

 Other financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities include trade and other payables, non-trade payables, 

contingent liabilities, long-term debt and are initially measured at fair value and are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Financial instruments (continued): 

(iii) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities: 

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage risk associated with foreign 

currency rates, interest rates, and share price of the Company.  Derivative financial 
instruments are measured at fair value.  When derivative financial instruments are 
designated in a qualifying hedging relationship and hedge accounting is applied, the 

effectiveness of the hedges is measured at the end of each reporting period and the 
effective portion of changes in fair value is recognized in other comprehensive income and 
any ineffective portion is recognized immediately in earnings.  For foreign exchange 

forward contracts used to manage risk associated with foreign currency rates, amounts 
are transferred from accumulated other comprehensive income to revenue or direct 
costs, selling, general and administration when the underlying transaction affects 

earnings.  For interest rate swaps used to manage risk associated with interest rates, 
amounts are transferred from accumulated other comprehensive income to finance 
expense when the underlying transaction affects earnings.  The Company has not 

currently designated any equity forward contracts used to manage risk associated with 
the share price of the Company in a qualifying hedging relationship.  For derivative 
financial instruments not in a qualifying hedging relationship, changes in fair value are 

recognized immediately in earnings as a foreign exchange gain or loss, finance expense, 
or fair value gain or loss on equity forward contracts, as appropriate. 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 

terminated, exercised or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.  At that time, if the 
forecasted transaction within a cash flow hedge remains probable, any cumulative gain or 
loss on the hedging instrument recognized in other comprehensive income is retained in 

equity until the forecasted transaction occurs.  If the forecasted transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income is transferred to earnings. 

(iv) Embedded derivatives: 

The Company has embedded foreign currency derivatives in certain customer and supplier 
contracts.  These derivatives are accounted for as separate instruments and are measured 

at fair value at each reporting date.  Changes in fair value are recognized in earnings as 
foreign exchange gains or losses. 

(j) Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of cash on hand, cash balances with banks and 
similar institutions and term deposits redeemable within three months or less from date of 
acquisition with banks and similar institutions. 

  

57



MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 

 

 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(k) Investments: 

(i) Short-term investments: 

Short-term investments consist of mutual funds and financial instruments purchased with a 

term to maturity at inception between three months and one year.   

(ii) Long-term investments: 

Long-term investments consist of publicly traded investments in which the Company does 

not have significant influence. 

(l) Inventories: 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value and consist primarily of 

parts and subassemblies used in the manufacturing of satellites.  The cost of inventories is 
determined on a first-in-first-out basis or weighted average cost basis, depending on the 
nature of the inventory.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 

course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expense.  

(m) Property, plant and equipment: 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses.  Borrowing costs are capitalized on the qualifying assets that 
take a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended use.  When the costs of certain 
components of an item of property, plant and equipment are significant in relation to the total 

cost of the item and the components have different useful lives, they are accounted for and 
depreciated separately.  Depreciation expense is recognized in earnings on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful life of the related asset to its residual value. Land is not 

depreciated.     

The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 
  Estimated useful life 
 
Land improvements 20 years 
Buildings 10 to 45 years 
Leasehold improvements (lesser of useful life or term of lease)  3 to 11 years 
Equipment: 

Test and other equipment 3 to 10 years 
 Vehicles 5 years 

Thermal vacuum 21 to 32 years 
Furniture and fixtures 3 to 10 years 
Computer hardware 3 to 8 years  
 

 

The Company reviews the estimated useful life and the depreciation method annually. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(n) Leased assets: 

Leased assets for which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases.  Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is 
measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments.  The asset is depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or its 
estimated useful life.  All other leases are considered operating leases and the payments, 
including lease incentives, are recognized in earnings on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease. 

(o) Intangible assets and goodwill: 

(i) Intangible assets: 

Intangible assets with finite lives consist of acquired and internally developed 
technologies and software, licenses, customer relationships, and trade names. Intangible 
assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives and are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 
impairment losses.  Cost for intangible assets acquired in a business combination 
represents the fair value of the asset at the time of the acquisition.  Intangible assets with 
finite lives are currently amortized over the following periods: 
 
   Estimated useful life 
 
Technologies 9 years 
Software 3 to 8 years  
Trade names 20 years 
Licenses 7 years 
Customer relationships 10 to 21 years 
 

 

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company did not have any indefinite life intangible 
assets relating to its continuing operations other than goodwill. 

(ii) Goodwill: 

Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment annually or whenever there is an 
indication of impairment.  Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment 

losses. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(p) Impairment: 

(i) Financial assets: 

Financial assets not carried at fair value through earnings are assessed for impairment at 

each reporting date.  A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a 
loss event which negatively affected the estimated future cash flows has occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset.  For financial assets measured at amortized cost, the 

impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of 
the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.  If an 
impairment has occurred, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced, with the amount of 

the loss recognized in earnings.  A permanent impairment loss for an available-for-sale 
investment is recognized by transferring the cumulative loss previously recognized in 
other comprehensive income to earnings.   

(ii) Non-financial assets: 

Goodwill and non-financial assets are tested for impairment annually, or whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset's carrying amount may be less than 

its recoverable amount. Management uses judgment to estimate the inputs to these 
assessments and any changes to these inputs could have a material impact on the 
impairment calculation. 

For impairment testing, non-financial assets that do not generate independent cash flows 
are grouped together into a cash-generating unit ("CGU"), which represent the level at 
which largely independent cash flows are generated.  Goodwill is allocated to groups of 

CGUs based on the level at which it is monitored for internal reporting purposes. 

An impairment loss is recognized in earnings to the extent that the carrying value of an 
asset, CGU or group of CGUs exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.  The 

recoverable amount of an asset, CGU or group of CGUs is the greater of its value in use 
and its fair value less cost to sell.  Value in use is calculated as the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows discounted at appropriate discount rates. 

An impairment loss relating to a specific asset reduces the carrying value of the asset.  
An impairment loss relating to a CGU or group of CGUs reduces the carrying value of the 
goodwill allocated to the CGU or group of CGUs, then reduces the carrying value of the 

other assets of the CGU or group of CGUs on a pro-rata basis. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.  A previously recognized 
impairment loss related to other non-financial assets is assessed at each reporting date 

for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss 
related to other non-financial assets is reversed if there is a subsequent increase in 
recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's 

carrying value does not exceed the carrying value that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(q) Provisions:  

Provisions are recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 

resources will be required to settle the obligation.  Provisions are determined by discounting 
expected future cash outflows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. Management uses judgment to 

estimate the amount, timing and probability of the liability based on facts known at the 
reporting date.  The unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance cost. 

 (i) Decommissioning liabilities: 

A provision for decommissioning liabilities is recognized at the time of asset acquisition.  
Decommissioning liabilities are added to the carrying value of the related asset and are 
depreciated over the asset’s estimated useful life. 

(ii) Warranty and after-sale service costs: 

A provision for warranty and after-sale service costs are recognized when the underlying 
product or service is sold and when the recognition criteria described above have been 

met.  Warranty and after-sale service provisions are based on management’s best estimate 
of the expected obligation using historical warranty data and experience.  Warranty and 
after-sale service provisions related to products and services delivered under construction 

contracts are included in the estimated total costs to complete when applying the 
percentage of completion method of revenue recognition. 

(iii) Others: 

Other provisions relate to onerous contracts and restructuring costs. 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the unavoidable costs of meeting the 
obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from 

the contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected 
cost of terminating the contracts and the expected net cost of continuing with the contracts. 

A provision for restructuring costs is recognized when the Company has approved a 

detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has commenced or has 
been announced publicly.  Future operating losses are excluded from the provision. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(r) Employee benefits: 

(i) Defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement benefit plans: 

The Company maintains defined benefit plans for some of its employees.  The 
Company’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for 
each plan by using the projected unit credit method, which takes into account the 
expected salary increases as the basis for future benefit increases for the pension plans. 
The calculations are performed by a qualified actuary. Any unrecognized past service 
costs and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted in the determination of the net 
obligation.  The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on high quality corporate 
bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Company’s obligations 
and that are denominated in the same currency in which the benefits are expected to be 
paid. Actuarial assumptions for discount rates, expected salary increases and the 
projected age of employees upon retirement reflect historical experience and the 
Company’s assessment of future expectations.  When the calculation results in a benefit 
to the Company, the recognized asset is limited to the total of any unrecognized past 
service costs and the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any 
future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. In order to 
calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum 
funding requirements that apply to any plan in the Company.  An economic benefit is 
available to the Company if it is realizable during the life of the plan, or on settlement of 
the plan liabilities. 

Past service costs are recognized as an expense on a straight line basis over the 
average period until the benefits become vested.  If the benefits have already vested, 
immediately following the introduction of, or changes to, a defined benefit plan, past 
service costs are recognized in earnings immediately. 

The Company recognizes all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans 
immediately in other comprehensive income. 

A plan curtailment will result if the Company has demonstrably committed to a significant 
reduction in the expected future service of active employees or a significant element of 
future service by active employees no longer qualifies for benefits.  A curtailment is 
recognized when the event giving rise to the curtailment occurs. 

(ii) Termination benefits: 

Termination benefits are expensed when the Company has demonstrably committed, 
without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate 
employment before the normal retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a 
result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.  Termination benefits for 
voluntary redundancies are expensed if the Company has made an offer of voluntary 
redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted and the number of acceptances 
can be estimated reliably. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(s) Share-based compensation plans: 

The Company maintains a number of share-based compensation plans for certain employees 
and directors, the majority of which are cash-settled share appreciation rights as described in 

note 24.  Share-based compensation plans are measured at fair value using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model and the fair value is expensed on a straight-line basis over the 
vesting period.  Management uses judgment to determine the inputs to the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model including the expected plan lives, underlying share price volatility and 
forfeiture rates.  Volatility is estimated by considering the Company’s historic share price 
volatility over similar periods to the expected life of the awards under consideration.  Changes 

in these assumptions will impact the calculation of fair value and the amount of compensation 
expense recognized in earnings. 

For cash-settled plans, the fair value is recognized as a liability in the consolidated balance 

sheet and is re-measured and charged to earnings at each reporting date until the award is 
settled.  For equity-settled plans, the expense is based on grant date fair value including the 
impact of estimated forfeitures, and is recorded as an increase in equity.   

(t) Income taxes: 

Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax 
are recognized into earnings except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or 

items recognized directly in other comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the 
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 

adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 

purposes.  Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 
affects neither accounting nor taxable earnings, and differences relating to investments in 

subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable 
temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.  Deferred tax is measured 

at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 
based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset 

current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 
authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be 

realized simultaneously. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(t) Income taxes (continued): 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible 
temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 

available against which they can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realized. 

(u) Discontinued operations: 

Discontinued operations are reported when a component of the Company, representing a 
separate major line of business or geographical area of operations with clearly 

distinguishable cash flows, has been disposed of or is held for sale.  Classification as a 
discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be 
classified as held for sale, if earlier.  Discontinued operations are reported as a separate 

element of net earnings on the consolidated statement of earnings for both the current and 
comparative periods.  When a disposal group is classified as held for sale, assets and 
liabilities are aggregated and presented as separate line items, respectively, on the 

consolidated balance sheet.  Comparative periods are not restated on the balance sheet.  
Assets held for sale are not depreciated and are measured at the lower of carrying value and 
fair value less costs to sell. 

 

4. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted: 

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments  

In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments, which is the first step in its 
project to replace IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 

establishes the measurement and classification of financial assets.  Under IFRS 9, financial 
assets are measured either at fair value through earnings or at amortized cost if certain 
conditions are met.  The effective date of this standard is January 1, 2015, but early adoption is 

permitted.  The Company is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 9 on its financial statements 
and expects to apply the standard on January 1, 2015. 

IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements.  The objective of 
IFRS 10 is to establish principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial 
statements when an entity controls one or more other entities.  The effective date of this standard 

is January 1, 2013, but early adoption is permitted.  The Company expects to apply this standard 
to its financial statements beginning on January 1, 2013.  The adoption of IFRS 10 is not 
expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
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4. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued): 

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements.  The objective of IFRS 11 is to 
establish principles for financial reporting by entities that have an interest in arrangements that 

are controlled jointly.  The effective date of this standard is January 1, 2013, but early adoption is 
permitted.  The Company expects to apply this standard to its financial statements beginning on 
January 1, 2013.  The adoption of IFRS 11 is not expected to have a significant impact on the 

Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 12 - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 12 - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities.  The objective of 

IFRS 12 is to require the disclosure of information that enables users of financial statements to 
evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, its interests in other entities and the effects of 
those interests on its financial position, financial performance and cash flows.  The effective date 

of this standard is January 1, 2013, but early adoption is permitted.  The Company expects to 
apply this standard to its financial statements beginning on January 1, 2013.  The adoption of 
IFRS 12 is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 

statements. 

IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement.  The objective of IFRS 13 is to 

define fair value, set out in a single IFRS the framework for measuring fair value, and establish 
disclosure requirements regarding fair value measurements.  The effective date of this standard 
is January 1, 2013, but early adoption is permitted.  The Company expects to apply this standard 

to its financial statements beginning on January 1, 2013.  The adoption of IFRS 13 is not 
expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

IAS 19 - Employee Benefits 

In June 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits.  Included in the 
amendments to IAS 19 are changes in the recognition of actuarial gains and losses, changes to 
the recognition and measurement of defined benefit pension expense, and enhancements to 

disclosures about defined benefit plans.  The effective date of the amended version of this 
standard is January 1, 2013, but early adoption is permitted.  The Company expects to apply this 
standard to its financial statements beginning on January 1, 2013.  It is expected that the 

amendments will have an impact on the amount of expense relating to pension and other post-
retirement benefits recognized in the statement of earnings and the amount of actuarial gains and 
losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income. However, the Company is not able at 

this time to estimate reasonably the impact that the amendments will have on the financial 
statements. 
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4. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued): 

IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements 

In June 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements.  The 
amendments to IAS 1 include a requirement for entities to group items in other comprehensive 

income based on whether they will or will not be classified to the statement of earnings in the 
future.  The effective date of this standard is January 1, 2013, but early adoption is permitted.  
The Company expects to apply this standard to its financial statements beginning on January 1, 

2013.  The adoption of these amendments to IAS 1 is not expected to have a significant impact 
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation 

In December 2011, the IASB issued Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities, an amendment to 
IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation.  The objective of this amendment to IAS 32 is to 
clarify when an entity has a right to offset financial assets and liabilities.  The effective date of this 

standard is January 1, 2014, but early adoption is permitted.  The Company expects to apply this 
standard to its financial statements beginning on January 1, 2014.  The Company is currently 
evaluating the impact of the amendment to IAS 32 on its financial statements. 

IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

In December 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures.  
The objective of this amendment to IFRS 7 is to enhance disclosures about offsetting of financial 

assets and financial liabilities.  The effective date of this standard is January 1, 2013, but early 
adoption is permitted.  The Company expects to apply this standard to its financial statements 
beginning on January 1, 2013.  The adoption of IFRS 7 is not expected to have a significant 

impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

5. Revenue and segmented information: 

The Company is organized into market sectors based on its products and services. With the 
acquisition of Space Systems/Loral (note 10), the Company was re-organized from one 

reportable operating segment into two reportable operating segments as follows: 

(a) Communications:  In the Communications segment, the Company manufactures and 
integrates satellites, satellite sub-systems and advanced antennas for commercial and 

government customers worldwide. The Company’s solutions meet a broad range of customer 
requirements for broadband internet service to the home, mobile video and internet service, 
broadcast feeds for television and radio distribution, phone service, civil and defence 

communications, direct-to-home television broadcast, satellite radio, telecommunications 
backhaul and trunking, weather and environmental monitoring and air traffic control. In 
addition, the Company produces spacecraft subsystems and integrates government and 

other add-on missions on commercial satellites. 
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5. Revenue and segmented information (continued): 

(b) The Surveillance and Intelligence:  In the Surveillance and Intelligence segment, the 
Company provides ground-based and space-based information solutions that support the 
operational needs of government, both military and civilian, and commercial customers 

worldwide.  The Company’s information solutions include Earth observation ground systems, 
defence information systems, airborne surveillance systems, transportation management 
systems, geospatial services, space-based platforms for Earth observation and advanced 

solutions for space exploration missions, as well as various mission sub-systems and support 
services. 

The Company measures the performance of each segment based on revenue and segmented 

profits, which is equal to revenue less direct costs, selling, general and administration, 
depreciation and amortization. Certain corporate expenses, foreign exchange gains and losses, 
share-based compensation expense or recovery, fair value gains and losses on equity forward 

contracts, finance income and expense, and income tax expense are managed on a total 
company basis and are not reflected in segmented results. 

The following table summarizes the operating performance of the reporting segments: 
 
    Surveillance Inter-segment  
Year ended December 31, 2012 Communications and Intelligence eliminations Total 

 
External revenue $ 386,584 $ 493,345 $ - $ 879,929 
Internal revenue 22,704 2,749 (25,453) - 
  409,288 496,094 (25,453) 879,929 
 
Direct costs, selling, general and administration 332,211 359,627 (25,453) 666,385 
Depreciation and amortization 15,292 8,521 - 23,813 
Segment profits 61,785 127,946 - 189,731 
 

Corporate expenses    (12,669) 
Foreign exchange gain    5,566 
Share-based compensation expense    (29,302) 
Fair value gain on equity forward contracts    4,092 
Finance income    3,835 
Finance expense    (10,912) 
Other items    (17,163) 

     (56,553) 
 
Earnings before income taxes    133,178 
 
Income tax expense    46,898 

 
Net earnings from continuing operations    $ 86,280 
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5. Revenue and segmented information (continued): 
 
    Surveillance Inter-segment  
Year ended December 31, 2011 Communications and Intelligence eliminations Total 

 
External revenue $ 237,693 $ 523,424 $ - $ 761,117 
Internal revenue 25,790 2,809 (28,599) - 
  263,483 526,233 (28,599) 761,117 
 
Direct costs, selling, general and administration 213,853 381,251 (28,599) 566,505 
Depreciation and amortization 2,581 8,692 - 11,273 
Segment profits 47,049 136,290 - 183,339 
 

Corporate expenses    (13,398) 
Foreign exchange gain    4,963 
Share-based compensation recovery    3,943 
Fair value gain on equity forward contracts    2,682 
Finance income    4,253 
Finance expense    (6,162) 

     (3,719) 
 
Earnings before income taxes    179,620 
 
Income tax expense    49,988 

 
Net earnings from continuing operations    $ 129,632 

 

The Company’s primary sources of revenue from continuing operations are as follows: 
 
   For the year ended 
   December 31,  
  2012 2011 

 
Construction contracts $ 648,587 $ 529,515 
Services 231,342 231,602 
 
  $ 879,929 $ 761,117 
 

The aggregate amount of revenue recognized to date less losses recognized to date (or from the 
date of acquisition for Space Systems/Loral, LLC) for construction contracts in progress at 
December 31, 2012 was $1,951,978,000 (December 31, 2011 - $1,771,137,000).  Advance 

payments received for construction contracts in progress at December 31, 2012 were 
$180,023,000 (December 31, 2011 - $133,262,000).  Retentions in connection with construction 
contracts at December 31, 2012 were $67,538,000 (December 31, 2011 - $26,457,000). 
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5. Revenue and segmented information (continued): 

The approximate revenue based on geographic location of customers is as follows: 
 
   For the year ended 
   December 31,  
  2012 2011 

 
Revenue:  

United States $ 256,614 $ 186,024 
Canada 224,025 247,888 
Europe  203,029  235,379 
Australia 101,033 61,421 
Asia 67,332 21,153 
Other 27,896 9,252 

 
  $ 879,929 $ 761,117 
 

Revenue from significant customers is as follows: 
 
   For the year ended 
   December 31,  
  2012 2011 

 
Canadian Federal Government and agencies $ 189,259 $ 217,133 
U.S. Federal Government and agencies 126,151 110,848 
Radio Research and Development Institute 47,407 133,017 
 

 

The Company’s non-current non-financial assets, property, plant and equipment, intangible 

assets and goodwill are geographically located as follows: 
 

   December 31,  December 31, 
   2012 2011 

 
United States   $ 1,164,139 $ 89,893 
Canada  154,369 143,691 
Europe  758 737 
 
    $ 1,319,266 $ 234,321 
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6. Operating costs: 
 
   For the year ended  

  December 31,   
  2012 2011 

 
Employee salaries and benefits $ 288,473 $ 231,644 
Costs related to defined benefit plans 4,100 2,290 
Subcontractor costs relating to construction and service 

contracts  246,823  238,553 
Materials, equipment, professional fees, travel and other  139,658  107,416 

 
Direct costs, selling, general and administration 679,054 579,903 

Depreciation and amortization  23,813  11,273 
Share-based compensation expense (recovery) 29,302 (3,943) 
Business acquisition costs 15,454 - 

 
 $ 747,623 $ 587,233 
 

7. Finance income: 
 
   For the year ended  

  December 31,   
  2012 2011 

 
Finance income: 

Interest income $ 2,019 $ 4,253 
Gain on disposal of short-term investments 1,816 - 

 
  $ 3,835 $ 4,253 
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8. Finance expense: 
 
   For the year ended 
   December 31,  
  2012 2011 

 
Finance expense: 

Interest on long-term debt $ 12,054 $ 6,072 
Capitalization of borrowing costs (76) - 
Interest on forward points (84) 846 
Imputed interest and other (982) (756) 

 
  $ 10,912 $ 6,162 
 

9. Other items: 

The components of other items are as follows: 

 
   For the year ended 
   December 31,  
  2012 2011 

 
Business acquisition costs $ 15,454 $ - 
Loss on disposal of assets 1,709 - 

 
  $ 17,163 $ - 
 

Business acquisition costs include legal, tax, consulting and other professional fees that were 
related to the acquisition as described in note 10. 

On December 31, 2012, the Company completed the sale of the net assets of one of its operating 
units and recognized a loss on disposition of $1,709,000. 

 

10. Business combination: 

On November 2, 2012, the Company acquired 100% equity interests in Space Systems/Loral, 

LLC and Space Systems/Loral Land, LLC (collectively “SSL”) from Loral Space & 
Communications Inc. (“Loral”) for cash consideration of U.S.$774,000,000 and a three-year note 
payable of U.S.$101,000,000.  Headquartered in Palo Alto, California, SSL is a global market 

leading provider of commercial communications satellites, serving a worldwide customer base. 
The acquisition transforms MDA into a major player in commercial communications and provides 
the Company with critical mass in the U.S. market. In addition to the purchase price 

consideration, the Company paid U.S.$193,658,000 to Loral under a lockbox completion 
arrangement to acquire restricted cash of U.S.$90,704,000, to fund working capital adjustments 
and to settle certain pre-existing intercompany liabilities between SSL and Loral. The Company 

also paid U.S.$44,194,000 to SSL to fund the repayment and discharge of SSL’s credit facility 
and U.S.$4,248,000 to cash collateralize certain existing letters of credit.    

71



MACDONALD, DETTWILER AND ASSOCIATES LTD. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 

 

 

10. Business combination (continued): 

In the period November 3, 2012 to December 31, 2012, SSL contributed revenue of 
$194,418,000 and net earnings of $14,994,000.  If the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 
2012, management estimates that consolidated revenue would have been $1,835,149,000 and 

consolidated net earnings would have been $73,421,000.  In determining these amounts, 
management has assumed that the fair value adjustments, determined provisionally, that arose 
on the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on January 

1, 2012. 

The following table summarizes the fair value of the consideration transferred and the preliminary 
estimated fair values of the major classes of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the 

acquisition date. The estimated fair values of certain assets acquired and liabilities assumed have 
been determined with the assistance of third-party valuation specialists.  Certain of these 
estimates of fair value, most notably, definite life intangible assets, goodwill, contingent liabilities, 

and provisions are preliminary and are subject to further adjustments. 
 
   U.S.$ Canadian$ 

 
Cash $ 1,005,352 $ 1,001,804 
Note payable to Loral 101,000 100,636 

 
Purchase consideration 1,106,352 1,102,440 
 
Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,780 $ 8,748 
Trade and other receivables 199,684 198,965 
Orbital receivables 341,121 339,893 
Restricted cash 90,748 90,421 
Construction contract assets 41,461 41,312 
Inventories 79,242 78,957 
Non-financial assets 56,053 55,851 
Property, plant and equipment 301,814 300,727 
Definite life intangible assets 318,717 317,570 

  1,437,620 1,432,444 
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10. Business combination (continued): 
 
   U.S.$ Canadian$ 

 
Liabilities 

Trade and other payables $ (99,739) $ (99,380) 
Financial liabilities, other (19,955) (19,883) 
Provisions (23,469) (23,385) 
Employee benefits (356,210) (354,928) 
Non-financial liabilities (2,450) (2,441) 
Construction contract liabilities (299,824) (298,745) 
Long-term debt (1,170) (1,166) 

  (802,817) (799,928) 
 
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired 634,803 632,516 

 
Goodwill $ 471,549 $ 469,924 
 

Trade and other receivables comprise gross amounts due of $199,188,000, of which $223,000 

was estimated to be uncollectable at the acquisition date. Intangible assets have been 
determined on a provisional basis and relate primarily to technologies, trade names, software, 
and in-process development. 

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the human capital of SSL’s workforce, market presence and 
the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating SSL with the Company’s existing 
capabilities. Goodwill of $243,038,000 is deductible for income tax purposes. 

The Company incurred acquisition related costs of $15,454,000 relating to legal, tax, consulting 
and other professional fees which have been expensed as incurred. 

 

11. Cash and cash equivalents: 
 

   December 31,  December 31, 
   2012 2011 

 
Cash at bank and on hand   $ 24,836 $ 16,496 
Cash equivalents  - 238,335 

 
    $ 24,836 $ 254,831 
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12. Trade and other receivables: 
 
   December 31,  December 31, 
   2012 2011 

 
Trade accounts receivable   $ 215,936 $ 97,991 
Orbital receivables, current portion    13,836  - 
Other    22,056  21,525 

 
    $ 251,828 $ 119,516 
 

13. Financial assets and liabilities, other: 

(a) Financial assets, other 
 

   December 31,  December 31, 
   2012 2011 

 
Restricted cash   $ 43,329 $ - 
Short-term investments    5,740  26,646 
Notes receivable    1,199  1,367 
Investments in equity securities  - 135 
Derivative financial instruments  7,045 15,652 
  57,313 43,800 
 
Current portion  (50,864) (39,359) 

 
    $ 6,449 $ 4,441 
 

(b) Financial liabilities, other: 
 

   December 31,  December 31, 
   2012 2011 

 
Non-trade payables   $ 13,587 $ 15,362 
Contingent liabilities    7,024  2,758 
Derivative financial instruments  5,760 15,373 
Other  97 526 
  26,468 34,019 
 
Current portion  (20,074) (16,497) 
 
    $ 6,394 $ 17,522 
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14. Maturities of certain current assets and liabilities: 

The Company’s current assets and current liabilities include all assets and liabilities that mature 
within the Company’s operating cycle.  The table below gives the maturity profile of certain 
current assets and current liabilities where the maturities extend beyond twelve months. 
 
  Due within Due after 
December 31, 2012 one year one year Total 

 
Financial assets, other $ 50,864 $ - $ 50,864 
Construction contract assets 111,362 14,090 125,452 
Financial liabilities, other 20,074 - 20,074 
Non-financial liabilities 14,610 204 14,814 
Construction contract liabilities 397,052 30,164 427,216 
 

 
 
  Due within Due after 
December 31, 2011 one year one year Total 

 
Financial assets, other $ 39,359 $ - $ 39,359 
Construction contract assets 55,013 8,765 63,778 
Financial liabilities, other 16,497 - 16,497 
Non-financial liabilities 18,677 1,972 20,649 
Construction contract liabilities 120,207 24,770 144,977 
 

 

15. Non-financial assets and liabilities: 

(a) Non-financial assets: 
 

   December 31,  December 31, 
   2012 2011 

 
Prepaid expenses   $ 34,853 $ 9,354 
Advances to suppliers    68,853  44,458 
Other    57  104 
   103,763 53,916 
 
Current portion   (94,769) (53,713) 

 
    $ 8,994 $ 203 
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15. Non-financial assets and liabilities (continued): 

(b) Non-financial liabilities: 
 

   December 31,  December 31, 
   2012 2011 

 
Deferred revenue   $ 14,220 $ 20,034 
Lease inducements  6,533 7,714 
Other  2,633 447 
   23,386 28,195 
 
Current portion   (14,814) (20,649) 

 
    $ 8,572 $ 7,546 
 

16. Orbital receivables: 

Orbital receivables are billed and collected over the in-orbit life of the satellite.  Orbital receivables 
are discounted to present value using discount rates ranging from 6% - 10%.  The expected 

timing of billing and collection of orbital receivables relating to launched and unlaunched satellites 
is shown in the following table: 
 
 Contractual 
 cash flows Launched Unlaunched Total 

 
2013 $ 35,433 $ 13,836 $ - $ 13,836 
2014 40,758 11,615 3,306 14,921 
2015 46,057 11,571 5,628 17,199 
2016 47,396 13,114 6,498 19,612 
2017 48,611 14,841 7,321 22,162 
Thereafter 444,105 193,677 63,170 256,847 

  662,360 258,654 85,923 344,577 
 
Current portion (note 12) (35,433) (13,836) - (13,836) 

 
  $ 626,927 $ 244,818 $ 85,923 $ 330,741 
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17. Property, plant and equipment: 
 
 Land  
 and land  Leasehold  Furniture Computer 
 improvements Buildings improvements Equipment and fixtures hardware Total 

 
Cost 
 
Balance as at 

January 1, 2011 $ 4,177 $ 6,826 $ 21,630 $ 17,480 $ 4,450 $ 41,310 $ 95,873 
Additions - 6,482 2,870 6,321 133 4,967 20,773 
Reclassification 

from intangible 
assets - - 118 1,382 41 32 1,573 

Disposals - - (636) - (26) (672) (1,334) 
Foreign currency 
translation - - 129 193 15 79 416 

 
Balance as at 

December 31,  
 2011 4,177 13,308 24,111 25,376 4,613 45,716 117,301 

Additions - 2,553 1,443 7,180 243 2,529 13,948 
Acquired from 
 business 
 combination  
 (note 10) 102,161 44,990 11,272 136,983 2,951 2,370 300,727 
Disposals  - (7,178) (6,473) (688) (7,248) (21,587) 
Foreign currency 
translation (154) (64) (205) (337) (18) (89) (867) 

 
Balance as at 

December 31, 
2012 $ 106,184 $ 60,787 $ 29,443 $ 162,729 $ 7,101 $ 43,278 $ 409,522 

 

Accumulated depreciation 
 
Balance as at 

January 1, 2011 $ - $ 1,390 $ 15,842 $ 11,419 $ 3,652 $ 36,387 $ 68,690 
Depreciation 

expense - 315 1,298 561 234 4,838 7,246 
Disposals - - (626) - (13) (547) (1,186) 
Foreign currency 

translation - - 36 195 6 58 295 
 
Balance as at 

December 31,  
 2011 -  1,705  16,550  12,175  3,879  40,736  75,045 

Depreciation 
expense 46 817 1,736 7,988 365 2,887 13,839 

Disposals - - (4,492) (3,179) (616) (7,060) (15,347) 
Foreign currency 

translation - - (42) (63) (7) (60) (172) 
 
Balance as at 

December 31,  
 2012 $ 46 $ 2,522 $ 13,752 $ 16,921 $ 3,621 $ 36,503 $ 73,365 
 

Net book value 
 
December 31, 

2012 $ 106,138 $ 58,265 $ 15,691 $ 145,808 $ 3,480 $ 6,775 $ 336,157 
 
December 31, 

2011 $ 4,177 $ 11,603 $ 7,561 $ 13,201 $ 734 $ 4,980 $ 42,256 
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17. Property, plant and equipment (continued): 
 
Property, plant and equipment includes $31,204,000 (December 31, 2011 - $2,555,000) of 
expenditures for property under construction. 

Borrowing costs of $76,000 (2011 - nil) were capitalized as equipment during the year. The 
capitalization rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization was 
3.5%. 

The net book value of assets under finance leases are as follows: 
 
   December 31, December 31, 
   2012 2011 

 
Computer hardware   $ 3,461 $ 3,805 
Equipment  188 351 
Furniture and fixtures  147 199 
 
    $ 3,796 $ 4,355 
 

18. Intangible assets and goodwill: 

(a) Definite life intangible assets are as follows: 
 

      
 Technologies,    Licenses, 
 including   customer 
 development   relationships, 
 in-process Software Trade names and other Total 

 
Cost 
 

Balance as at January 1, 2011 $ - $ 31,466 $ - $ 14,898 $ 46,364 
Purchase of intangible assets - 1,895 - - 1,895 
Reclassification to property, 

plant and equipment - (1,573) - - (1,573) 
Disposals - (47) - - (47) 
Foreign currency translation - 115 - 237 352 

 
Balance as at December 31, 2011 - 31,856 - 15,135 46,991 

Purchase of intangible assets - 2,651 - 5,692 8,343 
Acquired from business 
 combination (note 10) 179,551 70,861 67,158 - 317,570 
Development of intangible assets 3,460 - - - 3,460 
Disposals - (6,099) - (4,249) (10,348) 
Foreign currency translation (257) (272) (101) (236) (866) 

 
Balance as at December 31, 

2012 $ 182,754 $ 98,997 $ 67,057 $ 16,342 $ 365,150 
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18. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued): 

(a) Definite life intangible assets are as follows (continued): 
 

      
 Technologies,    Licenses, 
 including   customer 
 development   relationships, 
 in-process Software Trade names and other Total 

 
Accumulated amortization  
 

Balance as at January 1, 2011 $ - $ 20,727 $ - $ 8,406 $ 29,133 
Amortization expense - 3,378 - 649 4,027 
Disposals - - - - - 
Foreign currency translation - 327 - 114 441 

 
Balance as at December 31, 2011 - 24,432 - 9,169 33,601 

Amortization expense 2,993 5,521 555 905 9,974 
Disposals - (5,830) - (2,080) (7,910) 
Foreign currency translation 10 (88) 1 (120) (197) 

 
Balance as at December 31, 

2012 $ 3,003 $ 24,035 $ 556 $ 7,874 $ 35,468 

 
Net book value 
 
December 31, 2012 $ 179,751 $ 74,962 $ 66,501 $ 8,468 $ 329,682 
 
December 31, 2011 $ - $ 7,424 $ - $ 5,966 $ 13,390 

 

(b) Goodwill as at December 31, 2012 is as follows: 
 

   Surveillance and 
  Communications Intelligence Total 
 
Balance as at January 1, 2011 $ 46,031 $ 130,888 $ 176,919 

Foreign currency translation - 1,553  1,553 
 
Balance as at December 31, 2011 46,031 132,441 178,472 

Acquired during the year 469,924 - 469,924 
Disposals - (1,906) (1,906) 
Foreign currency translation (558) (1,499) (2,057) 

 
Balance as at December 31, 2012 $ 515,397 $ 129,036 $ 644,433 
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18. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued): 

(c) Goodwill impairment: 

The Company performs a goodwill impairment test annually or whenever there is an 
indication of impairment. With the acquisition of Space Systems/Loral (note 10), the 

Company re-evaluated its cash generating units and the level at which goodwill will be tested 
for impairment. The Company determined that goodwill impairment testing will be conducted 
based on two groups of cash generating units representing the two reportable operating 

segments of the Company (note 5). The Company previously conducted goodwill impairment 
testing based on one group of cash generating units. Goodwill has been allocated to the two 
groups of cash generating units based on relative fair value. 

The Company completed impairment tests at September 30, 2011, September 30, 2012 and 
December 31, 2012 and determined that goodwill was not impaired. 

The key assumptions used in performing the impairment tests are as follows: 
 
   Perpetual 
  Discount rate   growth rate  
Segment Valuation method 2012 2011 2012 2011 

 
Communications Value in use 10% 10% 2.1 - 2.4% 2.1 - 2.4% 
Surveillance and Intelligence Value in use 10% 10% 2.1 - 2.4% 2.1 - 2.4% 
 

 

 Recoverable amount: 

Management’s past experience and future expectations of the business performance are 
used to make a best estimate of the expected revenue, earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortization, and operating cash flows for a five year period. 

 Discount rate: 

The discount rate applied is a pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money and risk 
associated with the business. 

 Perpetual growth rate: 

The perpetual growth rate is management's current assessment of the long-term growth 
prospect of the Company in the jurisdictions in which it operates. 

 Sensitivity analysis: 

Management performs sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions.  Sensitivity analysis 
indicates reasonable changes to key assumptions will not result in an impairment loss. 
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19. Provisions: 
 

 Decommissioning Warranty and after- 
 liabilities (a) sale service (b)  Others (c) Total 

 
Balance as at January 1, 2011 $ 2,069 $ - $ 1,397 $ 3,466 

Provisions made  96 22,883 3,889 26,868 
Provisions used  - - (983) (983) 
Provisions reversed  (140) - (414) (554) 

 
Balance as at December 31, 2011 2,025 22,883 3,889 28,797 

Provisions made  1,034 - 200 1,234 
Provisions acquired - 23,385 - 23,385 
Provisions used - (22,401) (2,107) (24,508) 
Provisions reversed (2,330) (399) - (2,729) 
Unwinding of discount 50 - - 50 
Foreign currency translation 1 (444) - (443) 

 
Balance as at December 31, 2012 $ 780 $ 23,024 $ 1,982 $ 25,786 

 
December 31, 2012: 

Current  $ - $ 2,586 $ 1,982 $ 4,568 
Non-current 780 20,438 - 21,218 

 
 $ 780 $ 23,024 $ 1,982 $ 25,786 

 
December 31, 2011: 

Current  $ - $ 22,883 $ 3,889 $ 26,772 
Non-current 2,025 - - 2,025 

 
 $ 2,025 $ 22,883 $ 3,889 $ 28,797 

 
(a)  Decommissioning liabilities relate to restoration costs for premise leases with terms that expire between 2014 and 

2023. 

(b)   Warranty and after-sale service provisions relate to obligations under commercial satellite construction contracts and 
on certain products included in the sale of the Property Information business (see note 32). 

(c) Other provisions relate to obligations under premise leases and restructuring costs. 
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20. Employee benefits: 

(a) Employee benefit liabilities: 
 

   December 31,  December 31, 
   2012 2011 

 
Salary and benefits payable   $ 64,072 $ 26,584 
Pension and other post-retirement benefits   342,869  36,601 
Share-based payment plans   35,518  36,346 
 
Employee benefits    442,459  99,531 
 
Current portion   (101,468) (59,263) 

 
    $ 340,991 $ 40,268 
 

(b) Pension plans: 

The Company maintains contributory and non-contributory defined benefit pension plans 

covering a portion of its employees.  The defined benefit plans provide pension benefits 
based on various factors including earnings and length of service.  The present value of 
accumulated pension benefits based on earnings and length of service is provided for in the 

financial statements. 

The composition of the pension plan assets is as follows: 
 

   December 31,  December 31, 
   2012 2011 

 
Cash equivalents  4% 11% 
Debt instruments/funds  34%  40% 
Equity instruments/funds  60%  49% 
Real estate funds  2% - 
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20. Employee benefits (continued): 

(b) Pension plans (continued): 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
  2012 2011 
 
Movement in the present value of defined benefit 

obligations is as follows: 
Defined benefit obligation at January 1 $ 70,220 $ 65,646 
Liabilities assumed from business combination (note 10) 560,185 - 
Benefits paid by the plan (9,514) (3,938) 
Current service costs and interest (see below) 11,798 4,970 
Settlement - 116 
Past service costs 758 - 
Plan participants contributions 538 308 
Liabilities extinguished on settlement - (2,151) 
Effect of movement in foreign exchange rates (830) - 
Actuarial losses in other comprehensive 

income (see below) 6,405 5,269 
 
Defined benefit obligations at December 31 $ 639,560 $ 70,220 

 
Movement in the present value of plan assets 

is as follows: 
Fair value of plan assets at January 1 $ 60,753 $ 60,705 
Assets acquired from business combination (note 10) 324,439 - 
Employer contributions 10,786 5,525 
Plan participants contributions 538 308 
Benefits paid by the plan (9,514) (3,938) 
Assets distributed on settlement - (2,151) 
Expected return on plan assets 8,772 4,271 
Effect of movement in foreign exchange rates (480) - 
Actuarial gains (losses) in other comprehensive 

income (see below) 2,422 (3,967) 
 
Fair value of plan assets at December 31 $ 397,716 $ 60,753 

 
Expense recognized in statement of earnings is as follows: 

Current service costs $ 4,994 $ 1,748 
Interest on obligation 6,804 3,222 
Curtailment gain - (337) 
Settlement - 31 
Past service costs 758 - 
Effect of movement in foreign exchange rates (349) - 
Expected return on plan assets (8,772) (4,271) 

 
 $ 3,435 $ 393 
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20. Employee benefits (continued): 

(b) Pension plans (continued): 

As a result of a curtailment in the pension arrangement for a number of employees in 2011, 
the Company’s defined benefit pension obligation decreased by $337,000.  A corresponding 

curtailment gain is included in the Company’s statement of comprehensive income at 
December 31, 2011. 

The expense is recognized in direct costs, selling, general and administration in the 

statement of earnings. 
 

  December 31, December 31,  
  2012 2011 

 
Actual return on plan assets $ 11,194 $ 463 
 
Actuarial losses recognized in other comprehensive income: 
 

  December 31, December 31,  
  2012 2011 

 
Cumulative amount at January 1 $ 13,166 $ 3,930 
Recognized during the period 3,983 9,236 

 
Cumulative amount at December 31 $ 17,149 $ 13,166 
 
Actuarial assumptions: 
 
Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date: 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
  2012 2011 

 
Discount rate at December 31 4% 4.75% - 5.25% 
Expected return on plan assets at January 1 7% - 8% 7% 
Future salary increases 3.50% - 4.25% 3.50% 
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20. Employee benefits (continued): 

(b) Pension plans (continued): 

Actuarial assumptions (continued): 

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and mortality tables.  
The current longevities underlying the values of the liabilities in the defined benefit plans are 
as follows: 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
Canadian plans 2012 2011 

 
Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners (in years): 

Males  19.8  19.7 
Females 22.1 22.1 
 

 
Longevity at age 65 for current members aged 45 (in years): 

Males  21.3  21.2 
Females 22.9 22.9 
 

 

 
  December 31, December 31, 
United States plans 2012 2011 

 
Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners (in years): 

Males  19.2  - 
Females 21.0 - 
 

 
Longevity at age 65 for current members aged 45 (in years): 

Males  19.2  - 
Females 21.0 - 
 

 

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the mortality assumptions set 

out above.  As the actuarial estimates of mortality continue to be refined, an increase of one 
year in the lives shown above is considered reasonably possible in the next financial year.  
The effect of this change would be an increase in the employee benefit liability by 3.5%. 

The overall expected long-term rate of return on assets is 7% - 8%.  The expected long-term 
rate of return is based on the portfolio as a whole and not on the sum of the returns on 
individual asset categories.  The return is based exclusively on historical returns, without 

adjustments. 
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20. Employee benefits (continued): 

(b) Pension plans (continued): 

Historical information: 
 
   December 31, December 31, 
   2012 2011 

 
Present value of the defined benefit obligation  $ 639,560 $ 70,220 
Fair value of plan assets  397,716 60,753 
 
Deficit in the plan   $ 241,844 $ 9,467 
 
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities $ (209) $ (604) 
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets 2,422 (3,808) 
 

 

The Company expects $30,903,000 in contributions to be paid to its defined benefit plans in 
2013. 

(c) Other post-retirement plans: 

The Company also provides for other post-retirement benefits, comprised of extended health 
benefits, dental care and life insurance.  The cost of these benefits is funded annually out of 

general revenues. 

In addition to the assumptions set out above, the main actuarial assumption is a long-term 
increase in health care costs of 8% - 9.5% a year (2011 – 8.5%). 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
  2012 2011 
 
Movement in the present value of defined benefit 

obligations is as follows: 
Defined benefit obligations at January 1 $ 26,188 $ 24,607 
Liabilities assumed from business combination (note 10) 70,194 - 
Benefits paid by the plan (1,400) (463) 
Current service costs and interest (see below) 2,476 1,788 
Curtailment gain - (788) 
Past service costs 22 - 
Plan participant contributions 321 - 
Effect of movement in foreign exchange rates  (117) - 
Plan amendments - 817 
Actuarial losses in other comprehensive 

income (see below) 2,316 227 
 
Defined benefit obligations at December 31 $ 100,000 $ 26,188 
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20. Employee benefits (continued): 

(c) Other post-retirement plans (continued): 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
  2012 2011 
 
Movement in the present value of plan assets is 

as follows: 
Fair value of plan assets at January 1 

Employer contributions $ 1,079 $ 463 
Plan participant contributions 321 - 
Benefits paid by plan (1,400) (463) 

 
Fair value of plan assets at December 31 $ - $ - 
 
Expense recognized in statement of earnings is as follows: 

Current service costs $ 864 $ 669 
Interest on obligation 1,612 1,119 
Curtailment gain - (788) 
Effect of movement in foreign exchange rates (117) - 
Amortization of past service costs 22 619 

 
  $ 2,381 $ 1,619 
 

As a result of a curtailment in the post-retirement arrangement for a number of employees in 
2011, the Company’s other post-retirement obligation decreased by $788,000.  A 
corresponding curtailment gain is included in the Company’s statement of comprehensive 

income at December 31, 2011. 

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in 
profit or loss.  A one percentage point change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would 

have the following effects: 
 
  One percentage One percentage 
  point point 
  increase decrease 
 
Effect on the aggregate service and interest cost $ 436 $ (339) 
Effect on defined benefit obligation 10,530 (8,479) 
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20. Employee benefits (continued): 

(c) Other post-retirement plans (continued): 
 
   December 31, December 31 
   2012 2011 
 
The liabilities recognized in the balance sheet were 

determined as follows: 
Defined benefit obligations   $ 100,000 $ 26,188 
Unamortized past service costs  1,025 946 

 
    $ 101,025 $ 27,134 
 

Actuarial losses recognized in other comprehensive income: 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
  2012 2011 
 
Cumulative amount at January 1 $ 1,686 $ 1,459 
Recognized during the period 2,316 227 
 
Cumulative amount at December 31 $ 4,002 $ 1,686 
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21. Long-term debt: 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
   2012 2011 
 
Syndicated credit facility: 

 
Term loan payable in Canadian dollars $ 125,175 $ - 
 
Term loan payable in U.S. dollars (December 31, 2012 - 

U.S.$125,000,000; December 31, 2011 - U.S. nil)  124,363  - 
 
Revolving loan payable in Canadian dollars  76,000 - 
 
Revolving loan payable in U.S. dollars (December 31, 

2012 - U.S.$73,000,000; December 31, 2011 - U.S. nil) 72,628 - 
 
 

Senior term notes payable: 
 

2024 Term notes payable in U.S. dollars (December 31, 
2012 - U.S.$250,000,000; December 31, 2011 - U.S. nil) 248,725 - 

 
2017 Term notes payable in U.S. dollars (December 31, 

2012 - U.S.$100,000,000; December 31, 2011 - U.S. nil)  99,490  101,700 
 
Promissory note payable: 
 

Promissory note payable in U.S. dollars (December 31, 
2012 - U.S.$101,000,000; December 31, 2011 - U.S. nil) 100,485 - 

 
Financing fees  (3,901) (40) 
 
Obligations under finance leases  4,695 4,023 

 
Total long-term debt  847,660 105,683 

Current portion  (48,207) (1,834) 

 
Non-current portion $ 799,453 $ 103,849 
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21. Long-term debt (continued): 

The long term debt is drawn under the following facilities: 

(a) Syndicated credit facility: 

On November 2, 2012, the Company entered into a four year senior secured syndicated 

credit facility (the “Syndicated Credit Facility”) with several North American and international  
banks.  The Syndicated Credit Facility is comprised of: (i) a term loan facility in the principal 
amount of Canadian $125,175,000 and U.S.$125,000,000; and (ii) a revolving loan facility of 

up to U.S. $600,000,000. The revolving loan facility includes a U.S.$125,000,000 sub limit 
under which letters of credit can be issued.  The Syndicated Credit Facility matures on 
November 2, 2016.  The term loan facility has scheduled repayments beginning on 

December 31, 2013.  The drawn amount of the revolving loan facility is repayable in full on 
November 2, 2016.  Loans under the Syndicated Credit Facility bear interest at Canadian 
LIBOR or U.S. LIBOR plus margins of 1.5% - 3%.  The margin will vary with the Company’s 

consolidated debt to EBITDA ratio.  The Syndicated Credit Facility is guaranteed by the 
Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company and the loans are secured by specific 
assets of the Company. 

The loans can be repaid prior to maturity, at the Company’s option, in whole or in part, 
together with accrued interest, without premium or penalty. The Company is required to make 
mandatory prepayments of the outstanding principal and accrued interest upon the 

occurrence of certain events.  The Syndicated Credit Facility is subject to customary 
representations and warranties, covenants, events of default and other terms and conditions. 

On November 2, 2012, the Company also entered into a new U.S.$100,000,000 letter of 

credit agreement with a major bank. 

Prior to November 2, 2012, the Company had a $100,000,000 revolving loan facility and a 
$60,000,000 letter of credit facility under bilateral credit agreements with a major bank.  The 

agreements were terminated concurrent with the execution of the Syndicated Credit Facility. 

(b) Senior term notes payable: 

On November 2, 2012, the Company entered into a twelve year senior secured note 

purchase agreement for U.S.$250,000,000 with two major U.S. private lenders (the “2024 
Term Notes”).  The 2024 Term Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 4.31% per annum and 
are repayable in five equal annual installments beginning on November 2, 2020. 

On February 25, 2010, the Company entered into a long term debt agreement for U.S. 
$100,000,000 with a private lender (the “2017 Term Notes”).  The agreement was amended 
on November 2, 2012.   The 2017 Term Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 5.3% per annum 

and are repayable in full on February 22, 2017.   
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21. Long-term debt (continued): 

(b) Senior term notes payable (continued): 

The senior term notes payable are guaranteed by the Company and certain subsidiaries of 
the Company and the notes are secured by specific assets of the Company.  The notes can 

be repaid, at the Company’s option, in whole or in part, together with accrued interest and a 
make-whole premium.  The Company is required to make mandatory prepayments of the 
outstanding principal and accrued interest upon the occurrence of certain events.  The senior 

term notes payable are subject to customary representations and warranties, covenants, 
events of default and other terms and conditions. 

(c) Promissory note payable: 

On November 2, 2012, the Company entered into a promissory note for U.S.$101,000,000, 
payable to Loral and bearing interest at a fixed rate of 1% per annum.  The note is secured 
by a bank letter of credit and is repayable in three equal annual installments beginning on 

March 31, 2013.   

Annual principal repayments on long-term debt as at December 31, 2012 are as follows: 
 

  Syndicated Notes Finance  
  credit facility payable leases Total 

 
Less than one year $ 11,590 $ 33,413 $ 3,204 $ 48,207 
Between one and five years 383,177 166,283 1,491 550,951 
More than five years - 248,502 - 248,502 
 
  $ 394,767 $ 448,198 $ 4,695 $ 847,660 
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22. Shareholders’ equity: 

Share capital: 

Authorized: 
Unlimited number of common shares with no par value 
Unlimited number of preferred shares, issuable in series, convertible to common shares 

Common shares issued and fully paid: 
 
  Number 
  of shares Amount 

 
Balance as at January 1, 2011 41,054,927 $ 266,811 

Common shares issued upon exercise of employee share 
options (note 24(a)) 121,373 2,828 

Common shares issued in conjunction with employee share 
purchase plan (note 24(b)) 60,644 3,051 

Repurchase of common shares (9,433,962) (62,185) 

 
Balance as at December 31, 2011 31,802,982 210,505 

Common shares issued in conjunction with employee share 
purchase plan (note 24(b)) 55,734  2,717 

 
Balance as at December 31, 2012 31,858,716 $ 213,222 
 

On October 4, 2011, the Company completed a Substantial Issuer Bid offer to repurchase up to 

$500,000,000 of its common shares.  The Company repurchased and cancelled 9,433,962 
common shares at a price of $53.00 per common share representing approximately 23% of the 
common shares outstanding at October 4, 2011. 

The Company’s share capital was reduced by an amount equal to the average carrying value of 
the shares repurchased for cancellation.  The amount in excess of the charge to share capital, 
including transaction costs, was recorded as a reduction to retained earnings. 

The following dividends were declared and paid by the Company: 
 
  For the year ended 
  December 31,  
 2012 2011 

 
$1.30 per common share (2011 - $1.00) $ 41,383 $ 41,158 
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23. Earnings per common share: 
 
   Year ended December 31,  
   2012   2011  
   Weighted   Weighted 
   average   average 
   number of   number of 
   common   common 
  Net shares Per share Net shares Per share 
  earnings outstanding amount earnings outstanding amount 

 
Continuing operations: 
 
Earnings per common share: 

Basic $  86,280 31,835,394 $ 2.71 $ 129,632 39,118,977 $ 3.31 
Share options - - - - 24,009 - 

 
Diluted $  86,280 31,835,394 $ 2.71 $ 129,632 39,142,986 $ 3.31 

 

Discontinued operations: 
 
Earnings per common share: 

Basic $ - 31,835,394 $ - $ 30,132 39,118,977 $ 0.77 
Share options - - - - 24,009 - 

 
Diluted $ - 31,835,394 $ - $ 30,132 39,142,986 $ 0.77 

 

Net earnings: 
 
Earnings per common share: 

Basic $  86,280 31,835,394 $ 2.71 $ 159,764 39,118,977 $ 4.08 
Share options - - - - 24,009 - 

 
Diluted $  86,280 31,835,394 $ 2.71 $ 159,764 39,142,986 $ 4.08 

 

24. Share-based payment plans: 

(a) Share options: 

During the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company implemented an equity-settled 

share option plan for its employees.  The exercise price of each option granted was not to be 
less than the market value at the time of granting and the maximum term for an option was 
10 years.  Options vested and became exercisable as determined by the Board of Directors 

in each individual award agreement.  No options have been granted under the share option 
plan subsequent to 2004 and as at December 31, 2011 and 2012 there were no share 
options outstanding. 
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24. Share-based payment plans (continued): 

(a) Share options (continued): 

A summary of the options outstanding under the share option plan is presented below: 
 
       Weighted 
   average 
    Number exercise price 
    of options per option 

 
Options outstanding and exercisable, January 1, 2011   121,373 $ 23.01 
Options exercised   (121,373) 23.01 
Options cancelled   - - 
 
Options outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2011 and 2012  - $ - 

 

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during 
the year ended December 31, 2011 was $51.18. 

(b) Employee share purchase plan: 

On October 1, 2001, the Company implemented an employee share purchase plan.  Under 
this plan, the Company may issue 1,500,000 common shares to its employees.  The 

maximum number of common shares that may be issued under the plan in any one year is 
300,000.  Under the terms of the plan, employees can purchase shares of the Company at 
85% of the market value of the shares.  Employees can allocate a maximum of 10% of their 

salary to the plan to a maximum of $20,000 per annum.  For the year ended December 31, 
2012 - 55,734 (2011 - 60,644) common shares were issued at an average price of $41.44 
(2011 - $42.77). 

(c) Deferred restricted share units: 

The Company awarded cash settleable deferred restricted share units (“DRSUs”) under its 
2005 and 2006 share-based compensation plans.  The DRSUs vest after three years and 

expire seven years from their grant date.  The obligations under the DRSUs are being 
satisfied by acquiring common shares of the Company, through a share transfer agent, on 
the open market and therefore are not included in the calculation of diluted shares 

outstanding.   

A summary of the DRSUs as at December 31, 2012 and 2011 and changes during the period 
are presented below: 
   2012   2011  
  Weighted Weighted 
  average  average 
  Number exercise price Number exercise price 
   of DRSUs per DRSU of DRSUs per DRSU 

 
DRSUs outstanding and exercisable, 

beginning of period 199,200 $ 34.37 844,400 $ 30.86 
DRSUs exercised (194,450) 34.18 (645,200) 29.77 
 
DRSUs outstanding and exercisable, 

end of period 4,750 $ 41.89 199,200 $ 34.37 
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24. Share-based payment plans (continued): 

(c) Deferred restricted share units (continued): 

The following table summarizes information about outstanding DRSUs: 

As at December 31, 2012 
 
 

   DRSUs outstanding and exercisable  
    Weighted Weighted 
    average average 
    remaining exercise 
Range of exercise  Number contractual price per 
prices per DRSU  of DRSUs life (in years) DRSU 

 
$33.78 to $49.18 4,750 0.2 $ 41.89 

 

As at December 31, 2011 
 
 

   DRSUs outstanding and exercisable  
    Weighted Weighted 
    average average 
    remaining exercise 
Range of exercise  Number of contractual price per 
prices per DRSU  DRSUs life (in years) DRSU 
 

      
$33.78 to $49.18   199,200 0.9   34.37 

 
(d) Share appreciation rights 

The Company awarded cash settleable share appreciation rights (“SARs”) under its 2007, 
2008, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013 share-based compensation plans.  The SARs vest 

over a period of three years, in the amount of one-third each year, and expire five to seven 
years from their grant date. 

A summary of the SARs as at December 31, 2012 and 2011 and changes during the period 

are presented below: 
 
   2012   2011  
  Weighted  Weighted 
  average average 
  Number exercise price Number exercise price 
  of SARs per SAR of SARs per SAR 

 
SARs outstanding, beginning of period 3,814,077 $ 41.84 5,103,350 $ 39.28 
SARs issued 1,463,900 48.04 196,000 48.14 
SARs exercised (1,582,829) 37.01 (1,418,417) 33.51 
SARs cancelled (126,528) 45.33 (66,856) 41.57 
 
SARs outstanding, end of period 3,568,620 $ 46.40 3,814,077 $ 41.84 

 
SARs exercisable, end of period 1,213,400 $ 44.91 1,583,782 $ 42.52 
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24. Share-based payment plans (continued): 

(d) Share appreciation rights (continued): 

The following table summarizes information about outstanding SARs: 

As at December 31, 2012 
 
 

   SARs outstanding   SARs exercisable  
   Weighted Weighted  Weighted Weighted 
   average average  average average 
   remaining exercise  remaining exercise 
  Number contractual price per Number  contractual price per 
Prices per share of SARs life (in years) SAR of SARs life (in years) SAR 
 

$18.47 to $39.69 104,575 1.2 $ 22.68 92,074 1.0 $ 20.64 
$40.43 to $51.95 3,464,045 3.4 47.12 1,121,326 2.5 46.90 
 
  3,568,620 3.3 $ 46.40 1,213,400 2.4 $ 44.91 
 

As at December 31, 2011 
 
 

   SARs outstanding   SARs exercisable  
   Weighted Weighted  Weighted Weighted 
   average average  average average 
   remaining exercise  remaining exercise 
  Number contractual price per Number  contractual price per 
Prices per share of SARs life (in years) SAR of SARs life (in years) SAR 
 

$18.25 to $39.69 524,065 2.0 $ 20.79 133,134 2.0 $ 20.51 
$40.01 to $49.97 3,290,012 3.0 45.19 1,450,648 2.4 44.54 
 
  3,814,077 2.9 $ 41.84 1,583,782 2.3 $ 42.52 

 

(e) Equity forward purchase agreements: 

The Company uses equity forward purchase agreements to manage the risk associated with 

fluctuations in the share price of the Company relating to share-based compensation plans. 
During the year, the Company settled the remaining equity forward purchase agreements for  
450,600 common shares of the Company.  For the year ended December 31, 2012, the 

Company has recorded a fair value gain of $4,092,000 (2011 - gain of $2,682,000) relating to 
the equity forward purchase agreements. 

(f) Share matching program: 

The Company maintains a share matching program, where certain executives are granted 
one common share of the Company for every three common shares of the Company that 
they purchase and hold for a consecutive period of three years.  Common shares are 

purchased on the open market to satisfy obligations under the share matching program and 
are expensed as share-based compensation in the statement of earnings. 
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24. Share-based payment plans (continued): 

(g) Deferred share units: 

The Company maintains a deferred share unit (“DSUs”) plan where the Company’s 
independent directors receive some or all of their annual retainer in DSUs.  DSUs are granted 

at a price equal to the closing price of the common shares on the day before the date of 
grant.  The DSUs are paid in cash at retirement at the closing price of the common shares of 
the Company on the day before the retirement date. 

A summary of the DSUs as at December 31, 2012 and 2011 and changes during the period 
are presented below: 
 
   2012   2011  
  Weighted Weighted 
  average average 
  Number issue price Number issue price 
  of DSUs per DSU of DSUs per DSU 

 
DSUs outstanding, beginning of period 67,227 $ 33.60 64,704 $ 33.54 
DSUs issued 8,616 49.61 8,976 51.33 
DSUs redeemed (7,218) 44.86 (6,453) 57.60 
 
DSUs outstanding, end of period 68,625 $ 34.43 67,227 $ 33.60 

 

(h) Total share-based compensation expense: 

Total share-based compensation expense, excluding the impact of equity forward contracts, 

from all forms of share-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2012 was an 
expense of $29,302,000 (2011 - recovery of $3,943,000).  The details are as follows: 
 
   For the year ended 

  December 31,  
   2012 2011 
 
Employee share purchase plan $ 407 $ 457 
Share appreciation rights 27,749 (4,615) 
Share matching program 177 106 
Deferred share units 969 109 
 
  $ 29,302 $ (3,943) 
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24. Share-based payment plans (continued): 

(i) Intrinsic value: 
The intrinsic value of a share-based payment plan is the positive difference between the 
market price of the Company’s share and the exercise price of the award.  At December 31, 

2012, the intrinsic value for vested share-based payment plans is $13,427,000 
(December 31, 2011 - $8,477,000). 

(j) Valuation of DRSUs: 

The fair value of the DRSUs were estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model with the following assumptions: 
 
 
Risk-free interest rate  1.3% - 4.2% 
Dividend yield  0% 
Expected award lives  10 - 78 months 
Volatility  23% - 68% 
 

 

(k) Valuation of share appreciation rights: 

The fair value of the SARs were estimated at each reporting period using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model with the following assumptions: 
 
   December 31, December 31, 
    2012 2011 
 
Risk-free interest rate  1.1% - 4.6% 1.0% - 4.6% 
Dividend yield  2.3% 2.1% 
Expected award lives  4 - 49 months 6 - 47 months 
Volatility  26% - 29% 26% - 29% 
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25. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures: 

Refer to significant accounting policy note 3(i). 

(a) Financial instruments by category: 

The classification of financial instruments and their carrying amounts are as follows: 
 
At December 31, 2012: 
 
  Financial Derivative 
  assets at instruments  Available-for- Not  
  fair value in a qualifying   sale  considered  
  through hedging Loans and   financial  financial Total carrying 
  earnings relationship receivables  assets  instruments amount 

 
Financial assets: 

 
Current: 

 

Cash and cash 
equivalents $ - $ - $ 24,836 $ - $ - $ 24,836 

 

Trade and other 
receivables: 

Trade accounts 
receivable - - 215,936 - - 215,936 

Orbital receivables - - 13,836 - - 13,836 
Other - - 7,967 - 14,089 22,056 

 - - 237,739 - 14,089 251,828 
 

Financial assets, other: 
Short-term investments - - - 5,740 - 5,740 
Notes receivable - - 265 - - 265 
Derivative financial  
 instruments 3,155 2,602 - - - 5,757 
Restricted cash - - 39,102 - - 39,102 

 3,155 2,602 39,367 5,740 - 50,864 
 

Non-current: 
 

Orbital receivables  -  -  330,741  -  -  330,741 
  
Financial assets, other: 

Notes receivable - - 934 - - 934 
Derivative financial  
 instruments 1,107 181 - - - 1,288 
Restricted cash - - 4,227 - - 4,227 

 1,107 181 5,161 - - 6,449 
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25. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(a) Financial instruments by category (continued): 
 
At December 31, 2012 (continued): 
 

  Financial Derivative 
  liabilities at instruments 
  fair value in a qualifying  Other 
  through hedging  financial Total carrying 
  earnings relationship liabilities amount 

 
Financial liabilities: 

 
Current: 

 
Trade and other payables $ - $ - $ 214,337 $ 214,337 
 
Financial liabilities, other: 

Non-trade payables - - 12,142 12,142 
Derivative financial  
 instruments 3,167 1,484 - 4,651 
Contingent liabilities - - 3,184 3,184 
Other - - 97 97 

 3,167 1,484 15,423 20,074 
 
Long-term debt: 

Long-term debt - - 45,003 45,003 
Obligations under finance leases - - 3,204 3,204 

 - - 48,207 48,207 
 
Non-current: 

 
Financial liabilities, other: 

Contingent liabilities - - 3,840 3,840 
Non-trade payables - - 1,445 1,445 
Derivative financial  
 instruments 596 513 - 1,109 

 596 513 5,285 6,394 
 
Long-term debt: 

Long-term debt - - 797,962 797,962 
Obligations under finance leases - - 1,491 1,491 

 - - 799,453 799,453 
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25. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(a) Financial instruments by category (continued): 

At December 31, 2011: 
 
  Financial Derivative 
  assets at instruments  Available-for- Not  
  fair value in a qualifying   sale  considered  
  through hedging Loans and   financial  financial Total carrying 
  earnings relationship receivables  assets  instruments amount 

 
Financial assets: 

 
Current: 

 
Cash and cash 

equivalents $ - $ - $ 254,831 $ - $ - $ 254,831 
 
Trade and other 

receivables: 
Trade accounts 

receivable - - 97,991 - - 97,991 
Other - - 9,374 - 12,151 21,525 

 - - 107,365 - 12,151 119,516 
 
Financial assets, other: 

Short-term investments - - - 26,646 - 26,646 
Notes receivable - - 408 - - 408 
Derivative financial 
 instruments 9,422 2,883 - - - 12,305 

 9,422 2,883 408 26,646 - 39,359 
 

Non-current: 
 
Financial assets, other: 

Notes receivable - - 959 - - 959 
Investments in 

equity securities - - - 135 - 135 
Derivative financial 
 instruments 1,119 2,228 - - - 3,347 

 1,119 2,228 959 135 - 4,441 
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25. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(a) Financial instruments by category (continued): 

At December 31, 2011 (continued): 
 

  Financial Derivative 
  liabilities at instruments 
  fair value in a qualifying  Other 
  through hedging  financial Total carrying 
  earnings relationship liabilities amount 

 
Financial liabilities: 

 
Current: 

 
Trade and other payables $ - $ - $ 87,098 $ 87,098 
 
Financial liabilities, other: 

Non-trade payables - - 6,127 6,127 
Derivative financial  
 instruments 7,743 2,536 - 10,279 
Other - - 91 91 

 7,743 2,536 6,218 16,497 
 
Long-term debt: 

Obligations under finance leases - - 1,834 1,834 
 
Non-current: 

 
Financial liabilities, other: 

Non-trade payables - - 9,235 9,235 
Derivative financial  
 instruments 4,987 107 - 5,094 
Other - - 3,193 3,193 

 4,987 107 12,428 17,522 
 
Long-term debt: 

Long-term debt - - 101,660 101,660 
Obligations under finance leases - - 2,189 2,189 

 - - 103,849 103,849 
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25. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(b) Fair value of financial instruments: 

Financial instruments carried at amortized cost: 

As at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the fair values of all financial instruments 

carried at amortized cost, other than long-term debt, approximate their carrying value.  The 
fair value of long-term debt at December 31, 2012 was $852,075,000 (December 31, 2011 - 
$112,663,000). 

Financial instruments carried at fair value: 

The table below analyzes financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method.  
The different levels have been defined as follows: 

Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

 
December 31, 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 
Assets 
 
Short-term investments $ 5,740 $ - $ - $ 5,740 
Derivative financial instruments - 7,045 - 7,045 
 
Total assets $ 5,740 $ 7,045 $ - $ 12,785 
 
Liabilities 
 
Derivative financial instruments $ - $ 5,760 $ - $ 5,760 
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25. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(b) Fair value of financial instruments (continued): 
 
December 31, 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 
Assets 
 
Short-term investments $ 26,646 $ - $ - $ 26,646 
Derivative financial instruments - 15,652 - 15,652 
Investments in equity securities 135 - - 135 
 
Total assets $ 26,781 $ 15,652 $ - $ 42,433 
 
Liabilities 
 
Derivative financial instruments $ - $ 15,373 $ - $ 15,373 
 

(c) Foreign exchange forward contracts: 

The Company uses foreign exchange forward contracts to manage foreign exchange risk 

associated with certain foreign currency denominated contracts, long-term debt and 
intercompany balances.  Hedge accounting is applied if the foreign exchange contract is 
included in a qualifying hedging relationship as described in note 3(i). 

Prior to September 26, 2011, the Company used U.S. dollar forward purchase contracts to 
hedge the foreign currency exposure on the U.S. dollar denominated 2017 Term Notes.  The 
gains or losses from the revaluation of the U.S. dollar 2017 Term Notes were offset in the 

consolidated statements of earnings by the gain or loss recorded on the U.S. dollar forward 
purchase contracts.  On September 26, 2011, the Company designated the U.S. dollar 
denominated 2017 Term Notes as a hedge of the net investment in certain foreign 

operations.  Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of the U.S. dollar 
2017 Term Notes are recognized in other comprehensive income to the extent that the hedge 
is effective and are recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings to the extent that 

the hedge is ineffective. 
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25. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(c) Foreign exchange forward contracts (continued): 

The following table summarizes the fair value of the Company’s foreign exchange forward 
contracts, which have been recorded on the balance sheet at fair value as assets and 

liabilities as appropriate. 
 
  Average  Fair value 
  Notional exchange  gain 
December 31, 2012 amount rate Maturity dates (loss) 

 
Purchase contracts settled in 

Canadian dollars: 
U.S. dollar 271,372 0.9953 January 2013 - October 2016 $ 1,133 
Euro 19,980 1.3166 January 2013 - February 2016 (37) 
British pound 443 1.6085 January 2013 4 
Australian dollar 2,846 1.0208 January 2013 - December 2014 (15) 

Sales contracts settled in 
Canadian dollars: 

U.S. dollar 370,135 1.0021 January 2013 - September 2016 $ 889 
Euro 25,145 1.3021 January 2013 - September 2014 (549) 
British pound 250 1.6081 January 2013 (3) 
Norwegian krone 835 0.1758 January 2013 (2) 
 

Purchase contracts settled in 
 United States dollars: 

   Japanese yen 1,124,137 0.0125 January 2013 - October 2013 $ (1,065) 
 
Sales contracts settled in 
 United States dollars 

 Japanese yen 520,169 0.0120 January 2013 $ 82 
 Euro 11,813 1.2825 February 2013 - June 2013 (441) 

 

 
 
  Average  Fair value 
  Notional exchange  gain 
December 31, 2011 amount rate Maturity dates (loss) 

 
Purchase contracts settled in 

Canadian dollars: 
U.S. dollar 216,548 0.9978 January 2012 - October 2016 $ 4,690 
Euro 22,805 1.4154 January 2012 - February 2016 (2,051) 
British pound 70 1.5937 January 2012 (1) 
Norwegian krone 353 0.1723 January 2012 (1) 
Australian dollar 320 1.0125 January 2012 - April 2012 10 

Sales contracts settled in 
Canadian dollars: 

U.S. dollar 343,534 1.0236 January 2012 - September 2016 $ 1,188 
Euro 20,813 1.3569 January 2012 - September 2014 593 
British pound 254 1.6115 January 2012 - February 2012 8 
Norwegian krone 1,361 0.1734 January 2012 - February 2012 4 
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25. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(d) Equity forward purchase agreements: 

The Company has historically entered into forward purchase agreements for common shares 
of the Company in order to manage the economic risks of the share appreciation rights 

relating to the Company’s long-term compensation plans.  As at December 31, 2012 there 
were no forward purchase agreements outstanding (2011 - 472,000).  The fair value of these 
agreements as at December 31, 2011 was a loss of $5,539,000, of which, $511,000 was 

attributable to changes in the credit risk of the Company.  These agreements were not 
subject to hedge accounting. 

 (e) Credit risk: 

The Company is exposed to credit risk through its cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, 
short-term and long-term investments, trade and other receivables, orbital receivables, notes 
receivable and its derivative financial instruments. 

The Company’s credit exposure through receivables relates to a diverse group of customers, 
including government customers, in multiple geographic regions purchasing a wide variety of 
products and services from the Company, and is therefore mitigated by a reduced 

concentration of risk.  In 2012, approximately 55% (2011 - 75%) of the Company’s 
receivables were from various government agencies.   

Customers are assessed for credit risk based on the nature of the customer organization, 

financial health, and credit history with the Company and others.  Credit limits or maximum 
exposures under revenue contracts are identified, approved and monitored.  In some cases, 
the Company will procure credit insurance to mitigate its exposure. 

Trade and other receivables are considered for impairment on a case by case basis and 
provided for when objective evidence is received that a customer may default. 

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets 

recognized on the balance sheet at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, as 
summarized in the carrying values table (note 25(b)). 

The Company’s trade receivables and allowance for doubtful accounts are shown in the 

following table: 
 
   December 31,  December 31, 
    2012 2011 
 
Trade receivables   $ 221,383 $ 101,966 
Less:  allowance for doubtful accounts   (5,447) (3,975) 
 
Trade receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts $ 215,936 $ 97,991 
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25. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(e) Credit risk (continued): 

The aging of trade receivables at the reporting date was: 
 
    December 31,  December 31, 
    2012 2011 
 
Not past due   $ 150,126 $ 65,476 
Past due 1 - 30 days  40,734 23,913 
Past due 31 - 90 days  11,500 6,754 
Past due 90+ days  13,576 1,848 
 
    $ 215,936 $ 97,991 
 

Allowance for doubtful accounts: 
 
 
Balance as at January 1, 2011   $ 8,867 
 
Bad debt expense  2,769 
Amounts applied to specific trade accounts receivable  (4,166) 
Allowance reversed  (3,426) 
Foreign exchange  (69) 
 
Balance as at December 31, 2011  3,975 
 
Bad debt expense  2,363 
Amounts applied to specific trade accounts receivable  (80) 
Allowance reversed  (809) 
Foreign exchange  (2) 
 
Balance as at December 31, 2012   $ 5,447 
 

In implementing all its derivative financial instruments, the Company deals with 

counterparties and is therefore exposed to credit related losses in the event of non-
performance by these counterparties.  However, the Company deals with counterparties that 
are major financial institutions, and does not expect any of the counterparties to fail to meet 

their obligations. 
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25. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(f) Liquidity risk: 

The Company’s liquidity risk is the risk it may not be able to meet its contractual obligations 
associated with financial liabilities as they come due.  The Company’s principal sources of 

liquidity are cash provided by operations, including collection of orbital receivables and 
advance payments from customers related to long-term construction contracts, and 
borrowing under its credit facilities.  Other sources of liquidity include the issuance of 

common shares related to acquisitions.  The Company’s short-term cash requirements are 
primarily to fund working capital, with medium term requirements to service and repay debt, 
and invest in capital and intangible assets for growth initiatives.  The Company does not have 

a capital intensive business.  For the foreseeable future, the Company believes that its 
principal sources of liquidity are sufficient to maintain the Company’s capacity and to meet 
planned growth and development activities. 

The maturities of the contractual cash flows of the Company’s financial liabilities are shown in 
the following table: 
 
  Maturing in   Maturing 
  Carrying Contractual less than Maturing in Maturing in beyond 
December 31, 2012 amount cash flows 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 years 

 
Trade and other 

payables $ 214,337 $ 214,337 $ 214,337 $ - $ - $ - 
 
Derivative financial  
 instruments: 

Foreign exchange 
forward contracts 5,296 5,356 4,235 982 139 - 

Other derivative 
instruments 464 464 442 17 5 - 

  5,760 5,820 4,677 999 144 - 
 
Long-term debt: 

Obligations under 
finance leases 4,695 5,112 3,170 1,212 684 46 

Long-term debt 842,965 1,031,482 77,329 76,060 575,198 302,895 
  847,660 1,036,594 80,499 77,272 575,882 302,941 

 
Financial liabilities, other: 

Non-trade payables 13,587 13,722 12,249 1,473 - - 
Contingent liabilities 7,024 7,298 3,184 4,114 - - 
Other 97 97 97 - - - 
  20,708 21,117 15,530 5,587 - - 

 

 
  $ 1,088,465 $ 1,277,868 $ 315,043 $ 83,858 $ 576,026 $ 302,941 
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25. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(f) Liquidity risk (continued): 
 
  Maturing in   Maturing 
  Carrying Contractual less than Maturing in Maturing in beyond 
December 31, 2011 amount cash flows 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 years 

 
Trade and other 

payables $ 87,098 $ 87,098 $ 87,098 $ - $ - $ - 
 
Derivative financial  
 instruments: 

Foreign exchange 
forward contracts 8,117 8,220 7,459 621 140 - 

Equity forward 
contracts 5,539 6,460 1,294 5,166 - - 

Other derivative 
instruments 1,717 1,717 1,593 124 - - 

  15,373 16,397 10,346 5,911 140 - 
 
Long-term debt: 

Obligations under 
finance leases 4,023 4,389 2,080 1,573 736 - 

Long-term debt 101,660 129,998 5,390 5,390 16,170 103,048 
  105,683 134,387 7,470 6,963 16,906 103,048 

 
Financial liabilities, other: 

Non-trade payables 15,362 15,473 6,182 9,291 - - 
Other 3,284 3,743 91 - 3,652 - 
  18,646 19,216 6,273 9,291 3,652 - 

 

 
  $ 226,800 $ 257,098 $ 111,187 $ 22,165 $ 20,698 $ 103,048 

 

Periods in which cash flows associated with derivative financial instruments are expected to 

occur are shown in the following table: 
 
    Maturing in   Maturing 
  Carrying Expected less than Maturing in Maturing in beyond 
December 31, 2012 amount cash flows 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 years 

 
Foreign exchange 

forward contracts: 
Assets $ 5,292 $ 5,372 $ 4,468 $ 630 $ 274 $ - 
Liabilities 5,296 5,356 4,235 982 139  

 
Other derivative financial  
 instruments: 

Assets 1,753 1,753 1,323 248 182 - 
Liabilities 464 464 442 17 5 - 
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25. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(f) Liquidity risk (continued): 
 
 
    Maturing in   Maturing 
  Carrying Expected less than Maturing in Maturing in beyond 
December 31, 2011 amount cash flows 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 years 

 
Foreign exchange 

forward contracts: 
Assets $ 12,557 $ 12,733 $ 10,080 $ 2,180 $ 473 $ - 
Liabilities 8,117 8,220 7,459 621 140 - 

 
Equity forward contracts: 

Liabilities 5,539 6,460 1,294 5,166 - - 
 
Other derivative financial 
 instruments: 

Assets 3,095 3,095 2,274 609 212 - 
Liabilities 1,717 1,717 1,593 124 - - 

 

 

(g) Interest rate risk: 

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates since a proportion of its capital 
structure consists of variable rate debt. The following table presents the effect of an increase 
or decrease in interest rates, all other variables remaining constant, on net earnings and 

other comprehensive income for the period ended December 31, 2012. The Company did not 
have any variable rate debt outstanding at December 31, 2011. 
 
   10 basis points higher   10 basis points lower  
   Effect on other  Effect on other 
  Effect on comprehensive Effect on comprehensive 
2012 net earnings income net earnings income 
 
Interest rate risk $ (70) $ - $ 70 $ - 
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25. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(h) Foreign exchange risk: 

During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company’s principal operations 
were in the United States and Canada.  The Company’s Canadian operations have sales 

contracts, purchase contracts and debt denominated in currencies other than the Canadian 
dollar. The Company’s United States operations have sales and purchase contracts 
denominated in currencies other than the United States dollar. 

The Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the expected cash 
flows from certain foreign currency denominated contracts.  The term of the foreign exchange 
forward contracts can range from less than one month to several years.  The Company also 

enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to manage any exposures from intercompany 
loans, miscellaneous foreign currency payables and receivables, and borrowings in foreign 
currency.  The Company does not hedge the risk from translation of the results of its foreign 

operations. 

At December 31, 2012, the Company has Canadian dollar foreign exchange forward 
purchase contracts for $300,029,000 (2011 - $248,842,000) and United States dollar foreign 

exchange purchase contracts for $14,048,000 (2011 - nil).  The Company also had Canadian 
dollar foreign exchange forward sale contracts for $ 404,196,000 (2011 - $380,514,000) and 
United States dollar foreign exchange forward sales contracts for $21,367,000 (2011 - nil). 

The following table presents the effect of a stronger or weaker Canadian dollar, all other 
variables remaining constant, on the fair valuation of financial instruments and the 
corresponding effect on net earnings and other comprehensive income as at December 31. 
 
   10% strengthening in the    10% weakening in the   
   Canadian dollar   Canadian dollar  
   Effect on other  Effect on other 
  Effect on comprehensive Effect on comprehensive 
2012 net earnings income net earnings income 
 
Foreign exchange risk: 

U.S. dollar $ 13,865 $ (444) $ (13,865) $ 444 
British pound (6) - 6 - 
Euro 92 1,677 (92) (1,677) 
Australian dollar - (221) - 221 
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25. Financial instruments and fair value disclosures (continued): 

(h) Foreign exchange risk (continued): 
 
   10% strengthening in the    10% weakening in the   
   Canadian dollar   Canadian dollar  
   Effect on other  Effect on other 
  Effect on comprehensive Effect on comprehensive 
2011 net earnings income net earnings income 
 
Foreign exchange risk: 

U.S. dollar $ (8,826) $ 9,734 $ 8,826 $ (9,734) 
British pound 162 - (162) - 
Euro (39) 956 39 (956) 
 

 

(i) Stock-based compensation costs risk: 

Stock-based compensation is an integral part of the Company’s compensation program, and 

can result in the issuance of the Company’s common shares, or cash payments that reflect 
the value of the common shares.  Since compensation cost can vary significantly as the price 
of the Company’s common shares changes, in prior years, the Company has entered into 

derivative contracts to manage this potential exposure. 

At December 31, 2012, the Company did not have any equity forward purchase agreements 
for common shares outstanding (2011 - 472,000). 

An increase or decrease in the Company’s share price will, all other variables remaining 
constant, affect the fair valuation of the equity forward purchase agreements.  The following 
table presents the effect on net earnings and comprehensive income as at December 31, 

2011. 
 
   25% strengthening in the    25% weakening in the   
   Company’s share price   Company’s share price  
   Effect on other  Effect on other 
  Effect on comprehensive Effect on comprehensive 
2011 net earnings income net earnings income 
 
Stock-based compensation 

costs risk $ 4,084 $ - $ (4,084) $ - 
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26. Capital management: 

The Company’s primary capital management objectives are to provide an adequate return to 
shareholders, provide adequate and efficient funding of operations, finance growth, preserve 
financial flexibility to benefit from potential opportunities as they arise and comply with borrowing 

covenants. 

The Company defines capital as its share capital, contributed surplus and retained earnings. 
 
   December 31, December 31, 
    2012 2011 
 
Share capital   $ 213,222 $ 210,505 
Contributed surplus  2,698 4,440 
Retained earnings  76,837 34,367 

 
    $ 292,757 $ 249,312 
 

The Company regularly issues shares in relation to its long-term compensation plans, employee 

share ownership plan, and acquisitions.  It also occasionally implements share repurchase 
programs that are approved by the Board of Directors. 

The Company is required by its lenders to maintain compliance with financial covenants that 

include a maximum multiple of senior debt to earnings before interest, income taxes, 
depreciation, amortization and certain items (“bank EBITDA”) as defined in its credit and note 
purchase agreements, a minimum level of equity consisting of a base plus a proportion of its 

earnings, and a maximum multiple adjusted bank EBITDA to fixed charges. At December 31, 
2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company is compliant with this and other leverage related 
financial covenants. 

The Company has term debt due under a Syndicated Credit Facility and the 2017 and 2024 Term 
Note purchase agreements. Debt is also incurred as required under a revolving loan facility and is 
reduced as cash is generated from operations.  The Company manages its debt in consideration 

of its covenant requirements, including the ability to borrow up to 3.5 times (and up to 4.0 times 
under certain circumstances) bank EBITDA as defined in its credit and note purchase 
agreements.  In its normal course of business, the Company manages its debt to a ratio of 

approximately 2.0 to 2.5 times debt to bank EBITDA.  The Company thus typically retains 
significant additional unused capacity to take advantage of strategic opportunities. 
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27. Government assistance: 

(a) Investment tax credits: 

During the year, the Company recognized investment tax credits of $24,468,000 (2011 - 
$17,245,000) as a reduction of current expenses in direct costs, selling, general and 

administration of which $10,937,000 (2011 - $7,323,000) related to expenses incurred in prior 
years.  The Company also has investment tax credits of approximately $7,521,000 (2011 - 
$1,822,000) available to offset future Canadian federal and provincial income taxes payable 

which expire between 2015 and 2030.  Investment tax credits are only recognized in the 
financial statements when the recognition criteria have been met as described in note 3(g). 

(b) Government grants: 

(i) On November 15, 2010, the Company signed a non-refundable contribution agreement 

("Grant") and an interest free refundable contribution agreement (“Interest Free Loan”) 
with Investissement Québec ("IQ") relating to the expansion of the plant ("Project") at its 

Sainte-Anne-de-Bellevue subsidiary.  Under the Grant, the Company is eligible to receive 
funding for certain Project expenditures incurred from January 1, 2010 to December 31, 
2012 to a maximum of $9,000,000.  Payments made from the Grant can become 

conditionally repayable if certain average employment targets are not met from 
January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2016.  Under the Interest Free Loan, the Company is 
eligible to receive interest free repayable funding for certain eligible Project expenditures 

incurred from January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2012 to a maximum of $9,000,000.  The 
Interest Free Loan is repayable in 84 equal and consecutive monthly installments 
beginning three years subsequent to the receipt of the first disbursement.  Funding 

requested from IQ is receivable on a quarterly basis based on the actual eligible Project 
expenditures incurred. 

During the year, the Company recognized government assistance of $963,000 (2011 - 

$8,037,000) relating to the Grant as a reduction to the cost of property, plant and 
equipment. In the second quarter of 2012, the Company received proceeds of 
$7,200,000 in relation to the Grant. As of December 31, 2012, no funding has been 

received to date in respect of the Interest Free Loan.  A grant receivable balance of 
$1,800,000 is included in trade and other receivables as at December 31, 2012. 

(ii) The Company's Canadian operations have received funding under contract from the 

Government of Canada under several programs that support the development of new 
commercial technologies and products for delivery to customers of the Government of 
Canada.  For the year ended December 31, 2012, $1,740,000 (2011 - $313,000) of 

funding was received under these programs.  This funding is subject to possible 
repayment in the form of royalties, generally not exceeding 5% of future revenues to be 
derived from the potential new technologies and products.  The royalties will be incurred 

only if additional revenues are recognized from specified new technologies and products. 
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28. Income taxes: 

(a) Income tax expense is comprised of the following: 
 
  2012 2011 
 
Current tax expense: 

Current period $ 37,398 $ 36,023 
Adjustment for prior periods 6,112 13,978 
  43,510 50,001 

 
Deferred tax expense: 

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 3,373 (979) 
Reduction in tax rate 15 966 
  3,388 (13) 

 
Income tax expense, continuing operations 46,898 49,988 
 
Income tax recovery, discontinued operations  -  (1,297) 
 
Income tax expense $ 46,898 $ 48,691 
 

(b) A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates to actual income taxes is as follows: 
 
  2012 2011 
 
Combined basic income tax rate 25.00% 26.50% 
 
Income tax expense at the basic income tax rate $ 33,294 $ 47,599 
Foreign earnings subject to different rates (1,140) 1,535 
Change in statutory rates 92 85 
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets 5,678 307 
Foreign exchange differences 232 (1,264) 
Share-based compensation 4,057 (2,509) 
Other permanent differences 4,685 4,235 
 
  $ 46,898 $ 49,988 
 

The applicable statutory tax rate changed due to changes in the enacted Federal and 

Provincial tax rates for 2012. 
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28. Income taxes (continued): 

(c) Unrecognized deferred tax assets: 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following temporary 
differences:  
 
  2012 2011 
 
Tax losses $ 101,265 $ 114,125 
Other deductible temporary differences 240,737 - 
 
  $ 342,002 $ 114,125 
 

(d) Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities: 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 
 
December 31, 2012 Assets Liabilities Net 
 
Construction contract assets and liabilities $ 17 $ (7,664) $ (7,647) 
Property, plant and equipment 991 (3,087) (2,096) 
Intangible assets and goodwill 1,250 (10,552) (9,302) 
Investment tax credits 5,597 (4,647) 950 
Derivative financial instruments 493 (1,126) (633) 
Trade and other payables 9,246 - 9,246 
Employee benefits 13,811 (1,363) 12,448 
Other items - (457) (457) 
Tax loss carry forwards 3,250 - 3,250 
 
Tax assets (liabilities) 34,655 (28,896) 5,759 
Set off of tax (21,573) 21,573 - 

 
Net tax assets (liabilities) $ 13,082 $ (7,323) $ 5,759 
 
 

December 31, 2011 Assets Liabilities Net 
 
Construction contract assets and liabilities $ 47 $ (4,824) $ (4,777) 
Property, plant and equipment 1,382 (1,099) 283 
Intangible assets and goodwill 578 (10,803) (10,225) 
Investment tax credits 2,409 (4,551) (2,142) 
Derivative financial instruments 1,473 (1,054) 419 
Trade and other payables 2,720 - 2,720 
Employee benefits 12,168 - 12,168 
Other items - (280) (280) 
Tax loss carry forwards 8,762 - 8,762 
 
Tax assets (liabilities) 29,539 (22,611) 6,928 
Set off of tax (19,062) 19,062 - 
 
Net tax assets (liabilities) $ 10,477 $ (3,549) $ 6,928 
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28. Income taxes (continued): 

(e) Movement in temporary differences during the year: 
 
   Recognized 
 Balance, Recognized in other Foreign Balance, 
 December 31, in statement comprehensive currency December 31, 
 2011 of earnings  income translation 2012 
 
Construction 

contract 
assets and 
liabilities $ (4,777) $ (2,883) $ - $ 13 $ (7,647) 

Property, 
plant and 
equipment 283 (2,392) - 14 (2,095) 

Intangible assets 
and goodwill (10,225) 879 - 44 (9,302) 

Investment tax 
credits (2,142) 3,092 - - 950 

Derivative 
financial 
instruments 419 (2,088) 1,038 (2) (633) 

Trade and other 
payables  2,720 6,572 - (46) 9,246 

Employee 
benefits 12,168 (718) 998 - 12,448 

Other items (280) (466) 265 23 (458) 
Tax loss carry 

forwards 8,762 (5,384) - (128) 3,250 
 
  $ 6,928 $ (3,388) $ 2,301 $ (82) $ 5,759 
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28. Income taxes (continued): 

(e) Movement in temporary differences during the year (continued): 
 
   Included in 
   discontinued Recognized 
 Balance, Recognized operations and in other Foreign Balance, 
 December 31, in statement  held-for-sale comprehensive currency December 31, 
 2010 of earnings Reclassification (note 32) income translation 2011 

 
Construction 

contract 
assets and 
liabilities $ (2,911) $ (1,865) $ - $ - $ - $ (1) $ (4,777) 

Property, 
plant and 
equipment 484 (1,624) - 1,407 - 16 283 

Intangible assets 
and goodwill (10,871) 601 - - - 45 (10,225) 

Investment tax 
credits (14,829) 12,687 - - - - (2,142) 

Derivative 
financial 
instruments 1,807 (3,570) - - 2,182 - 419 

Trade and other 
payables  1,390 1,335 - - - (5) 2,720 

Employee 
benefits 10,504 (1,015) - - 2,679 - 12,168 

Other items 13,186 (11,755) (2,769) 1,322 (304) 40 (280) 
Tax loss carry 

forwards 3,695 5,219 - - - (152) 8,762 

 
  $ 2,455 $ 13 $ (2,769) $ 2,729 $ 4,557 $ (57) $ 6,928 

 

(f) As at December 31, 2012, the Company has non-capital losses carried forward for Canadian 

and United States tax purposes totaling approximately $14,808,000 that are available to 
reduce taxable income of future years.  These non-capital losses carried forward expire as 
follows: 
 
 
2015  $ 427 
2019   245 
2026  2,119 
2027  889 
2028  5,776 
2029  1,740 
2030  1,407 
Thereafter  2,205 
 
    $ 14,808 
 

The Company also has net capital losses carry forward of approximately $100,775,000 that 
are available to offset capital gains of future years. 
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29. Contingencies and commitments: 

(a) As at December 31, 2012, the Company is committed under operating leases, primarily 
relating to office space, for the following minimum annual rentals: 
 
   Total 
 
2013   $ 40,981 
2014  31,950 
2015  16,590 
2016  14,145 
2017  11,876 
Thereafter  45,249 
 
    $ 160,791 
 

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company has recorded total lease expenses of 

$36,727,000 (2011 - $41,165,000) in the statement of earnings. 

(b) As at December 31, 2012, the Company’s banks have issued letters of credit for 
$124,456,000 (2011 - $1,363,000) of which $20,840,000 (2011 - $764,000) is guaranteed by 

Export Development Canada (EDC), a Canadian government corporation.  If the letters of 
credit were called, $124,456,000 (2011 - $1,363,000) would be due to the Company’s banks. 

(c) Satellite construction contracts may include performance incentives whereby payment for a 

portion of the purchase price of the satellite (typically 10%) is contingent upon in-orbit 
performance of the satellite.  The Company’s ultimate receipt of orbital performance 
incentives is subject to the continued performance of its satellites generally over the 

contractually stipulated life of the satellites.  A complete or partial loss of a satellite’s 
functionality can result in loss of orbital receivable payments or repayment of amounts 
received by the Company under a warranty payback arrangement. The Company generally 

receives the present value of the orbital receivables if there is a launch failure or a failure 
caused by a customer error, but will forfeit some or all of the orbital receivables if the loss is 
caused by satellite failure or a result of Company error.  The Company recognizes orbital 

performance incentives in the financial statements based on the amounts that are expected 
to be received and believes that it will not incur a material loss relating to the incentives 
recognized. 
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29. Contingencies and commitments (continued): 

(d) Prior to the Company’s acquisition of SSL, ViaSat, Inc. and ViaSat Communications, Inc. 
(“ViaSat”) had sued SSL and Loral Space & Communications Inc., the former parent 
company of SSL, in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California. 

ViaSat’s complaint alleges, among other matters, that SSL and Loral infringed on certain 
ViaSat patents and that SSL breached non-disclosure obligations in certain contracts with 
ViaSat in connection with the manufacture of satellites by SSL for customers other than 

ViaSat. 

SSL and Loral have answered ViaSat’s complaint and asserted defenses to ViaSat’s claims 
and have asserted counterclaims against ViaSat. SSL believes its conduct was consistent 

with, and in due regard for, any applicable and valid intellectual property rights of ViaSat. 

Under the terms of MDA’s purchase agreement with Loral, Loral will indemnify the Company 
for litigation costs and damages, subject to certain capped cost-sharing by SSL, and will 

retain control of the defense of the lawsuit by ViaSat against SSL and Loral as well as SSL’s 
counterclaims against ViaSat in the lawsuit. Under the terms of the purchase agreement, 
following a change of control of Loral, the liability of Loral for litigation costs and damages is 

subject to a dollar cap. 

The Company does not believe that this matter will have a material adverse effect on its 
financial position or results of operations. 

(e) Prior to the Company’s acquisition of SSL, SSL commenced construction of a satellite known 
as CMBStar under a contract with EchoStar Corporation (“EchoStar”). Although satellite 
construction is substantially complete, EchoStar and SSL have agreed to suspend final 

construction of the satellite pending, among other things, further analysis relating to efforts to 
meet the satellite performance criteria and/or confirmation that alternative performance 
criteria would be acceptable. EchoStar has also stated that it is evaluating potential 

alternative uses of the CMBStar satellite. There can be no assurance that a dispute will not 
arise as to whether the satellite meets its technical performance specifications or if such a 
dispute did arise that the Company would prevail. 

The Company does not believe that this matter will have a material adverse effect on its 
financial position or results of operations. 

(f) The Company is a party to various other legal proceedings and claims that arise in the 

ordinary course of business as either a plaintiff or defendant.  The Company analyzes all 
legal proceedings and the allegations therein. The outcome of any of these other 
proceedings, either individually or in the aggregate, is not expected to have a material 

adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or liquidity. 
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30. Related party transactions: 

The President and Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 
Officer have employment agreements which provide severance and change of control benefits.  
Upon termination or change of control, these executives are entitled to lump sum payments 

between two and two and one-half years’ compensation. 

Compensation expense for the Company’s directors and named executive officers is as follows: 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
  2012 2011 

 
Salaries and other benefits $ 4,126 $ 5,412 
Share-based payments 9,901 (1,644) 
 
  $ 14,027 $ 3,768 
 

31. Supplemental cash flow information: 
 
  2012 2011 
 
Change in operating assets and liabilities: 
 
Trade and other receivables $ 70,137 $ (7,201) 
Construction contract assets (34,325) (3,500) 
Financial assets, other 617 181 
Inventories (1,969) 457 
Current tax assets (24,272) (17,781) 
Non-financial assets 13,920 3,756 
Orbital receivables (7,949) - 
Trade and other payables 23,764 (12,205) 
Financial liabilities, other (1,971) (4,429) 
Provisions (3,694) 2,382 
Construction contract liabilities (5,953) (112,080) 
Employee benefits (45,677) (24,615) 
Non-financial liabilities (10,900) (7,840) 
 
  $ (28,272) $ (182,875) 
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32. Discontinued operations and assets held for sale: 

On January 4, 2011, the Company completed the sale of its Property Information business to a 
third party buyer for cash consideration of U.S.$814,995,000, after tax and working capital 
adjustments.  The cumulative gain on sale of discontinued operations in 2011 amounted to 

$30,132,000 after income taxes. 

Net earnings from discontinued operations is comprised of the following: 
 
  2012 2011 
 
Gain on sale of discontinued operations $ - $ 28,835 
Income tax recovery on gain on sale of discontinued operations  - (1,297) 
 
Net earnings from discontinued operations $ - $ 30,132 
 

33. Approval of financial statements: 

These consolidated financial statements were approved for issuance by the Board of Directors on 
February 27, 2013. 

 

34. Subsequent event: 

Subsequent to December 31, 2012, the Company declared a semi-annual dividend of $0.65 per 

common share payable at March 28, 2013 to shareholders of record at the close of business on 
March 15, 2013. 
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